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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In office until the approval of the 2008 Financial Statements

(Appointed by shareholders on 11/05/06, powers conferred

by resolution of BoD on 11/05/06 and on 26/06/07)

MARIO CARRARO Chairman

ENRICO CARRARO Executive Deputy Chairman

CARLO BORSARI Chief Executive Officer

FRANCESCO CARRARO Director

TOMASO CARRARO Director

GIORGIO BRUNETTI 1/3 Director

ANTONIO CORTELLAZZO 1/2/3 Director

SERGIO EREDE 2/3 Director

ONOFRIO TONIN 1/2 Director

1 Member of the Internal Auditing Committee
2 Member of the Compensation Committee

3 Independent Director

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS

In office until the approval of the 2008 Financial Statements

(Appointed by shareholders on 11/05/2006)

ROBERTO SACCOMANI Chairman

FRANCESCO SECCHIERI Statutory Auditor

FEDERICO MEO Statutory Auditor

RENZO LOTTO Substitute Auditor

MARINA MANNA Substitute Auditor

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

2007–2015

PricewaterhouseCoopers Spa

PARENT COMPANY

Finaid Spa

Pursuant to Consob Communication no. 97001574 of 20 

February 1997, we hereby inform you that Chairman Mario 

Carraro and Chief Executive Officer Carlo Borsari hold the 

powers of legal representation and signing authority in 

dealings with third parties and the courts separately between 

them. They engage in their respective activities within the 

framework of the powers assigned to them by the Board of 

Directors at the session held on 11 May 2006 in accordance 

with restrictions under applicable law, pertaining to subject 

matter that may not be delegated by the Board of Directors 

and the issues reserved for the Board’s authority, as well 

as the principles and limits envisaged by the Company’s 

corporate governance code.

at 31 December 2008 from 23 April 2009
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In office until the approval of the 2011 Financial Statements

(Appointed by shareholders on 23/04/09,

powers conferred by resolution of BoD on 07/05/09)

MARIO CARRARO Chairman

ENRICO CARRARO 1/3 Executive Deputy Chairman

CARLO BORSARI 1 Chief Executive Officer

FRANCESCO CARRARO Director

TOMASO CARRARO 1 Director

ANTONIO CORTELLAZZO 2/3/4 Director

ARNALDO CAMUFFO 2/3/4 Director

MARCO MILANI 1/3/4 Director

PIETRO GUINDANI 1/3/4 Director

ANNA MARIA ARTONI 2/4 Director

ALEXANDER JOSEF BOSSARD Director

1 Member of the Operational-Strategic Committee
2 Member of the Internal Auditing Committee
3 Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee
4 Independent Director

BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS

In office until the approval of the 2011 Financial Statements

(Appointed by shareholders on 23/04/2009)

LUIGI BASSO Chairman

ROBERTO SACCOMANI Statutory Auditor

SAVERIO BOZZOLAN Statutory Auditor

MARINA MANNA Substitute Auditor

SILVANO CORBELLA Substitute Auditor

Ownership structure of Carraro Spa
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Everything seemed to indicate that the year would 
be a record one, in terms of turnover and profits. 
Despite marked signs of a slowdown that were al-
ready emerging at the beginning of the second half of 
the year, it was considered likely even in September 
that we could count on ending the period, albeit less 
brilliantly than in the previous forecasts, with good 
figures including turnover of more than a billion. At 
970 mln euro the revenues halted, but above all the 
economic results suffered from the sharp and sud-
den drop in commercial and manufacturing flows, 
with landslide reductions in programmes, week after 
week, throughout the last quarter. All this completely 
changed the picture of the year and at the same time 
overturned the prospects of the 2009-2011 three-year 
plan. Looking more closely, you can see that the whole 
of 2008 featured some rather erratic and unpredict-
able swings. First, an almost paroxysm of demand 
up to the end of spring, with negative consequences 
both on the cost of materials and for the difficulties 
in harmonizing the manufacturing processes; then 
a slide downwards starting in July, and finally things 
went over the precipice in the last quarter. In terms of 
income, as we have said, the final figures were always 
going to feel the effect of this. Stock levels increased, 
with a negative effect on the financial position. But 
negative repercussions affected the equilibrium of 
the structure itself, as it was called upon to make a 
drastic adjustment of resources in a situation having 
a completely new prospective.

In consideration of the way we have described the 
year’s trends, caused by factors external to our con-
trol, as it turned out we can say we were satisfied by 
the numbers that came out in the end. Nonetheless 
we cannot fail to be worried by the marked negativity 
of the last quarter and must note that the storm bat-
tered in particular the areas associated with our core 

business. Carraro Drive Tech, in fact, suffered specifi-
cally from this situation, including its subsidiaries 
in India, China, Poland and Argentina. The final 
result was boosted above all by the small company 
Santerno, working in renewable energies, but also 
by O&KA in Germany, which took advantage of the 
good progress of the drives segment, with their highly 
technological nature. In short, there was a positive 
contribution from the alternative energy segment, on 
which Carraro is focusing its efforts, with the inten-
tion of increasing its share in a market that continues 
to appear strategic, even with the temporary loss of 
impetus attributable to the economic scenario of the 
moment.

 Gear World itself can count on activities directed 
to this sector which were needed both to make up 
for some organizational delays and to counter the 
negative performance of the traditional line, mostly 
destined for the tractor and construction equip-
ment segments. There was a crisis, in less significant 
terms, in the sector of sintered materials, where 
some successes were achieved in the niche automo-
tive areas. 

The production and design of specialist tractors, 
distributed by large global players, brought in quite 
good results, but must also face up to a period of 
contraction, making an effort to safeguard with all 
its actions the even better results achieved in the 
last few years. 

But let us come back to the general questions that 
characterize the moment. We have never hidden 
from ourselves the seriousness and depth of the cri-
sis that economies are facing all over the world and 
by which our country and we ourselves cannot fail 
to be affected. In good time and in a responsible way 
we have informed everyone working at every level of 
our Group of the deep complexity of this moment, 

Letter from the Chairman



GRUPPO CARRARO ANNUAL REPORT 2006

8

including the need to prepare for the sacrifices we shall have to undergo to overcome 
this tumultuous period. The Group is counting on its own robust structure and on 
that of the companies of which it is formed. But we have to redouble our efforts to 
ensure total efficiency in managing all the operations scattered around the world. 
From a first careful reading of the numbers, but also with a profound knowledge of 
their development of operations, we know that there will be no shortage of margins 
of recovery, having a benefit on profitability. Important steps have already been 
taken, and others are planned. Unfortunately they cannot fail to include significant 
reductions in personnel at all grades. This will be a guarantee of continuity, in the 
determination and anticipation of recovery. The 2009 trading period could not 
have started under more difficult circumstances; inheriting the economic chaos 
causing our target markets to move with caution and now paralysed by the threat 
of recession, coming to a halt during practically the whole of the last quarter. But 
we continue to be reasonably confident that when we have come through these first 
three months we shall re-synchronise the rhythm of management, which we dare 
not hope will be easier, but which will certainly be less uneven. In addition we have 
the knowledge, in the global business environment that we can count on greater 
competitive strength. 

It is certainly a new scenario that awaits us. The global economic map itself will 
undergo changes, perhaps more than marginal ones. Our Group has a history and 
roots in difficult sectors, but ones on which the lives of human beings depend and of 
whose continuity we are certain. Over the last few years moreover, we have worked 
strategically for diversification which is capable of breathing life into our prospects. 
Furthermore: we have never cut, and continue not to cut, spending on research 
work that certainly facilitates new developments with products in the making that 
will mark important technological advances in our product range, opening up new 
potentials on new markets. We shall speak of these when presenting a new three-
year plan, interrupting the progress of the previous one that was based on an era 
on which the sun has now prematurely set. We shall look to new horizons, with the 
prudence of realism, but with the firm intention of continuing to grow. We have to 
count, and are counting, on the operational intelligence of our management, but 
also on all our staff at all levels of responsibility. Now more than ever, in a period 
such as the one we are going through, we are all called upon to show a sense of com-
mitment, conviction and sacrifice. And it is on this certainty that our future rests.

MARIO CARRARO
Chairman
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2008 2007

Net revenues 973,369 813,734

Operating income (adjusted for the effect of exchange differences) 36,940 39,510

Net income (net of minority interests) 11,310 15,587

Shareholders’ equity (net of minority interests) 126,459 126,420

Cash flow 44,047 41,472

ROE (Net income/equity) 9.82% 14.06%

ROI (Operating income/invested capital) 4.53% 5.50%

Workforce at 31/12 4,205 4,036

Research and development expenses/sales 1.52% 1.85%

Gross investments 58,413 46,958

Highlights
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Consolidated Financial Statements’ Charts
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INCOME STATEMENT FIGURES
CONSOLIDATED

CONSOLIDATED
2008

Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power
controls

Eliminations and 
unallocated items

Total 

Sales 662,198 231,657 107,001 63,511 – 90,998 973,369

Sales to third parties 636,259 161,605 104,687 63,098 7,720 973,369

Intradivisional sales – – – – – –

Interdivisional sales 25,939 70,052 2,314 413 – 98,718 –

Operating costs 653,154 227,211 101,660 48,186 – 93,782 936,429

Direct and indirect materials 447,817 107,731 80,517 33,042 – 84,021 585,086

Use of third-party goods and services 113,111 60,924 8,437 8,162 – 15,424 175,210

Personnel 68,216 43,982 9,843 6,833 3,974 132,848

Depreciation and amortization 14,764 16,211 234 550 1,382 33,141

Provisions for risks 
and contingencies

11,997 745 3,027 200 81 16,050

Other income and expenses – 2,751 – 2,382 – 398 – 601 226 – 5,906

Operating income 9,044 4,446 5,341 15,325 2,784 36,940

Net income from 
discontinued operations

– – – – – –

CONSOLIDATED 
2007

Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power
controls

Eliminations and 
unallocated items

Total

Sales 608,662 162,085 93,214 30,015 – 80,242 813,734

Sales to third parties 599,381 91,266 93,152 29,935 – 813,734

Intradivisional sales – – – – – –

Interdivisional sales 9,281 70,819 62 80 – 80,242 –

Operating costs 595,649 150,207 83,717 24,038 – 79,387 774,224

Direct and indirect materials 413,917 73,552 66,504 16,147 – 78,528 491,592

Use of third-party goods
and services

97,923 39,754 6,406 3,673 – 2,651 145,105

Personnel 68,062 27,159 9,202 3,926 451 108,800

Depreciation and amortization 14,812 10,991 280 276 – 14 26,345

Provisions for risks
and contingencies

4,872 320 1,421 27 – 6,640

Other income and expenses – 3,937 – 1,569 – 96 – 11 1,355 – 4,258

Operating income 13,013 11,878 9,497 5,977 – 855 39,510

Net income from
discontinued operations

– – – – – –

Earnings and financial position figures
by business segment
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BALANCE SHEET FIGURES
CONSOLIDATED

CONSOLIDATED
2008

Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power
controls

Eliminations and 
unallocated items

Total 

Non-current assets 341,765 227,346 6,309 7,041 – 237,601 344,860

Current assets 449,696 131,034 37,459 38,474 – 185,675 470,988

Non-current liabilities 42,779 77,284 3,039 906 90,857 214,865

Current liabilities 561,962 148,666 32,926 30,530 – 322,733 451,351

CONSOLIDATED
2007

Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power
controls

Eliminations and 
unallocated items

Total

Non-current assets 217,666 238,058 3,725 5,079 – 149,232 315,296

Current assets 293,565 120,827 31,755 21,534 – 65,260 402,421

Non-current liabilities 29,722 57,673 2,295 1,175 95,248 186,113

Current liabilities 334,644 133,270 28,557 18,560 – 133,431 381,600
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General data and comments
Revenues came to exactly 973.369 mln euro, an increase of 19.6% over the 813.734 
mln euro of the previous year. The net profit was 11.310 mln euro, after deducting 
non-recurrent provisions, without which it would have risen to 14.496 mln euro. In 
a uniform comparison the decrease would therefore have been 7%, while the income 
statement shows – 27.4% as a result of the provision relating to actions described in 
the technical section of the report. All the items were however treated with particu-
lar prudence, in due consideration of the current uncertainties on the market, dis-
counting their effects on the accounts. Other items and indices felt the impact of the 
unusual situation caused by the imbalances in the global economy, which emerged 
in all their seriousness in the second half of 2008.

The cash-flow reached 44.047 mln or 4.53% of turnover. Previously the propor-
tion was 5.10% for an amount of 41.472 mln. Ebitda reached 69.677 mln with a 
ratio of 7.16% compared with the previous 8.04%. The same consideration applies 
to ebit which as a proportion of turnover this year was 3.80% compared with 
4.86%. The net financial position followed the general trend and reached 216.545 
mln euro compared with the 175.947 at December 31, 2007, as a result of invest-
ments that were higher in 2007 (58.413 mln euro compared with 46.958 mln euro) 
and the increase in floating assets owing to alterations caused by the unforeseen 
manufacturing slowdown, as mentioned above. The trend in interest rates had only 
a marginal effect.

The Group’s consolidated results are shown and analysed below. Cumulative sum-
mary data at Dec. 31, 2008 (figures in thousands of euro).

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

Sales 973,369 813,734 + 19.6

EBITDA 69,677 7.16 65,395 8.04 + 6.5

EBIT 36,940 3.80 39,510 4.86 – 6.5

Net income 11,310 1.16 15,587 1.92 – 27.4

Depreciation 32,737 3.36 25,885 3.18 + 26.5

Cash flow 44,047 4.53 41,472 5.10 + 6.2

Investments 58,413 46,958

Net financial position 216,545 175,947

Shareholders’ equity* 149,632 150,004

Gearing 1.45 1.17

* including minorities

Report on Operations
Consolidated figures at 31 December 2008
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The data for financial year 2008 contain important non-recurrent cost elements 
relating to operations to restructure, reorganize and relocate manufacturing facili-
ties, which will be explained and highlighted each time in the comparisons both as 
regards the consolidation and for the individual companies.

The amounts for financial year 2007 include the partial data of Minigears, which 
was consolidated from August onwards.

SALES
Group sales to December 31, 2008 reached 973.369 mln euro, an increase of 

19.62% over the 2007 figure of 813.734 mln euro, in spite of a significant slowdown 
during the last quarter, putting a brake on growth which in September stood at 
26.4%.

EBITDA AND EBIT
Figures at Dec. 31, 2008.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

EBITDA 69,677 7.16 65,395 8.04 + 6.5

EBIT 36,940 3.80 39,510 4.86 – 6.5

Figures at Dec. 31, 2008. Net of non-recurrent provisions.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

EBITDA 74,437 7.65 65,395 8.04 13.8

EBIT 41,700 4.28 39,510 4.86 5.5

Net of this non-recurrent provision, ebitda (referring to the sum of the operat-
ing results, amortisation and write-downs of fixed assets) rose in absolute terms by 
6.55%, going from the 65.395 mln euro in 2007, to 69.677 mln euro, but falling as a 
percentage of turnover from 8.04% to 7.16%.

Net of this provision ebitda would have risen in absolute terms by 13.8%, going 
from 65.395 mln in 2007, to 74.437 mln and would in any event have fallen in per-
centage terms going down from 8.04% to 7.65%.

Ebit (defined as the operating result on the income statement) post non-recur-
rent provisions was down by 6.50%, from 39.510 mln in 2007 (4.86% of turnover) 
to 36.940 mln (3.80% of turnover).

Net of the non-recurrent provision ebit would have risen in absolute terms by 
5.54% from 39.510 mln in 2007 (4.86% of turnover) to 41.700 mln (4.28% of turn-
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over), while it would have fallen slightly in percentage terms.
In both cases the decline in percentage terms is attributable to the higher procure-

ment costs sustained by all the Group companies, in particular in the second half of 
the year, and to the inefficiencies caused by the sudden slowdown in the market.

FINANCING CHARGES
Figures at Dec. 31, 2008.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

Financing charges 16,253 1.67 10,859 1.33 + 49.7

As a result of the greater average debt for the period and the greater cost of mon-
ey, financing charges rose 49.67% to 16.253 mln euro, 1.67% of turnover, in com-
parison with the 10.859 mln (1.33% of turnover) of the previous year. The ebitda 
interest coverage ratio, calculated for all net financing expenses, came to 4.29, in 
comparison with 6.02 at December 31, 2007. Net of the effect of the non-recurrent 
provision this debt indicator would be 4.58.

TRANSLATION DIFFERENCES
Figures at Dec. 31, 2008.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

Exchange rate differences 4,817 0.49 – 1,228 0.15 n.c.

At December 31, 2008 the balance of foreign exchange differences was a negative 
4.817 mln euro, compared with the gains of 1.228 mln euro at June 30, 2007, and 
after the adjustment of the equity items. These losses are a result of the transitory 
devaluing effect of certain currencies – the Indian rupee and the Polish zloty in par-
ticular – and the MTM (Mark-to-Market) effects of designating derivative instru-
ments at fair value, which are also temporarily negative for the same reason.

NET INCOME
Figures at Dec. 31, 2008.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

Net profit 11,310 1.16 15,587 1.92 – 27.4
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Figures at Dec. 31, 2008. Net of non-recurrent provision.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

Net profit 14,496 1.49 15,587 1.92 – 7.00

Financial year 2008 ended with a profit of 11.310 mln euro (1.16% of turnover) a 
drop of 27.44% compared with the 15.587 mln euro (1.92% of turnover) of the previ-
ous year.

Net of the non-recurrent provisions, the year would have closed with a profit of 
14.496 mln euro (1.49% of turnover) a drop of 7.00% compared with 15.587 mln 
euro (1.92% of turnover).

DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND CASH-FLOW
Figures at Dec. 31, 2008.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

Depreciation and amortisation 32,737 3.36 25,885 3.18 + 26.5

Cash flow 44,047 4.53 41,472 5.10 + 6.2

Figures at Dec. 31, 2008. Net of non-recurrent provision.

31/12/2008 % of sales 31/12/2007 % of sales % Change

Depreciation and amortisation 32,737 3.36 25,885 3.18 + 26.5

Cash flow 47,233 4.85 41,472 5.10 + 13.9

After depreciation and amortisation of 32.737 mln euro, 3.36% of turnover 
(25.885 mln euro at December 31, 2007, or 3.18% of turnover), the cash flow provid-
ed (intended as the sum of net profit, amortisation and depreciation of assets) was 
44.047 mln in comparison with the 41.472 mln euro in 2007, a growth of 6.21%.

The cash flow provided, net of the non-recurrent provision, would have been 
47.233 mln euro compared with 41.472 mln euro in 2007, an increase of 13.89%.
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INVESTMENTS 
Figures at Dec. 31, 2008.

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Investments 58,413 46,958

Investments were made amounting to 58.413 mln euro, compared with the bud-
geted 74.817 mln and the 46.958 mln euro in 2007. These were largely aimed at 
increasing manufacturing capacity and the development of new products based on 
the forecasts of the three-year plan, specifically in the Gear & Components Business 
Unit.

RESEARCH AND INNOVATION
Ever higher costs of research and innovation, the purposes and applications of 

which are commented on in a specific paragraph, amounted to 14.802 mln euro in 
2008, 1.52% of turnover, a fall of 1.77% in comparison with the 15.069 mln euro, or 
1.85% of the turnover in 2007.

NET FINANCIAL POSITION AND GEARING 
Figures at Dec. 31, 2008.

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Net financial position 216,545 175,947

Gearing 1.45 1.17

NFP/EBITDA 3.11 2.69

Figures at Dec. 31, 2008. Net of non-recurrent provision.

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Net financial position 216,545 175,947

Gearing 1.42 1.17

NFP/EBITDA 2.91 2.69

The net financial position at December 31, 2008 (the sum of bank borrowing, 
bonds and short-term and medium/long-term loans, net of cash and cash equiva-
lents, marketable securities and financial credits) is a negative value of 216.545 
mln euro. It is greater in comparison with the figure for June 30, 2008 which was 
194.942 mln euro and the net debt of 175.947 mln euro in December 2007.

This result is attributable to the significant investments made and in particular 
to floating assets, which grew in the first half of the year owing to an increase in 
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turnover and in the second half of the year owing to the rapid slowdown in demand 
and a consequent delayed realignment of stocks, which is expected to be completed 
during 2009. 

At December 31, 2008 gearing (intended as the ratio between net financial posi-
tion and shareholders’ equity) stood at 1.45, compared with 1.30 at June 30, 2008 
and with 1.17 at December 31, 2007 while the ratio between financial position and 
ebitda stood at 3.11 times (2.69 times at December 31, 2007). Excluding the effect 
of the non-recurrent provision, the ratio would have been 2.91.

Analysis by business segment

DRIVELINES
The Drivelines Business Unit, which comprises Italian and foreign operations in 

the manufacture and marketing of axles, transmissions and drives for construction 
and agricultural machinery applications, recorded an increase of +8.8% in sales in 
2008 in comparison with the previous year.

The year saw a strong growth in demand across all traditionally served markets 
– tractors and other agricultural machinery, construction, mining, material move-
ment machinery, etc. Demand remained very solid for the first part of the year while 
the last quarter saw a rapid and significant reduction attributable not so much to 
the fundamental changes in our industries as to the general difficulties in global 
finance. Another feature of 2008 was the increase of the cost of raw materials (fall-
ing back in early 2009), which had already begun at the end of 2007, and that had 
a significant effect on manufacturing costs and imposed the recovery of these costs 
via sales prices.

Agricultural market
The farm equipment segment posted exceptional growth in 2008, driven by ris-

ing world population, global prosperity and the ensuing increased demand for food. 
In addition, the use of corn, soya beans, and sugar cane to produce ethanol and 
biodiesel was on the rise. The production of agricultural foodstuffs rose consider-
ably, without however being sufficient to satisfy demand. The prices of agricultural 
foodstuffs remained at very high levels for the majority of the year and saw a gradual 
realignment during the second half of the year in the wake of the fall in the cost of 
raw materials.

The use of four-wheel drive tractors is on the rise in emerging economies, result-
ing in greater demand for axles, along with a trend towards technological change 
that is creating interesting opportunities in the agricultural machinery transmis-
sion segment.
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The growth in demand was very stable, especially for machines having greater 
than 100 hp in the Usa, South America, Eastern Europe, India, China and Russia. 
Growth in Western Europe was more moderate, reversing in 2007 the systemic 
downtrend recorded in previous years, whereas sales in the Middle East (excluding 
Iran) and Turkey were affected by the political uncertainty of the various regions. In 
spite of a generally positive scenario for the agricultural sector, Russia, Turkey and 
Eastern Europe recorded a significant fall in demand in the last quarter because of 
the severe liquidity and banking system crises in those regions.

In addition to the increased sales generated by the positive demand trend, in 
2008 Carraro expanded its market penetration, winning important supply con-
tracts in India, China, Eastern Europe, Russia, and the Middle East. Clearly, any 
prediction for 2009 is dependent on the extent of the global financial crisis. In any 
event the long-term foundations that support the demand of agricultural machin-
ery remain valid, while the short term repercussions of the global liquidity crisis 
remain uncertain. Specifically the Middle East, Russia, Eastern Europe and, even 
if to a lesser degree, Latin America, now appear to be the areas having the highest 
level of uncertainty.

Construction equipment
For the majority of 2008 this market maintained the peak volumes recorded in 

the second half of 2007 and saw a fall in demand in the final part of the year.
The reasons for this strong initial demand can be found in the positive expec-

tations associated with the greater demand for housing, commercial and indus-
trial buildings, and infrastructure, particularly in newly affluent countries, with 
the noteworthy exception of the Usa, where the market was already showing signs 
of a slowdown at the end of 2007 until the burst of the speculative bubble and the 
resulting mortgage crisis. For the majority of 2008 demand was greater than ex-
pected, thereby determining costs through logistic optimisation.

The current worldwide financial crisis can’t help but have a negative influence in 
this sector across the markets of the Usa and in particular Western Europe.

In 2008 Carraro increased penetration into non-traditional areas such as India 
and China, areas that for 2009 we anticipate will maintain stable demand.

Mining equipment
This market, which is becoming significant to the Drivelines Division, showed 

moderate volumes but high value. The uptrend was constant and continues to be 
driven by the greater need for minerals for industrial applications. 
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Material handling market
The Material Handling market performed very well in 2008 due to the develop-

ment of emerging economies and the offshoring of production, which resulted in 
rapid expansion of the logistics segment. For this segment in 2009 we also antici-
pate that the worldwide financial crisis will have a negative influence in the Usa and 
in Western Europe in particular.

 
Planetary drives market
The demand for gears in 2008 remained very high for the greater part of the year, 

building on the trend that began in 2007. The high demand for raw materials and 
energy drove the demand for construction and mining equipment for almost all of 
2008.

Carraro’s growth in 2008 met the target of 46% despite the procurement difficul-
ties felt in the last part of the year. Carraro, in spite of the strong recession in the 
construction market, has launched strategies to significantly expand market share, 
the results of which are expected to bring growth of 13% in 2009.

The escalator powerplant segment saw a fall of 10% in 2008.

GEARS & COMPONENTS
2008 was the first year of full operations for the Gear World project. This proj-

ect was born halfway through 2007 to create an industrial unit for gearboxes and 
their components, having a global presence and engineering know-how based on 
advanced technological products and processes. The aim would be to extend the 
Carraro Group offer in the Components area to new non-traditional applications, to 
reinforce the automotive market presence and to expand into markets with a high 
development potential.

For Gear World the 2008 period was also a year featuring two dramatically differ-
ent speeds: during the first half of the year, the strong growth impetus that was also 
a feature of 2007 continued, with solid demand for all third-party customers, and 
good demand for the Carraro Group, in line with the growth of 2007. The second 
part of the year, starting from the end of August, experienced the generalised fall in 
demand, from third-party customers and the Carraro Group, of around 20-25%, 
with some more significant troughs depending on the market sector and the con-
sequent cancellation of short-term orders. The fall in demand initially began in the 
Construction Equipment segment and gradually extended to all other segments and 
all countries where Gear World operates. The fall of the second half of the year af-
fected almost all Gear World manufacturing sites, with a more benign effect, thanks 
to the partial focusing of the Siap Poggiofiorito site, on the manufacture of large 
scale gears, and a particularly severe one on Turbo Gears in India. 

During the first half of 2008, the strong demand created procurement difficul-
ties, which combined with the delayed arrival of certain machine tools ordered in 
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2007, made it necessary to seek unanticipated workshop outsourcing. This united 
with the rapid increase of the price of raw materials and energy tariffs and the im-
plementation of a significant order in the wind energy sector were critical issues 
in achieving the budgeted margin targets. The delayed start-up of South America 
Gears also had a negative effect.

The previously cited rapid and drastic fall in demand in the second half of the 
year had a particularly strong impact on a manufacturing structure prepared for 
further growth in demand. On the first signals of the market slowdown the man-
agement readily prepared a programme of efficiencies for the structure. This plan 
envisaged the reduction of hours worked using all available tools collective holidays, 
termination of temporary contracts, cassa integrazione (Italian short-time work-
ing fund) as well as the return of outsourcing, and others. From a financial point of 
view, investments not strictly necessary were immediately cancelled or postponed, 
particular attention was paid to flows of cash and payments and inventories were 
gradually decreased. 

The effect of these operations had certain positive outcomes in terms of variable 
margins while the effect was less well-defined on fixed costs, which through their 
nature require a longer timescale. These benefits will be more visible in the 2009 
Financial Statement, where further efficiency measures, both at the variable and 
fixed cost level, will be necessary in the light of the trend in demand, which at least 
for the first half of the year we anticipate will be very weak.

The only markets having maintained volumes close to those budgeted for were 
high-quality and medium-large gears (wind energy, railways), gardening and even 
certain automotive niches. The flow of trade enquiries however appears to be rather 
positive, which reflects intense OEM activity in various markets in renewing prod-
uct ranges to prepare for markets requiring ever more efficient vehicles and compo-
nents to satisfy consumers and the environment. Increasingly these are long-term 
projects but there will already be initial benefits seen in the manufacturing volumes 
of Gear World at the end of 2009.

VEHICLES
2008 was another year of good growth for the Vehicles Business Unit. Sales 

increased by 14.8% over the previous year. Sales of tractors grew by 12.0%, while 
those of engineering services reached 5.9 mln euro. Difficulties in the procurement 
of tyres limited the full exploitation of the market potential. During the course of 
the year there was an inflationary pressure, beyond what was anticipated, forcing 
an adjustment to prices. 

This sales growth is highly satisfactory considering that the market in question 
(specialized tractors for orchards/vineyards and open fields of 50-100 hp) did not 
enjoy the same widespread growth as the higher-power product lines. In the fourth 
quarter the rate of new orders began to be affected by the current crisis. Regardless 
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of the agricultural market’s solid base, the credit restraints reduced our access to 
acquisitions in our particular niche. Moreover the state incentives in important re-
gions such as Spain and Greece closed. 

Halfway through the year a new line of Vineyard and Orchard tractors was 
launched which would enable the Business Unit to increase its market share in 
the specialized vehicles segment. The product development operations were then 
concentrated on the renewal of the current range, the final production of which was 
anticipated for halfway through 2009. The launch of these new tractors is envisaged 
as being between the third and fourth quarter of the year. With these latest launches 
the entire range of tractors of the Business Unit will be designed to the new emission 
limits set by the European Union. Starting from the end of 2009 the entire range of 
products of the Business Unit will feature designed and styled solutions. 2009 will 
therefore feature the end of the production of Tier 2 tractors and the beginning of 
the manufacture of the new tractors. 

The signals coming from the market indicate a decisive downturn, even if not to 
the same extent as for the traditional tractors having greater power. This trend is 
linked less to available farming income than it is to delays in decisions to acquire 
due to the financing difficulties and the anticipated future subsidies from the vari-
ous governments.

Consequently, and also as a result of new product launches, turnover is expected 
to fall.

POWER CONTROLS
2008 was a very important year for the Power Controls Business Unit. The com-

pany consolidated its presence on the Industrial Drives market and expanded its 
range and market share in the Energy Management market (mainly in the photo-
voltaic segment, but also in wind power control).

Industrial drives
The world Industrial drive market is by and large a mature market. The only pos-

sible areas of development are those in which the industry is undergoing expansion 
or renovation, such as for example those countries referred to by the acronym BRIC 
(Brazil, Russia, India and China).

From this point of view the Business Unit continued to increase the turnover pre-
viously seen during the 2007 trading period.

In particular, plans were put into practice for the acquisition of the Moscow 
branch and the Brazilian branch. An important trade agreement was signed that 
will enable the distribution of products in China.

In 2008 a 20% increase was achieved in sales over the previous year in the 
Industrial Drives segment.

For the future an expansion of the product range is anticipated into the higher 
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power and high voltage bracket, favouring low current systems and therefore having 
less use of expensive materials such as copper in the conductors, and the redefini-
tion of the man-machine interface systems.

Energy management
The renewable energy management market is undergoing constant, rapid devel-

opment.
In the wind power generation segment, the growth rate has remained largely 

stable over the past few years at 10-15%, whereas growth of photovoltaic genera-
tors has been exponential. In some areas, Italy and Spain in particular, growth rates 
exceeded 100% in 2008.

In this specific segment Elettronica Santerno achieved a greater than 200% in-
crease in sales of photovoltaic inverters over the previous year due to the rationaliza-
tion of its product line and the development of the Spanish market via the synergy 
with the Santerno distributor implemented during 2007.

Prospects for the coming three-year period remain very good.
With regard to wind systems, Elettronica Santerno entered into an important 

agreement for the construction of prototypes for a significant global operator. These 
prototypes will be innovative in all their technological aspects over similar solutions 
already available on the market.

Traction
In this area of application in 2008 Elettronica Santerno engaged in preliminary 

activity aimed at developing a new hybrid platform for the use of hybrid and/or 
electric traction systems. Market availability for systems specifically for forklifts is 
anticipated for the first half of 2009.

The following table breaks sales down by market segment:

SALES SALES TO THIRD PARTIES INFRA-GROUP SALES

2008 2007 Diff. % 2008 2007 Diff. % 2008 2007 Diff. %

Drivelines 662,198 608,662 + 8.80 636,259 599,382 + 6.15 25,939 9,281 179.48

Gear & 
Components

231,657 162,085 + 42.92 161,605 91,265 + 77.07 70,052 70,819 – 1.08

Vehicles 107,001 93,214 + 14.79 104,687 93,152 + 12.38 2,314 62 + 3,632.26

Power Controls 63,511 30,015 + 111.60 63,098 29,935 + 110.78 413 80 + 416.25

Non allocated 
assets

28,580 2,058 + 1,228.73 7,720 – – 20,860 2,058 + 913.61

Total 
segments

1,092,947 896,034 + 21.98 973,369 813,734 + 19.62 119,578 82,300 + 45.30

Cancellations 
infragroup 

– 119,578 – 82,300 + 45.30 – – – – – –

Total 
consolidated

973,369 813,734 + 19.62 973,369 813,734 + 19.62 119,578 82,300 + 45.30
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The following table breaks down sales by geographical area:

GEOGRAPHICAL AREA 2008 % 2007 %  % ’08 – ’07

Germany 171,497 17.62 139,956 17.20 + 22.54

North America 139,187 14.30 127,061 15.61 + 9.54

Great Britain 76,402 7.85 83,776 10.30 – 8.80

France 59,347 6.10 55,139 6.78 + 7.63

South America 58,959 6.06 41,929 5.15 + 40.62

China 47,680 4.90 25,513 3.14 + 86.89

India 28,945 2.97 32,687 4.02 – 11.45

Poland 21,428 2.20 22,564 2.77 – 5.03

Turkey 11,904 1.22 19,072 2.34 – 37.58

Other EU areas 112,641 11.57 72,961 8.97 + 54.39

Other non-EU areas 44,870 4.61 17,037 2.09 + 163.37

Total sales outside of Italy 772,860 79.40 637,695 78.37 + 21.20

Italy 200,509 20.60 176,039 21.63 + 13.90

Total 973,369 100.00 813,734 100.00 + 19.62

of which

Total EU area 641,824 65.94 550,435 67.64 + 16.60

Total extra EU area 331,545 34.06 263,299 32.36 + 25.92

EMPLOYEES
Group personnel reached its maximum of 4,537 employees at July 31, 2008. 

Subsequently, during the course of the final months of 2008, as a consequence of 
the market trends, the Group reduced the body of personnel down to 4,205 em-
ployees at December 31, 2008 (including temporary contractors, apprentices and 
interns) in comparison with the figure of 4,036 at December 31, 2007.

Of this total, 78 are classified as executives, 1,133 as middle managers and white-
collar employees, 2,962 as blue-collar employees, and 32 as apprentices.

Turnover
The Personnel Turnover rate (personnel leaving/personnel taken on) is not mean-

ingful as the number of employees leaving was due mainly to corporate decisions.

Development of human resources
Training carried out in 2008 amounted to 22,444 hours and focused on the 

areas of Quality, Organisation, Product Development Management, Market Devel-
opment and Management, and more particularly the Management Program and 
Professional Program which involved 47 Key people in Italy who followed a study 
programme focusing on the themes of strategy, management and organisation.

Using the support of leading international external consultants (HAY Group), the 
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Development Center activities were carried out at the Group’s international offices, 
involving 65 personnel. This was the first phase of the Group’s macroproject, hav-
ing the objective of discovering and enhancing the participants’ managerial/profes-
sional skills, vital to the company’s growth.

Initiatives
The sudden change in the global economic panorama and the consequent influ-

ences on the operations, plans and strategies of the various Group companies have 
called for the implementation of a diverse programme for the development of direct 
and indirect human resources at the various sites. This programme has involved the 
use of all available tools - holidays in lieu, reduction of weekly and monthly hours, 
salary supplements - at all of the Group’s sites and offices. 

In addition, at the Campodesargo and Gorizia sites of the Carraro Drive Tech 
spa company and at the Padua site of Minigears spa, there were restructuring 
programmes involving a total number of 24 and 20 employees respectively. The 
extraordinary expenditure associated with the implementation of the restructuring 
plans amounts to 850,000 euro for Carraro Drive Tech spa and 550,000 euro for 
Minigears spa. 

Furthermore, a significant reduction in the size of the site in Poland is anticipated 
where the workforce is planned to be reduced by more than two thirds of the current 
levels, along with a reduction in absolute terms, accompanied by the development 
of the resources needed for manufacturing requirements, via the use of all available 
tools.

Risks regarding health and safety at work
The Group carries out industrial processes that feature mechanical works and the 

assembly of mechanical components. The risks associated with health and safety at 
the workplace are those typical of manufacturing. 

The Italian manufacturing sites continually monitor compliance with current 
legislation. The other manufacturing units operate in compliance with local re-
quirements while maintaining the standards envisaged by Italian legislation as a 
reference. Group management is attentive to all efforts to ensure and improve safety 
at work conditions paying particular attention to the situations having a greater 
degree of risk.

RESEARCH AND INNOVATION
Following the development plan started some years ago, the operations for the 

methodological improvement and development of the range of the Group’s prod-
ucts continued. In terms of methods, the main focus was the extension of common 
processes and tools to all companies of the Group. This homogenisation is also part 
of the aim to have everyone benefit from a more mature management of knowl-
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edge and organisation, in line with the markets’ expectations. More specifically, the 
implementation of the PLM systems was completed at Elettronica Santerno.

With regard to Power Transmission systems, a strong impetus was given to the 
design of the first model of the new range for agricultural applications up to 170 
hp. This project will include all the advanced mechanical, hydraulic and electronic 
control know-how gained and consolidated over the years.

In terms of Construction Equipment, the year saw the launch of the production 
in the new manufacturing sites of transmissions for excavators/loaders, while also 
extending the configurations available for the new robotic manual and automatic 
transmissions.

During the same period we designed a new family of axles for construction equip-
ment applications, with a view to extending the range and expanding into higher 
power applications.

With regard to traction systems for applications for material handling, special 
and light commercial vehicles, the first prototypes using the new electronic power 
and control platform for electrical and hybrid traction were built and successfully 
presented to the market. This innovation should signal an end to our role as a Tier I 
supplier of complete innovative power trains.

In the Vehicles sector the prototypes were practically ready for the certification 
of a new generation of tractors for special applications, which comply with the new 
emissions regulations (Tier III). 

A major impetus was given to the renewable energies area of innovation with the 
development and installation of the new mechanical reducers for special, high pre-
cision applications in the area of industry producing electricity via solar concentra-
tor systems.

Furthermore, the bench test and validation operations on the new generation of 
inverters are being brought to completion for wind applications that should make 
an important contribution to increasing the Carraro Group’s percentage of turnover 
in renewable energy products.

There has been ever-increasing evidence of the contribution made in all the ac-
tivities described above, both in terms of skills and quantity of work carried out, by 
Carraro Technologies India, yet another expansion by the company.

Significant events in 2008

On February 13, 2008 the Province of Buenos Aires formally approved the pro-
posed division of the company South America Gears sa from Carraro Argentina sa. 
The new company, which employs 170 over a total surface area of 12,000 square 
metres, manufactures high technological value gears, loose and assembled compo-
nents for tractors and earth-moving machines.
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At the General Meeting of April 23, 2008, the shareholders approved an acquisi-
tion and disposal programme of no more than 5% of the share capital, over a term of 
18 months, at a minimum price of no less than 30% below, and a maximum price no 
more than 20% above the reference price for the stock quoted in the stock exchange 
session of the day preceding each transaction. Authorization for the acquisition and 
disposal was also granted in order to support the liquidity of the stock and to coun-
ter price fluctuations above and below the normal variations associated with stock 
market trends.

In May, Carraro International sa signed a new medium/long-term loan contract 
for 150 mln euro. This liquidity will support the Group’s growth and international-
ization strategies in accordance with the objectives of the Three Year Plan, which 
provides for significant investment. The major aim of this investment is to rein-
force the manufacturing capacity, consolidate the internationalization process and 
launch new Research and Development projects.

June 20, 2008 saw the incorporation of the company Carraro Drive Tech do 
Brazil Ltda, which is based in São Paulo and has for its company object the market-
ing of Carraro products in the South American market.

On 1st July 2008 the Carraro Group put in place a process of corporate reorga-
nization, with which it introduced a new model of management and governance 
which involved the separation of the four Business Units into Drivelines (under the 
control of Carraro Drive Tech spa), Gears & Components (under the control of Gear 
World spa), Vehicles (Agritalia Division) and Power Controls (under the control of 
Elettronica Santerno spa). Each Business Unit is controlled directly or indirectly by 
Carraro spa, in its capacity as Parent Company. This decision was taken in order to 
better distinguish between the strategic control activities, for which Carraro spa is 
responsible, and the work of managing the individual Business Units, with conse-
quent greater focusing and efficiency for each area.

Therefore from July 1, 2008 Carraro spa conferred on the newly-established 
company Carraro Drive Tech spa the operations comprising all the tangible and in-
tangible assets relating to the industrial activities of the factories of Campodarsego, 
Gorizia and, for replacement parts, Rovigo. This conferment included all the equity 
interests held in those companies active in the Business Unit Drivelines A.E. srl 
and Carraro Argentina sa. 

Furthermore, Carraro International sa conferred the equity interests held in 
the companies involved in the Business Unit: Drivelines, Fon sa, Carraro Qingdao 
Drive, Carraro Qingdao Trading, and Carraro China Drive.

On August 1, 2008 Carraro spa and Finacasalfiumanese spa agreed to modify 
the terms of exercising the option to buy and sell the 33% of the share capital of 
Elettronica Santerno spa held by Finacasalfiumanese spa. In more detail, the op-
tion price was fixed at 18 mln euro, where the option to purchase may be exercised 
between January 30, 2010 and May 31, 2011 and the option to sell in the 30 working 
days following March 30, 2010 and May 31, 2011 respectively. 
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On September 26, 2008 a successive increase in the capital of Carraro Drive Tech 
spa was carried out via the conferment of the interest held by Carraro spa in Carraro 
India Ltd.

On December 22 and 23, 2008 Carraro International sa entered into two me-
dium and long-term financing contracts with leading banks for 20 mln euro. At the 
same time another commitment was entered into for a real estate loan agreement 
for Carraro spa, Carraro Drive Tech spa and Elettronica Santerno spa for a total 
amount of 30 mln euro, which will be brought to completion during the course of 
2009. This financing will assure the Group the necessary liquidity to achieve the 
industrial plan and in carrying out its ordinary operations.

Key risks and uncertainties
for Carraro Spa and the Group

Risks associated with the general economic conditions
The Group’s financial, capital and borrowing situation is influenced by various 

factors within the general macro-economic framework, such as changes to the gross 
national product, the state of the agricultural and construction industries, the cost 
of raw materials and the level of business confidence in the various countries in 
which the Group operates. 

During the course of 2008 and during the second half of the year in particular, 
the financial markets experienced a high level of instability and a reduced volume of 
transactions, having a significant effect on access to credit for both consumers and 
business. This increasing constraint quickly began to bring about a liquidity deficit, 
increasing the trend towards falling consumption and investment with fallout in the 
various industrial sectors the Group operates in.

Where this situation will have its most severe effects will be discovered over time, 
possibly having a negative effect on the individual companies’ and consolidated 
earnings, capital and borrowing position.

Risks having an effect on the Group’s results
Significant macro-economic events, such as a generalised and significant increase 

in the prices of raw materials, a significant fall in demand in one of the key markets, 
enduring uncertainty and volatility of the financial and capital markets, falling in-
terest rates and unfavourable changes in the exchange rates of the major currencies 
to which the Group is exposed are all negative factors for the Group’s operations 
and future, as well as its financial results and its borrowing position. Moreover the 
Group’s profitability is affected by the risk of insolvency of its counterparties, as well 
as the general economic conditions of the country in which the Group carries out its 
industrial and commercial operations.
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Risks associated with funding requirements 
The Group’s liquidity risk is mainly linked to the activation and maintenance of 

sufficient funding to support industrial operations. 
The raising of funds, consistent with the Group’s short- and medium-term de-

velopment plans, is intended to finance both the working capital, with particular 
regard to the supplies held in store which supply the manufacturing process, and 
investments in fixed assets necessary to ensure sufficient production capacity in 
support of growth. This requirement is directly in proportion with the dynamic of 
customer orders and consequent increase in volumes of activity.

The Group’s funding strategy is normally designed to increase medium-term pro-
vision, including for the benefit of the working capital requirements, thereby reduc-
ing the short-term debt. The provision is achieved by drawing on bank loans of a 
term consistent with the Group’s liquidity cycle. The cycle of payments and receipts 
reflects an average term for trade payables of around 120 days and an average term 
for receivables of around 60 days.

The cash flows envisaged for the 2009 trading period reflect not only the afore-
mentioned working capital dynamic, but also the effects of the maturity of the cur-
rent liabilities and current portions of the non-current liabilities, and the effects 
(assuming the same rates of exchange with respect to December 31, 2008) of the 
closure of the derivative financial instruments on currencies in existence at the date 
of the financial statements. The Group envisages meeting the needs deriving from 
financing obligations falling due and the anticipated investments by the flows deriv-
ing from operations, available liquidity and the renewal and refinancing of banking 
loans.

Even in the current market context the Group anticipates generating financial 
resources by managing operations by means of a containment of manufacturing 
activities to reduce stock to appropriate levels in consideration of current sales vol-
umes and consequently partially reabsorb the excess of floating capital used in the 
second half of 2008. However further unanticipated reductions of sales volumes 
would have a negative effect on the cash generation capacity. The management of 
the liquidity, funding requirements and cash-flows are under the direct control and 
management of the Group Treasury, which operates with the aim of managing the 
resources available as efficiently as possible.

However, again in consideration of the current financial crisis, we cannot exclude 
situations in the banking and monetary market that could form an obstacle to nor-
mal financing operations. 

Lastly, regardless of the fact that the Group has continued refinancing its debts 
with the support of its banking counterparties and the financial markets, the situ-
ation could arise of having to seek additional financing in less favourable market 
conditions, with the limited availability of such sources and an increase of financing 
charges.
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Risks associated with the instability of exchange rates and interest rates
The Group is exposed to exchange risks by virtue of the fact that a significant por-

tion of sales and part of the acquisitions are conducted in currencies other than the 
Group’s reporting currency, with trade transactions carried out by companies in the 
area with counterparties that do not belong to the area and vice versa.

Another aspect of the exchange rate risk is the fact that several Group companies 
present their financial statements in currencies other than the Group’s reporting 
currency.

Each entity’s exposure to the exchange rate risk is regularly monitored by the 
Group Treasury according to a strategy which focuses, in particular, on the balance 
between purchases and sales in foreign currency and activating, for the remaining 
non-balanced portion and according to the criteria set by the company policy in 
terms of the management of financial risks, appropriate initiatives to hedge or re-
duce the risks identified, using the instruments available on the market.

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risks in relation to the financial liabili-
ties assumed to fund either normal operations or, as applicable, the Group’s expan-
sion by acquisitions. Changes in interest rates have a positive or negative effect on 
both the financial outcome and on cash flows.

The strategy adopted pursues the basic objective of achieving a balance between 
floating-rate and fixed-rate debt. The rate risk on the floating portion is then re-
duced via specific hedging operations.

Credit risk
The Group includes among its customers leading international manufacturers 

of agricultural machinery, construction equipment vehicles, industrial vehicles and 
light power tools. The concentration of the risk is associated with the size of these 
customers, which on a global context is on average high, yet balanced by the fact 
that the credit exposure is distributed across a complex network of counterparties 
who are active in diverse geographical areas. 

The management of credit is designed to prioritise the acquisition of customers of 
national and international standing for superannual supplies. Generally speaking, 
these relationships are governed by ad hoc supply contracts. Credit control requires 
periodic monitoring of the main financial and economic data (including the delivery 
schedules) relating to the customer.

Except in special circumstances to do with country or counterparty risk, guaran-
tees are not normally obtained on the credit.

The credits are recorded on the financial statements net of any write-downs de-
termined by assessing the counterparty’s risk of insolvency based on the informa-
tion available. 
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Country risk
Operating at an international level the Carraro Group is exposed to the risks as-

sociated with internationalisation. Political instability, changes in legislative provi-
sion, changes in import and export rules in the countries where the Group has a 
presence, can all have a negative effect on our revenue.

Environmental risks
The Group operates across 18 manufacturing sites in seven different nations.
The manufacturing processes carried out in the Group’s industrial sites are es-

sentially mechanical processing of iron and steel and assembling purchased com-
ponents. These processes have accessory materials such as packaging, lubricants, 
paints and solvents. The objective of limiting the impact of emissions into the en-
vironment has seen a significant improvement during 2008 through an important 
investment in moving from solvent based coatings to water-based paints that mini-
mise atmospheric emissions.

Each site operates in compliance with local environmental regulations. Moreover 
management pays continual attention to environmental issues by the adoption of 
all the applications that current technology has made available to reduce the risk of 
pollution.

In specific terms, all activities are being carried out to obtain Environmental 
Certification in accordance with the criteria of iso 14001 in all of the Group’s plants. 
Particular attention has been paid to increasing the efficiency of processes in order 
to maximise energy savings.

In the choices for the allocation of production and in making make/buy decisions 
the optimisation of the transport variable was also considered from a viewpoint of 
eco-sustainability and the reduction of CO2 emissions in line with the Group’s objec-
tive.

Performance of Consolidated Companies

The following section contains the most significant data pertaining to companies 
belonging to the Carraro Group. It will be illustrated that the corporate reorganisa-
tion programme modified the comparability of certain balances, in particular that 
of the parent company which, with affect from July 1, conferred almost all of its in-
dustrial operations to the subsidiary Carraro Drive Tech spa. Therefore for both of 
these companies the figures are given without a comparison with the previous year.
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CARRARO SPA
The parent company achieved sales revenue of 323.484 mln euro. This revenue 

refers to six months of operations, in the manufacture and marketing of axles and 
transmissions, conferred with effect from July 1, 2008 to Carraro Drive Tech spa, 
and 12 months of operations of the Agritalia Division in the manufacture and mar-
keting of agricultural tractors, not subject to the above conferment.

Carraro spa has maintained its strategic control function, coordinating the in-
dividual business units of the Carraro Group, managing the finances and risks of 
the individual Carraro Group companies and the planning and production of the 
agricultural machines of the complex of companies known as Divisione Agritalia 
(Agritalia Division).

Ebitda came to 12.300 mln euro (3.80% of turnover); ebit was 6.907 mln euro, 
2.14% of turnover. Net financing costs stand at 4.813 mln euro, or 1.49% of turnover 
and net exchange differences including hedging costs are a negative value of 263 
thousand euro.

Revenues from investments amount to 7.573 mln euro and refer to dividends re-
ceived from the subsidiaries A.E. srl (563 thousand euro), Elettronica Santerno spa 
(2.010 mln euro) and Carraro International (5.000 mln euro).

With taxation of 817 thousand euro, the 2008 period closed with a net profit 
of 8.587 mln euro, or 2.65% of turnover. Depreciation and amortization in 2008 
amounted to 5.393 mln euro from which arose cash-flow of 13.980 mln euro. 

Gross investments in 2008 total 9.244 mln euro and relate to the maintenance 
of the Divisione Agritalia plant and the capitalisation of orders for research and 
development. 

The net financial position stood at a debt of 51.563 mln euro. As at December 31, 
2008 the company had 320 employees (of whom 71 are at Campodesargo and 249 
at the Divisione Agritalia site in Rovigo). 
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CARRARO DRIVE TECH SPA
The company, on which the manufacture and marketing of axles and transmis-

sions at the Campodesargo and Gorizia operations were conferred with effect 
from July 1, 2008, achieved sales revenue of 169.485 mln euro for the period July-
December 2008. 

Ebitda was 4.330 mln euro, 2.55% of turnover. ebit came out at 1.388 mln euro, 
0.82% of turnover.

Net of the extraordinary provision ebitda would have come to 5.180 mln euro 
(3.06% of sales), and ebit would have been 2.238 mln euro, 1.32% of turnover. Net 
financing charges come out at 2.375 mln euro, 1.40% of turnover. Net exchange dif-
ferences, including hedging costs, made a gain of 46 thousand euro.

With taxation of 294 thousand euro, the 2008 period closed with a net loss of 
1.235 mln euro. Net of the extraordinary provision the trading period would have 
closed with a net loss of 619 thousand euro.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2.942 mln euro from which arose a 
cash-flow of 1.707 mln euro. Net of the extraordinary provision the cash-flow pro-
vided would have been 2.323 mln euro. Gross investments amounted to 2.672 mln 
euro and were destined primarily for maintenance.

The net financial position came to a debt of 16.375 mln euro. As at December 31, 
2008 the company had 760 employees (of whom 613 were at Campodesargo, 26 at 
the site in Rovigo and 121 were at the site in Gorizia). 

A.E. SRL (ASSALI EMILIANI)
Revenues at December 31, 2008 came to 29.869 mln euro, stable in comparison 

with the 29.983 of December 2007.
Because of the greater acquisition costs not completely recovered in the sales 

prices, ebitda was 473 thousand euro (1.58% of turnover) a drop of 58.58% from 
the 1.142 mln euro in 2007 (3.81% of turnover).

Ebit stood at 354 thousand euro (1.19% of sales), down by 64.71% on the figure 
of 1.003 mln euro recorded in 2007 (3.35% of sales).

The year ended with a loss of 315 thousand euro, compared with a profit of 692 
thousand euro at December 31, 2007.

After depreciation and amortization of 119 thousand euro, cash-flow came to a 
negative 196 thousand euro (compared to a positive 831 thousand euro last year).

Investments in maintenance were made amounting to 96 thousand euro.
The net financial position showed a net debt of 10.657 mln euro, up from the 

negative values of 5.806 mln euro at June 2007 and 2.754 mln euro at December 
2007 as a result of the increase in customer accounts receivable and an increase of 
VAT credits.

The workforce stood at 52 people at December 31, 2007 (55 at June 2008 and 63 
at December 31, 2007).
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FABRYKA OSI NAPEDOWYCH SA
The Polish subsidiary achieved a total sales value of 80.572 mln euro, an increase 

of 12.87% over the December 2007 figure of 71.384 mln euro. The growth achieved 
in the first nine months then underwent a strong slowdown in the final quarter 
through Fon’s exposure to construction equipment applications. 

Ebitda stood at 2.404 mln euro at December 31, 2007, or 2.98% of sales, com-
pared to 4.061 mln euro (5.69% of turnover) at December 31, 2007 and ebit showed 
a loss of 233 thousand euro (3.66% of turnover) a decrease from the figure of 2.616 
mln euro (3.66% of turnover) of December 31, 2007.

Net financing charges totalled 1.127 mln euro, or 1.40% of sales (1.089 mln euro, 
1.53% of turnover in 2007).

As a result of the significant devaluation of the zloty at December 31, both the 
adjustment of the equity entries and the mark to market valuations of the derivative 
instruments are particularly negative; exchange differences showed a loss of 1.148 
mln euro (a gain of 93 thousand euro in 2007).

The same reason caused the year to end with loss of 2.974 mln euro, compared 
with profit of 1.599 mln euro in 2007. 

Depreciation and amortization stood at 2.637 mln euro (1.445 mln euro in 2007) 
and cash-flow was a negative 337 thousand euro (a profit of 3.044 mln euro at 
December 31, 2007).

Investments at December 31, 2008 amounted to 3.088 mln euro (3.170 mln euro 
in the previous year) and were for the maintenance of manufacturing capacity.

The net financial position showed a net debt of 15.229 mln euro, up from the 
figure at June 2008, 7.842 mln euro as in comparison with the 7.334 mln euro at 
December 31, 2007 as a result of the increase of floating capital through customer 
accounts receivable and VAT credits.

The workforce totalled 197 people at December 31, 2008 (191 at June 30, 2008 
and 190 at December 31, 2007).

As already mentioned, restructuring operations were implemented and will be 
completed during 2009, concerning 22 clerical staff and 110 workers as well as re-
sizing the manufacturing operations of the entire company focusing on the process-
ing of components and the assembly of products destined for the local market.

CARRARO DEUTSCHLAND GMBH
The company serves as an investment holding company and holds a 100% stake 

in O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH.
At December 31, 2008 the income statement showed a profit of 287 thousand 

euro, compared with the loss of 47 thousand euro in 2007. 
The net financial position came to net debt of 310 thousand euro, compared with 

284 thousand euro in June 2008 and 255 thousand euro at December 31, 2007.
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O&K ANTRIEBSTECHNIK GMBH 
Thanks to the positive progress of the demand coming from the market for 

Planetary Drives, turnover of the German subsidiary amounts to 71.385 mln euro, 
an increase of 10.53% in comparison with the 64.586 mln euro of December 31, 
2007.

It should be pointed out that the revenues and therefore profits were affected 
by a provision of 3.360 mln euro and extraordinary write-downs of 640 thousand 
euro made necessary following the first level judgement against the company by the 
Court of Essen and also relative to a current dispute with the owner of the site where 
the company operates. 

Ebitda came to 5.494 mln euro (7.70% of turnovers), and 1.753 mln euro at 
December 31, 2007 (2.71% of turnover). ebit came to 4.318 mln euro (6.05% of turn-
over), compared with 1.067 mln euro at December 31, 2007 (1.65% of turnover).

Excluding the aforementioned non-recurrent costs, ebitda would have been 
8.854 mln euro (12.40% of turnover), 1.753 mln euro at December 31, 2007 (2.71% 
of turnover) and ebit would have been 7.678 mln euro (10.76% of turnover) in com-
parison with the 1.067 mln euro (1.65% of turnover) in 2007. The strong improve-
ment over the previous year is attributable to a mixture of the manufacturing car-
ried out in Hattingen, after the reallocation of certain products to other companies 
of the Group, and the consequent more rational use of industrial assets.

Net financing charges totalled 959 thousand euro, or 1.34% of turnover (788 
thousand euro, 1.22% of turnover) in 2007. 

2008 closed with a net profit of 3.650 mln euro, 5.11% of turnover, an increase 
over December 2007 of 458 thousand euro, 0.71% of turnover.

Net of the aforementioned provision, 2008 would have closed with a net profit of 
5.926 mln euro, 8.30% of turnover, an increase over December 2007 of 458 thou-
sand euro, or 0.71% of turnover.

With amortisation and depreciation of 1.176 mln euro (686 thousand euro in 
2007), cash flow derived from this amounting to 4.826 mln euro (1.144 mln euro in 
2007) which, net of the non recurrent provision would have been 7.102 mln euro.

Investments were sustained amounting to 1.990 mln euro (1.195 thousand euro 
in 2007) in reorganization and industrial efficiency.

The net financial position at December 31, 2008 was a gain of 294 thousand euro 
in comparison with the debit balance of 9.482 mln euro at June 30, 2008 and the 
9.570 mln euro debt at December 31, 2007 through the transitory effect of delayed 
payments to suppliers. 

The company’s workforce numbered 201 people at December 31, 2008 (201 at 
June 30, 2008 and 200 at December 31, 2007). 
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CARRARO NORTH AMERICA INC. (VIRGINIA BEACH) 
As of January 2008, the company located in Calhoun was liquidated and a new 

company, Carraro North America Inc. was formed in Virginia Beach, in order to 
support marketing operations in the North American market.

The company drew commission income of 855 thousand euro, sustained operat-
ing costs of 880 thousand euro, amounting to an operating loss of 25 thousand euro. 
With net financing charges of 35 thousand euro, the 2008 period closed with a net 
loss of 60 thousand euro. The net financial position came to a debt of 309 thousand 
euro. At December 31, 2008 the company employed six people. 

CARRARO ARGENTINA SA
Sales came to 65.636 mln euro at December 31, 2008, up by 3.76% on the 63.258 

mln euro at December 31, 2007.
Ebitda stood at 2.069 mln euro (3.15% of turnover) and was down by 63.53% 

on the 5.673 mln euro recorded in 2007 (8.97% of sales). The ebit figure was 563 
thousand euro (0.86% of sales), down by 82.31% of the 3.182 mln euro of 2007 
(5.03% of sales). The greater acquisition costs contributed to the falls.

Net financing income (including the gain of more than one million euro from the 
reclassification of the premiums from derivative instruments during the course of the 
period in application of ias standard 32/39) amounted to 1.018 mln euro, 1.55% of 
sales turnover. The value in 2007 was 125 thousand euro, 0.20% of turnover. Net ex-
change differences including Mark to Market effects at December 31, 2008 showed a 
gain of 856 thousand euro, also a gain of 484 thousand euro at December 31, 2007.

After taxes of 364 thousand euro, compared with the 1.470 mln euro in 2007, net 
income came to 2.073 mln euro, which is largely in line with the profit of 2.071 mln 
euro at December 31, 2007.

After depreciation and amortization of 1.506 mln euro (2.491 mln euro in 2007), 
the company posted a positive cash flow of 3.597 mln euro (4.562 mln euro at 
December 31, 2007).

Total investments of 1.180 mln euro were made, primarily in maintaining produc-
tion capacity (1.843 mln euro at December 31, 2007).

The net financial position at December 31, 2008 showed a debt of 491 thousand 
euro, a fall in comparison with the figure at June 30, which was a credit of 4.325 mln 
euro (a credit of 3.037 mln euro at December 31, 2007).

The workforce numbered 237 at December 31, 2008 (242 at June 30, 402 at 
December 31 2007). The apparent fall in comparison with the figure of the previ-
ous year is in actual fact attributable to the division of the company South America 
Gears sa from Carraro Argentina sa, a split that involved 170 people.
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CARRARO INDIA LTD.
Due to the significant manufacturing transfers implemented in previous years, 

sales were up by 30.72% to 56.411 mln euro, compared with the 43.153 mln euro at 
December 31, 2007.

As a result of the greater acquisition costs ebitda remained unchanged at 5.164 
mln euro (9.15% of turnover) in comparison with the 5.191 mln euro (12.03% of 
turnover) of 2007. The ebit of 3.986 mln euro (7.1% of turnover) grew 1.19% in 
comparison with the 3.939 mln euro in 2007 (9.13% of turnover).

Because of the greater average debt during the 12 month period and expressing 
a greater amount of it in the local currency, and because of certain limitations set 
during the course of the year by the Indian authorities, financing charges amounted 
to 1.937 mln euro, 3.43% of turnover (997 thousand euro, 2.31% of turnover at 
December 31, 2007). Through the trough in the value of the local currency at the 
end of the year, the adjustment of equity entries and the Mark to Market adjust-
ment of the derivative instruments generated negative exchange-rate differences 
and hedging charges of 2.419 mln euro (a positive value of 445 thousand euro at 
December 31, 2007).

For the aforementioned reasons the 2008 period closed with a loss of 587 thou-
sand euro, compared with the profit of 2.811 mln euro at December 31, 2007.

Amortisation and depreciation amounted to 1.178 mln euro, in comparison with 
1.252 mln euro at December 31, 2007, from which a cash flow of 591 thousand euro 
was generated (4.063 mln euro at December 31, 2007). Investments of 4.785 mln 
euro were made (4.206 mln euro at December 31, 2007), aimed mainly at optimis-
ing manufacturing capacity.

The net financial position, a debt of 12.338 mln euro was lower than the 15.929 
mln euro of June 30, 2008, which was also a result of the increase of capital – made 
by the shareholders on October 8, 2008 by 387 mln rupees against a euro value of 
5.885 mln – but was largely in line with December 31, 2007, when it was a debt of 
12.261 mln euro.

The workforce stood at 266 people at December 31, 2008 (256 at June 30, 2008 
and 216 at the end of December 2007).

CARRARO CHINA DRIVE SYSTEM CO. LTD.
The project for the merger by incorporation of Carraro Qingdao Drive System 

Co. Ltd. into Carraro China Drive System Co. Ltd. was approved by the presiding 
authorities on September 25, 2008.

The 2008 period discounted the initiation of the new plant with a consequent 
modification of the fixed general and industrial costs, against which there were no 
corresponding proportional increases in volumes originally anticipated for the sec-
ond half of 2008, as a result of the difficulties in the second half of the year.

Sales were up by 61.95% at December 31, 2007 to 22.045 mln euro (13.612 mln 
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euro at December 31, 2007).
Ebitda was a negative value of 544 thousand euro, a fall in comparison with the 

positive figure of 1.172 mln euro of 2007. ebit was a negative value of 1.680 mln 
euro, a fall in comparison with the positive value of 614 thousand euro at December 
31, 2007. The year ended with net loss of 2.456 mln euro, compared with a profit of 
455 thousand euro in 2007.

With depreciation and amortization of 1.136 mln euro, a negative cash flow of 
1.320 mln euro was generated (positive 1.013 mln euro at December 31, 2007).

Investments were made amounting to 7.524 mln euro for the completion of the 
new plant and the net financial position was a debt balance of 13.780 mln euro (a 
debt of 8.885 mln euro in June 2008 and a debt of 2.703 mln euro at December 31, 
2007). Personnel employed at December 31, 2008 amounted to 172 people (139 in 
December 2007).

CARRARO QINGDAO TRADING LTD.
Sales amounted to 3.529 mln euro at December 31, 2008 (5.148 mln euro in 

2007), ebitda stood at 37 thousand euro and there was a net loss of 198 thousand 
euro.

ELETTRONICA SANTERNO SPA
In 2008, the markets for Elettronica Santerno’s inverters, photovoltaic systems, 

wind systems and industrial applications maintained a significant rate of growth 
enabling the achievement of significant results, which was also via management 
strategies that were aware and ready to seize the opportunities presented to them.

The 2008 turnover amounted to 62.289 mln euro, a growth of 108.31% in com-
parison with the 29.902 mln euro in 2007, 55% of which was achieved in the do-
mestic market (73.8% in 2007) and 45% in the overseas market (26.2% in 2007), 
with a share of 29.2% for the Spanish market, 2.5% for the Australian market and 
1.5% for the Brazilian market.

Of total sales, 29.6% were realised in the industrial segment and 70.4% in the re-
newable energy segment. The latter mostly includes the sales of products intended 
for applications in alternative energy generation (solar and photovoltaic power).

Ebitda came to 16.067 mln euro (25.79% of turnover), up by 159.56% on the fig-
ure of 6.190 mln euro recorded in 2007 (20.70% of turnover). ebit came to 15.737 
mln euro (25.26% of turnover), up by 163.38% on the figure of 5.975 mln euro re-
corded in 2007 (19.98% of turnover).

Financial year 2008 ended with a profit of 10.202 mln euro (16.38% of turnover) 
an increase of 205.54% compared with the 3.339 mln euro (11.17% of turnover) of 
December 31, 2007.

After depreciation and amortization of 330 thousand euro, cash flow stood at 
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10.532 mln euro. Investments amounting to 1.622 mln euro were made, destined 
for new development projects (1.354 mln euro in 2007). Net financial position came 
to net debt of 3.457 mln euro, compared with 2.632 mln euro in June 2008 (4.328 
mln euro at December 31, 2007).

The workforce amounted to 125 employees, at June 2008 this figure was 105, and 
there were 85 employees in December 2007. 

ELETRONICA SANTERNO INDUSTRIA E COMERCIO LTDA (BRASILE) 
The company achieved a sales revenue of 1.631 mln euro. Ebitda was a nega-

tive value of 295 thousand euro; ebit was also negative by 308 thousand euro. 
Net financial income comes out at 39 thousand euro, 2.39% of turnover. The net 
exchange differences were a loss of 21 thousand euro. With taxation of 73 thousand 
euro, the 2008 period closed with a net loss of 217 thousand euro. Depreciation and 
amortization amounted to 13 thousand euro, from which arose a negative cash-flow 
of 204 thousand euro. 

Gross investments amounted to 116 thousand euro and the net financial posi-
tion was a gain of 407 thousand euro. The workforce consisted of 23 employees at 
December 31, 2008.

ZAO SANTERNO (RUSSIA) 
The company achieved a sales revenue of 401 thousand euro. Ebitda was a 

negative value of 102 thousand euro; ebit was also negative by 104 thousand euro. 
Net financing charges come out at 6 thousand euro, 1.50% of turnover. The net ex-
change differences were a gain of 10 thousand euro. With taxation of 14 thousand 
euro, the 2008 period closed with a net loss of 86 thousand euro. Depreciation and 
amortization amounted to 2 thousand euro; the cash-flow generated was a nega-
tive 84 thousand euro. Gross investments amounted to 6 thousand euro and the 
net financial position was a gain of 36 thousand euro. The workforce consisted of 6 
employees at December 31, 2008.

GEAR WORLD SPA
Holding company founded in 2007 that manages and co-ordinates interests in 

gears and components businesses. Gear World achieved a turnover of 744 thousand 
euro in 2008, a growth over the 151 thousand euro of 2007.

Ebitda was a negative value of 3.217 mln euro, in comparison with the negative 
value of 423 thousand euro in 2007. Ebit was also negative for 3.221 mln euro in 
comparison with the negative figure of 423 thousand euro at December 31, 2007.

The revenue from equity interests amounted to 2.600 mln euro, which was zero 
in 2007.
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Net financing charges came out at 395 thousand euro, in comparison with the 
225 thousand euro in the previous year.

The 2008 period ended with a net loss of 78 thousand euro, compared with the 
net loss of 473 thousand euro at December 31, 2007.

After depreciation and amortization of 4 thousand euro, cash-flow stood at nega-
tive 74 thousand euro. 

The net financial position, which includes the dividend drawn from the share 
premium reserve provided by MG Holding, now Minigears spa, of 12.900 mln euro, 
the increase of the capital of Turbo Gears by 5.924 mln euro and the increase of the 
capital of South America Gears by 1.500 mln euro, is a debt balance of 11.288 mln 
euro, this figure was 4.345 mln euro in June 2008 (a debt balance of 12.810 mln 
euro at December 31, 2007).

The workforce amounted to 5 employees, compared with 3 in June 2008 and 1 
employee in December 2007.

SIAP SPA
2008 featured two very different levels of demand: during the first half of the 

year, the strong growth, also a feature of 2007, continued with sustained demand 
from all third party clients of the Carraro Group. The second half of the year, from 
August on, saw a general fall in demand across all third party clients and Carraro 
Group.

Sales at December 31, 2008 reached 123.305 mln euro, up by 11.94% over the 
110.149 mln euro of the previous trading period.

Ebitda stood at 10.389 mln euro (8.43% of turnover), down by 23.49% on the 
figure of 13.579 mln euro recorded at December 31, 2007 (12.33% of turnover). ebit 
was 4.136 mln euro (3.35% of turnover), down by 41.04% on the figure of 7.015 mln 
euro recorded at December 2007 (6.37% of turnover).

The fall in revenue in comparison with the previous year is attributable to the 
increased cost of raw materials. Net financing charges totalled 1.938 mln euro, or 
1.57% of turnover, compared with the 1.140 mln euro, or 1.03% of sales in the previ-
ous period.

After taxes of 180 thousand euro, the 2008 period closed with a profit of 2.216 
mln euro, 1.80% of turnover, against a profit in 2007 of 3.030 mln euro, 2.75 of 
turnover, a fall of 26.86%. After depreciation and amortization of 6.253 mln euro 
(6.564 mln euro in the previous year), cash flow was 8.469 mln euro (9.594 mln 
euro at December 31, 2007).

A total of 13.253 mln euro in investments were made (8.529 mln euro at December 
31, 2007), intended exclusively for increasing production capacity. 

The net financial position was a debt balance of 38.403 mln euro, an increase 
over the figure at June 30, 2008, which was a debt balance of 29.402 mln euro (debt 
balance of 26.243 mln euro at December 31, 2007).
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The workforce amounted to 471 employees in December 2008 (of whom 336 
were employed at the Maniago facility and 135 at the Poggiofiorito facility), com-
pared with 564 in June 2008 and 482 at December 31, 2007 (of whom 370 were 
employed at the Maniago facility and 112 at Poggiofiorito).

STM SRL
As for Siap, 2008 was also a year featuring two levels of demand for Stm: during 

the first half of the year, the strong growth, also a feature of 2007, continued with 
sustained demand from all third party clients of the Carraro Group. The second 
half of the year, from August on, saw a general fall in demand across all third party 
clients and Carraro Group.

Turnover came to 24.110 mln euro at December 31, 2008, largely in line (a growth 
of 1.93%) with the turnover of 23.653 mln euro recorded in 2007. 

Ebitda stood at 3.143 mln euro (13.04% of turnover), a fall of 20.83% in com-
parison with the 3.970 mln euro of 2007 (16.78% of turnover). ebit was 2.270 mln 
euro (9.42% of turnover), a fall of 28.39% in comparison with the 3.170 mln euro 
figure of 2007 (13.40% of turnover) because of the greater purchasing costs. 

Net financing charges amounted to 193 thousand euro, or 0.80% of turnover, up 
by 14.98% on the 227 thousand euro, or 0.96% of turnover, in 2007.

After taxes of 625 thousand euro, 1.082 mln euro in 2007, the year ended with 
a net profit of 1.452 mln euro (6.02% of turnover), up by 21.98% on the net profit 
of 1.861 mln euro (7.87% of turnover) of the previous year.  After depreciation and 
amortization of 873 thousand euro (800 thousand euro in the previous year), cash-
flow was 2.325 mln euro (2.661 mln euro at December 31, 2007).

Investments totalling 426 thousand euro were made, down from the 841 mln 
euro of the last period. The net financial position came to net debt of 3.684 mln 
euro, a fall in comparison with the 4.241 mln euro at June 2008 and the 4.697 mln 
euro debt at December 31, 2007.

The workforce stood at 95 people at December 31, 2008 (112 at June 2008, 101 at 
December 31, 2007). 

TURBO GEARS INDIA LTD.
Turnover at December 31, 2008 reached 13.433 mln euro, an increase of 6.85% 

over the 12.572 mln euro in 2007.
Ebitda came out at 1.876 mln euro (13.97% of turnover) a fall of 14.49% from 

the 2.194 mln euro at December 31, 2007 (17.45% of turnover). Ebit stood at 950 
thousand euro (7.07% of turnover) down 31.61% from the figure of the last trading 
period of 1.389 mln euro, because of the greater fixed industrial costs and structural 
costs, through the restructuring for greater growth of sales, lacking in the latter part 
of the year, and carried forward to the next trading period.
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Because of the greater average debt during the 12 month period and expressing a 
greater amount of it in the local currency, and because of certain limitations set dur-
ing the course of the year by the Indian authorities, financing charges amounted to 
1.087 thousand euro, 8.09% of turnover (741 thousand euro at December 31, 2007, 
5.89% of turnover).

Through the trough in the value of the local currency at the end of the year, the 
adjustment of equity entries and the Mark to Market adjustment of the derivative 
instruments generated negative exchange-rate differences and hedging charges of 
1.212 mln euro (a positive value of 38 thousand euro at December 31, 2007).

Again for the reasons expressed above the company closed 2008 with a loss of 
1.349 thousand euro against a profit of 610 thousand euro at December 31, 2007.

A total of 3.353 mln euro in investments were made during the year, all of 
which were aimed at increasing production capacity, an increase over the figure at 
December 31, 2007, when investments amounted to 2.448 mln euro.

Thanks to the capital increase by 5.924 mln euro put into effect on December 
29, 2008, the net financial position was showing a debt balance of 4.606 mln euro 
which is down from the 10.033 mln euro of June 2008, and the 10.493 mln euro of 
December 2007. 

The workforce stood at 323 employees at December 31, 2008; there were 374 in 
June 2008 and 292 at December 31, 2007. 

MINIGEARS SPA
Comparative figures are not supplied as, on April 02, 2008, the companies 

MG Holding spa and Minigears spa were merged by incorporation, creating a 
new entity.

The turnover for the period was 57.473 mln euro.
In consideration of the market trends analysed above, volumes were lower than 

budget, which did not enable the industrial and general fixed costs to be appropriately 
absorbed, bringing ebitda to 5.258 mln euro (9.15% of turnover) and ebit to a nega-
tive value of 455 thousand euro. 

Net of the extraordinary provision ebitda would have come to 5.808 mln euro 
(10.11% of sales), and ebit would have been 95 thousand euro, 0.17% of turnover.

Net financing charges amounted to 2.085 mln euro while the exchange-rate dif-
ferences were a loss of 120 thousand euro. After accounting for taxes of 882 thou-
sand euro, the period closed with a loss of 1.778 mln euro which, net of extraordi-
nary provision would have been 1.379 mln euro. 

Depreciation and amortization of 5.713 mln euro generated an equivalent cash-
flow of 3.935 mln euro. Net of the extraordinary provision the cash-flow would have 
been 4.334 mln euro.

The total investments of 5.287 mln euro were chiefly related to industrial restruc-
turing. The net financial position post merger, which includes the payment of the 
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dividend of 12.900 mln euro, from the share premium reserve, to the parent Gear 
World spa, is a debt balance of 40.495 mln euro.

The workforce consisted of 352 employees at December 31, 2008.

MINIGEARS SUZHOU CO. LTD.
The Chinese company achieved a turnover for 2008 of 13.175 mln euro (4.772 mln 

euro in the five months of 2007), an ebitda of 2.296 mln euro (the equivalent of 
17.43% of turnover) and an ebit of 1.391 mln euro (10.56% of turnover). Financing 
charges stood at 161 thousand euro, net profit came to 1.295 thousand euro, and the 
net financial position amounted to a debt of 2.803 mln euro.

MINIGEARS VIRGINIA BEACH 
For the American company under the control of Minigears spa, the 2007 figures 

relate to the last five months of the year therefore the figures for the 2008 trading 
period are not compared with the previous year. In 2008 the company realised a 
turnover of 13.521 mln euro, an ebitda of 322 thousand euro (the equivalent of 
2.38% of turnover) and a negative ebit of 548 thousand euro. Financing charges 
stood at 220 thousand euro, there was a net loss of 483 thousand euro, and the net 
financial position amounted to a net debt of 3.578 mln euro.

SOUTH AMERICA GEARS SA
Following the division project mentioned previously, the company realised sales 

income of 9.293 mln euro. 
Ebitda was 457 thousand euro, 4.92% of turnover. Ebit was a negative balance 

of 169 thousand euro. Net financing charges come out at 10 thousand euro, 0.11% of 
turnover. Net exchange rate differences, including hedging charges, showed a loss of 
71 thousand euro. With taxation of 33 thousand euro, the 2008 period closed with 
a net loss of 217 thousand euro. Depreciation and amortization amounted to 626 
thousand euro, from which arose a negative cash flow of 409 thousand euro. 

Gross investments amounted to 1.102 mln euro and the net financial position 
showed a gain of 148 thousand euro.

The workforce consisted of 214 employees at December 31, 2008.

CARRARO INTERNATIONAL SA
As was envisaged in earlier reports, in order to achieve greater expansion and 

growth, during 2008 the company opened operations at its Swiss branch in Lugano 
for the marketing of mechanical and electronic products and the provision of com-
mercial services. In 2008 the company posted a turnover of 15.581 mln euro and, 
including financial intermediation operations, it achieved a profit of 6.881 mln 
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euro. The net financial position is showing a credit balance of 619 thousand euro 
(it was a debt of 39.510 mln euro at June 30, 2008, a debt of 37.589 mln euro at 
December 31, 2007).

CARRARO FINANCE LTD.
The company, with registered offices in Dublin, Ireland, supports its parent com-

pany, Carraro International, in undertaking international financing and treasury 
operations for the benefit of the Group. The financial statements for the year ended 
on December 31, 2008 showing a net loss of 16 thousand euro, and have one signifi-
cant entry of financing receivables amounting to 9 mln euro.

CARRARO TECHNOLOGIES INDIA LTD.
The company, which carries out planning, research and development for the 

Group and third parties, achieved sales income in 2008 of 964 thousand euro, a 
growth of 22.65% over the 786 thousand euro of the previous trading period.

Ebitda amounted to 209 thousand euro (21.68% of turnover) compared with the 
197 thousand euro of 2007, ebit was 63 thousand euro (6.54% of turnover) com-
pared with the 98 thousand euro of the previous year.

The company closed with a profit of 6 thousand euro compared with the profit 
of 20 thousand euro in 2007. The net financial position amounted to credit of 171 
thousand euro, which was a credit of 20 thousand euro at December 31, 2007. 

At December 31, 2008 there were 42 employees working in the company (40 at 
June 2008 and 41 at December 31, 2007).

Share performance

During 2008, the Carraro share price was also affected by the falls affecting the 
major stock exchanges worldwide. Following the substantial stability during the 
first months of the year, with values in line with the Mibtel, it entered a downward 
phase, followed by a strong descent in the last quarter. The official average price 
for 2008 was 6.06 euro with a minimum of 2.168 euro on December 23, reaching a 
maximum of 6.865 euro on January 2.

In the first three months of 2009, the price has remained largely stable, showing a 
slight fall in the first half of March but going against the general trend of the Mibtel. 
The maximum price recorded on January 19, was 2.735 euro, up from the price of 
2.47 euro of January 2, 2009, the first day of trading. The average price up to March 
15 was 2.5615 euro. 
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Events subsequent to year end

Carraro Drive Tech spa indicated its intention to exercise its option to sell its 
90% stake in the share capital of A.E. srl pursuant to the Framework Agreement 
entered into on February 20, 2004 as amended. Following this notification and the 
subsequent meetings held between the shareholders of A.E. srl, Carraro Drive Tech 
spa and CPS Italia scrl suggested an alternative path to the sale of the stock in A.E. 
srl, which envisages (i) the formation of a new company called A.E. Assemblaggi 
Emiliani srl, (ii) the subscription of a subsequent increase of share capital via the 
conferment of the going concern assembling axles and general mechanical compo-
nents, (iii) a commitment by CPS Italia scrl to assign its entire interest in A.E. srl 
to Carraro Drive Tech spa; (iv) a commitment by Carraro Drive Tech spa to make 
a resolution via its corporate bodies for A.E. srl to transfer its entire holding in the 
newly incorporated company AE Assemblaggi Emiliani srl to CPS Italia scrl.

The agreement entered into with Agritalia spa regarding the leasing of the busi-
ness operating in the development, assembly and distribution of agricultural trac-
tors operating at the Rovigo site will be extended for a further year, therefore expir-
ing on March 29, 2010.

As of the last quarter of 2008 and into 2009 various actions are being undertaken 
aimed at enabling the Group to address the changes in the market, via cost reduc-
tion and improvements in efficiency at the plants concerned.

These actions have, on one hand, the objective of managing the financial phase 
and of putting structural modifications on the companies concerned into effect and, 
on the other, improving cost containment, using all of the company’s current cost-
cutting methods and, where necessary, implementing the restructuring plans.
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Business outlook and projections for 2009

The early months of 2009 saw a further worsening of the economic situation, 
determining a significant reduction in sales, in particular in the agricultural and 
Construction Equipment markets. Renewable energies held up well. The marked 
uncertainty over trends in the global economy makes forecasting difficult, but de-
spite this we are seeing – from a number of our customers – weak signs that there 
may be a slight recovery in particular in the area of construction equipment in the 
second half of the year. 

In light of this scenario actions were taken at a number of facilities, starting in 
the last quarter of 2008 and on into 2009, in order to reduce overheads to give the 
Group the flexibility it needs to deal with the difficult market conditions. The ben-
efits of this operation will become fully effective starting from the second half of the 
year. 

More specifically the action taken to reduce costs and improve the efficiency of 
the facilities concerned includes resorting to all available social alternatives and, if 
necessary, the implementation of restructuring plans. As of today specific actions 
have been planned for the Italian facilities of Carraro Drive Tech (Campodarsego 
and Gorizia) and Minigears (Padua), and for the Fon works in Poland. 

In a period of rapid slowdown of the global economy, the actions implemented 
aim to adjust the cost structure, capacity and product range to the trend in demand. 
The objective is to preserve the Group’s competitive ability in the short term and 
at the same time create the conditions so that it can benefit immediately from the 
recovery of the markets, thanks also to the preservation of its superior technological 
capacity. 

For this reason we shall not be cutting the level of investments in Research and 
Innovation, and the new project development plans, above all in the field of highly 
efficient power drive systems, and in the renewable energy segment. 



REPORT ON OPERATIONS

59

Statement of reconciliation of consolidated
net income and shareholders’ equity with the net income
and shareholders’ equity of the parent company

The following table illustrates the reconciliation of the consolidated net income 
and shareholders’ equity as disclosed on the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
the net income and shareholders’ equity disclosed on the Financial Statements of 
Carraro spa:

ITEMS Net income
for the period

Shareholders’ equity 
for the period

Net income
previous period

Shareholders’ equity 
previous period

Net income and shareholders’ 
equity of Carraro Spa

8,587 84,478 7,631 84,491

Net income and shareholders’ 
equity of subsidiaries

16,586 309,543 18,267 305,832

Aggregate 25,173 394,021 25,898 390,323

Elimination of carrying value
of subsidiaries

348 – 276,008 0 – 273,463

Consolidation adjustments – 14,415 31,619 – 8,776 33,143

Profit and shareholders’ equity 11,106 149,632 17,122 150,004

Minority-interest share 204 – 23,174 – 1,535 – 23,584

Group share of net income
and shareholders’ equity

11,310 126,458 15,587 126,420

The information required by article 79 of the Regulations for Issuers (informa-
tion on the equity investments in the Parent Company Carraro spa and its subsid-
iaries by the directors, statutory auditors and… [omissis]) is set forth in a specific 
statement annexed to the Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements to which 
this Report refers.

The financial statements have been compiled in consideration of corporate con-
tinuity.

MARIO CARRARO
Chairman
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Notes 31/12/2008 of which non-
recurring

31/12/2007

A. REVENUE FROM SALES

1. Products 955,765 800,323

2. Services 9,958 6,657

3. Other revenues 7,646 6,754

TOTAL REVENUES FROM SALES 1 973,369 813,734

B. OPERATING COSTS

1. Purchases of goods and materials 609,641 528,812

2. Services 169,521 141,349

3. Leases and rents 5,689 3,756

4. Personnel costs 132,848 108,800

5. Amortisation and depreciation of assets 33,141 26,345

 5.a Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 27,647 23,497

 5.b Amortisation of intangible assets 3,388 2,255

 5.c Devaluation of fixed assets 1,702 640 133

 5.d Provisions for bad debt 404 460

6. Change in stocks – 24,555 – 37,220

7. Provision for risk and other liabilities 16,050 4,760 6,708

8. Other expenses and income – 3,514 – 3,258

9. Internal construction – 2,392 – 1,068

TOTAL OPERATING COSTS 2 936,429 774,224

OPERATING INCOME 36,940 39,510

C. INCOME FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS

10. Income from equity interests – –

11. Other financial income 1,565 1,566

12. Financial income and expenses – 17,818 – 12,425

13. Net foreign exchange income/expenses – 4,817 1,228

14. Value adjustments of financial assets – –

TOTAL INCOME FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS 3 – 21,070 – 9,631

INCOME BEFORE TAXES 15,870 29,879

15. Current and deferred income taxes 4 4,764 12,757

NET OPERATING INCOME 11,106 17,122

16. Income pertaining to minority interests 204 – 1,535

CONSOLIDATED GROUP INCOME 5 11,310 15,587

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and Diluted, for the profit for the period attributable
to ordinary shareholders of the parent company

 € 0.27 € 0.37

Consolidated Financial Statements
Income Statement at 31 December 2008
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31/12/2008

Notes 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

A. NON-CURRENT ASSETS

1. Tangible fixed assets 6 240,248 225,062

2. Intangible fixed assets 7 78,799 73,328

3. Real estate investments 8 709 710

4. Shareholdings 9 148 195

 4.1 Shares in subsidiary, associate and parent companies 148 183

 4.2 Equity investments held for sale – 12

5. Financial assets 10 446 1,135

 5.1 Loans and receivables – –

 5.2 Other financial assets 167 1,127

 5.3 Accrued expenses 279 8

6. Deferred tax assets 11 22,144 12,961

7. Trade receivables and other receivables 12 2,366 1,905

 7.1 Trade receivables – –

 7.2 Other receivables 2,366 1,905

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 344,860 315,296

B. CURRENT ASSETS

1. Closing inventory 13 203,602 182,430

2. Trade receivables and other receivables 12 201,589 185,499

 2.1 Trade receivables 148,587 138,127

 2.2 Other receivables 53,002 47,372

3. Financial assets 10 14,123 1,837

 3.1 Loans and receivables 13,210 84

 3.2 Other financial assets 275 1,141

 3.3 Financial accruals and deferrals 638 612

4. Cash and cash equivalents 14 51,674 32,655

 4.1 Cash 135 138

 4.2 Bank current accounts and deposits 51,539 32,478

 4.3 Other cash and cash equivalents – 39

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 470,988 402,421

TOTAL ASSETS 815,848 717,717
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Notes 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

A. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 15

1. Share Capital 21,840 21,840

2. Other Reserves 58,620 52,040

3. Profits/(Losses) brought forward – –

4. Ias/Ifrs first adoption reserve 44,384 44,384

5. Other Ias/Ifrs reserves – 1,594 – 143

Foreign currency translation reserve – 8,101 – 7,288

6. Result for the period pertaining to the Group 11,310 15,587

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 126,459 126,420

7. Minority interests 23,173 23,584

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 149,632 150,004

B. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

1. Financial liabilities 16 161,565 132,234

 1.1 Bonds – –

 1.2 Loans 161,565 132,234

 1.3 Accrued expenses – –

 1.4 Other – –

2. Trade payables and other amounts payable 17 17,149 14,331

 2.1 Trade payables 8 –

 2.2 Other amounts payable 17,141 14,331

3. Deferred tax liabilities 11 9,563 11,941

4. Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits 19 23,642 25,337

 4.1 Provision for severance indemnity 18,755 20,602

 4.2 Provision for retirement benefits 4,887 4,735

5. Provision for risk and contingencies 20 2,946 2,270

 5.1 Provision for warranties 1,331 1,213

 5.2 Provision for legal claims 628 879

 5.3 Provisions for restructuring and reconversion - –

 5.4 Other provisions 987 178

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 214,865 186,113
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Notes 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

C. CURRENT LIABILITIES

1. Financial liabilities 16 123,518 79,004

 1.1 Bonds (short-term) - –

 1.2 Loans 119,529 75,861

 1.3 Accrued income and deferred charges 1,252 1,212

 1.4 Other 2,737 1,931

2. Trade payables and other amounts payable 17 303,103 289,877

 2.1 Trade payables 270,660 255,997

 2.2 Other amounts payable 32,443 33,880

3. Current taxes payable 18 9,299 5,479

4. Provision for risk and contingencies(short-term amounts) 20 15,431 7,240

 4.1 Provision for warranties 10,541 7,240

 4.2 Provision for legal claims 130 –

 4.3 Provisions for restructuring and reconversion 1,400 –

 4.4 Other provisions 3,360 –

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 451,351 381,600

TOTAL LIABILITIES 666,216 567,713

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 815,848 717,717
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Share 
Capital

Other reserves Ias/Ifrs 1st 
adoption 

reserve

Treasury 
shares 

purchased

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

trans. res.

Profit/loss 
for the 
period

Allocation to 
shareholders

Minority 
interests

Total

of capital profits

BALANCE AT 1/1/2007 21,840 17,833 22,794 44,384 749 – 2,878 10,534 115,256 3,912 119,168

PROFIT FOR 2007 PERIOD 15,587 15,587 1,535 17,122

Income recognised in 
shareholders’ equity:

Change in fair value of cash 
flow hedging derivatives – 892 – 892 9 – 883

Foreign exchange 
translation differences – 4,410 – 4,410 – 620 – 5,030

– 892 – 4,410  – 5,302 – 611 – 5,913

Total income for the period – 892 – 4,410 15,587 10,285 924 11,209

Transactions with 
shareholders:

 Distribution of dividends:
 Carraro Spa – 5,250 – 5,250 – 5,250

 Distribution of dividends: 
 other companies  – 150 – 150

 Allocation of 2006
 net profit 5,284 – 5,284

Change in consolidation area 6,129 6,129 18,898 25,027

11,413 – 10,534 879 18,748 19,627

BALANCE AT 31/12/2007 21,840 17,833 34,207 44,384 – 143 – 7,288 15,587 126,420 23,584 150,004

Share 
Capital

Other reserves Ias/Ifrs 1st 
adoption 

reserve

Treasury 
shares 

purchased

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

trans. res.

Profit/loss 
for the 
period

Allocation to 
shareholders

Minority 
interests

Total

of capital profits

BALANCE AT 1/1/2008 21,840 17,833 34,207 44,384  – 143 – 7,288 15,587 126,420 23,584 150,004

PROFIT FOR 2008 PERIOD 11,310 11,310 – 204 11,106

Income recognised in 
shareholders’ equity:

Change in fair value of cash 
flow hedging derivatives – 1,451 – 1,451 – 79 – 1,530

Foreign exchange 
translation differences – 341 – 813 – 1,154 – 59 – 1,213

– 341 – 1,451 – 813 – 2,605 – 138 – 2,743

Total income for the period – 341 – 1,451 – 813 11,310 8,705 – 342 8,363

Transactions with 
shareholders:

 Distribution of dividends:
 Carraro Spa – 6,930 – 6,930 – 6,930

 Distribution of dividends: 
 other companies – 279 – 279

 Allocation of 2007
 net profit 8,657 – 8,657

Own share purchase – 1,526 – 1,526 – 1,526

Change in consolidation area – 210 – 210 210

8,447 – 1,526 – 15,587 – 8,666 – 69 – 8,735

BALANCE AT 31/12/2008 21,840 17,833 42,313 44,384 – 1,526 – 1,594 – 8,101 11,310 126,459 23,173 149,632
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Profit/(loss) for the year pertaining to the Group  11,310  15,587

Profit/(Loss) for the year pertaining to minority interests – 204  1,535

Tax for the year  4,764  12,757

INCOME BEFORE TAX  15,870  29,879

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets  27,647  23,497

Amortisation of intangible assets  3,388  2,255

Write-downs of intangible assets  1,702  133

 of which non-recurring write-downs 640 – 

Provision for risk  16,050  6,708

 of which non-recurring write-downs 4,760 – 

Provision for employee benefits  5,931  3,766

Net financial income/expense  16,253  10,859

Net foreign exchange income/expenses 4,817 – 1,228

Other non-monetary income and expense – – 6

OPERATING CASH FLOW BEFORE CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL  91,658  75,863

Change in stocks – 21,172 – 36,327

Changes in trade and other receivables – 19,205 4,826

 from related parties 2,654 – 2,571

Changes in trade and other payables 18,164 64,561

 to related parties – 2,120 – 4,777

Changes in receivables/payables for deferred taxation – 321 – 915

Changes in provision for employee benefits – 7,626 – 5,864

Changes in provision for risk – 7,183 – 5,390

Interest received 1,269 1,827

Interest paid – 17,778 – 11,486

Tax consolidation expense and income – 3,049 – 2,675

Tax payments – 9,135 – 9,689

OPERATIONAL CASH FLOW  26,156 67,383
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31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Investments in PPE and property investments – 52,821 – 18,796

Disinvestments, forex delta and other PPE movements 8,287 586

Investments in intangible assets – 8,652 – 4,929

Disinvestments, forex delta and other intangible asset movements – 207 – 42

Investments by combinations of companies – – 51,666

Net liquidity acquired with combinations of companies – 1,447

Equity investments/divestments 23 – 

Effect of forex conversion on interests 24 –  11

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS/DIVESTMENTS – 53,346 – 103,770

Changes in current financial assets – 17,122 1,040

 with related parties 44 – 1

Changes in non-current financial assets 960 – 162

Changes in current financial liabilities 44,474 – 8,231

Changes in non-current financial liabilities 29,331 46,697

Changes in reserves – 4,062 977

Dividends paid – 7,209 – 5,400

Changes in minority interests – 207 18,137

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS  46,209  53,057

TOTAL CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD  19,019  16,670

OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  32,655  15,985

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  51,674  32,655
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Explanatory and supplementary notes to the consolidated
accounts for the year ended december 31, 2008

1. INTRODUCTION
The publication of the Consolidated financial statements of Carraro spa for the 

accounting period closed at Dec. 31, 2008 was authorised by resolution of the Board 
of Directors of Mar. 20, 2009.

Carraro spa is a joint-stock company registered in Italy at the Padua Companies 
Register and controlled by Finaid spa.

Carraro spa is not subject to management and coordination activities under the 
terms of Art. 2497 et seq of the Civil Code.

The controlling shareholder of Finaid spa has no bearing on Carraro operations. 
More specifically, the following can be illustrated in evidence of this status:

› Finaid’s is a purely financial holding; 
› Finaid does not issue any directions to Carraro;
› the Finaid Board of Directors does not approve Carraro’s strategic plans or 

business plans nor does it “interfere” regularly in its operations; and
› there are no relationships of a commercial or financial nature between Finaid 

and Carraro.
These financial statements are presented in euro, as this is the currency in which 

most of the Group’s operations are conducted. The foreign companies are included 
in the consolidated report in accordance with the principles described in the notes 
that follow. The amounts in the financial statements are given in thousands of euro, 
while amounts are indicated in millions (mln) of euro in the notes.

The Carraro Group companies are principally engaged in the manufacture and 
marketing of transmission systems developed for agricultural tractors, construc-
tion equipment, material moving machinery, light commercial vehicles and auto-
mobiles. Following the acquisition of Elettronica Santerno spa, since 1 Jul. 2006 
the Group has also been producing electronic control and power systems.

On Jul. 1, 2008, the Carraro Group put in place a process of corporate reorga-
nization, with which it introduced a new model of management and governance 
which involved the separation of the four Business Units into Drivelines (under the 
control of Carraro Drive Tech spa), Gear & Components (under the control of Gear 
World spa), Vehicles (Agritalia Division) and Power Controls (under the control of 
Elettronica Santerno spa), each of which controlled directly or indirectly by Carraro 
spa, in its capacity as Parent Company. This decision was taken in order to better 
distinguish between the strategic control activities, for which Carraro spa is respon-
sible, and the work of managing the individual Business Units, with consequent 
greater focusing and efficiency for each area.

On Jul. 1, 2008, therefore, Carraro spa conferred on the newly-established compa-
ny Carraro Drive Tech spa the company division consisting of all the tangible and in-
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tangible assets relating to the industrial activities of the factories of Campodarsego, 
Gorizia and, for replacement parts, Rovigo including the equity interests held in the 
companies active in the Business Unit Drivelines A.E. srl and Carraro Argentina sa 
and with conferment by Carraro International sa of the equity interests held in the 
companies involved in the Business Unit Drivelines, Fon sa, Carraro Qingdao Drive, 
Carraro Qingdao Trading, and Carraro China Drive. 

All operations described were carried out on the basis of tax neutrality and with 
continuity for the accounting values and their conclusion has not had effects on the 
shareholders’ equity and the consolidated financial position.

Reporting criteria and accounting principles
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (ifrs) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (iasb) and ratified by the European Union. These financial state-
ments also conform to the directives issued enacting article 9 of Italian Legislative 
Decree no. 38/2005. The term, ifrs shall also refer to the revised International 
Accounting Standards (ias) and all interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (ifric) previously known as the Standard 
Interpretation Commitee (sic). These standards are analogous to those used for the 
financial statements at Dec. 31, 2007.

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the historical cost 
principle, except for derivative financial instruments, which are booked at their fair 
value, as well as in consideration of the company’s continuity.

2. FORM AND CONTENT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (ifrs) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (iasb) and ratified by the European Union and to this end the 
figures of financial statements of the consolidated companies have been reclassified 
and adjusted appropriately.

2.1 Form of the accounting financial statements
With regard to the form of consolidated accounting schedules, the Company opt-

ed to disclose the following accounting forms:
› Consolidated Balance Sheet
 The consolidated balance sheet is presented with separate disclosure of Assets, 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity. Assets and Liabilities are illustrated in the 
consolidated financial statements according to their classification as current 
and non-current.

› Consolidated Income Statement
 Items on the consolidated income statement are classified by their nature.



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

78

› Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
 The consolidated cash flow statement illustrates the changes in cash and cash 

equivalents (as per the balance sheet format) divided by operating area forming 
the cash flows in accordance with the “indirect method” as permitted by ias 7.

› Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
 The changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity are presented, as required 

by international accounting standards, with evidence of the result for the pe-
riod and all operating income and expenditure separate from other items not 
recorded in the income statement, but charged directly to consolidated share-
holders’ equity in accordance with specific ias / ifrs standards.

› Adaptation of formats following Consob Resolution 15519
 With reference to the reporting of related-party transactions in the financial 

statements, provided for in Consob Resolution 15519 of Jul. 27, 2006, there 
were no balances of a significant amount such as to require separate indication 
to facilitate understanding of the assets and liabilities, financial position and 
results of the Group. Complete details of these amounts are, however, provided 
in a specific table in paragraph 12 below, which deals with related-party trans-
actions.

 Non-recurring revenue and expenditure and/or revenue and expenditure as a 
result of atypical and/or unusual operations are entered in the Financial State-
ment, further details are provided in paragraph 5 below.

2.2 Content of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidation area
The Group consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of 

Carraro spa and of the companies in which it holds, directly or indirectly, the major-
ity of voting rights at the annual general meeting.

A subsidiary company is an entity in which the Group, directly or indirectly via 
its own subsidiaries, holds more than half of the voting rights, unless in exceptional 
cases where it can be clearly demonstrated that this ownership does not constitute 
control. Control is presumed when the parent company has half, or even less than 
half, of the votes that can be exercised at meetings of shareholders, if it has power 
over the following:

› more than half of the voting rights under an agreement with other investors;
› determining the financial and operating policies of the other entity under a 

clause of the articles of association or an agreement;
› appointing or removing the majority of the members of the Board of Directors 

or the equivalent corporate governance body, and control of the entity is held 
by that Board or body;

› casting the majority of votes at a meeting of the Board of Directors or the equiv-



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

79

alent corporate governance body, and control of the entity is held by that Board 
or body.

The following companies are consolidated using the line-by-line method:

Name Based in Currency Par value
Share capital

Group 
stake

Parent Company

Carraro Spa Campodarsego (PD) Euro 21,840,000

Italian subsidiaries

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Campodarsego (PD) Euro 50,758,291 100.00%

SIAP Spa Maniago (PN) Euro 10,122,616 73.82%

STM Srl Maniago (PN) Euro 1,549,080 36.91% *

A.E. Srl Castello d’Argile (BO) Euro 40,000 90.00%

Elettronica Santerno Spa Campodarsego (PD) Euro 2,500,000 67.00%

Gear World Spa Padua Euro 35,084,397 73.82%

Minigears Spa Padua Euro 5,000,000 73.82%

Foreign subsidiaries

Zao Santerno Moscow (Russia) RUB 100,000 67.00%

Eletronica Santerno Industria
e Comercio Ltda

Sao Paolo (Brazil) R$ 2,500,000 67.00%

Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil
de Sistemas Automotivos Ltda

Sao Paolo (Brazil) R$ 25,000 99.90%

Carraro Argentina Sa Haedo – Buenos Aires (Argentina) Pesos 77,327,617 99.95%

South America Gears Sa Haedo – Buenos Aires (Argentina) Pesos 27,768,888 73.79%

Carraro India Ltd. Rajangaon – Pune (India) Rupees 750,000,000 100.00%

Turbo Gears India Ltd. Rajangaon – Pune (India) Rupees 550,000,000 73.82%

Carraro Technologies India Pvt. Ltd. Bombay (India) Rupees 18,000,000 100.00%

Fon Sa Radomsko (Poland) Zloty 14,418,220 95.43%

Carraro International Sa Luxembourg Euro 39,318,000 100.00%

Carraro Finance Ltd Dublin (Ireland) Euro 100,000 100.00%

Carraro North America Inc. Virginia Beach – Virginia (USA) USD 1,000 100.00%

Carraro Deutschland GmbH Hattingen (Germany) Euro 10,507,048 100.00%

O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG Hattingen (Germany) Euro 2,045,168 100.00%

Carraro Qingdao Trading Co. Ltd Shandong (China) Euro 170,000 100.00%

Carraro China Drive System Co. Ltd. Shandong (China) USD 14,763,456 100.00%

Minigears Inc. Virginia Beach – Virginia (USA) USD 8,910,000 73.82%

Minigears North America LLC. Virginia Beach – Virginia (USA) USD 20,000 73.82%

Minigears Property LLC. Virginia Beach – Virginia (USA) USD 20,000 73.82%

Minigears (Shanghai) Trading Co. Shanghai (China) USD 200,000 73.82%

Minigears (Suzhou) Co Ltd. Jiangsu (China) USD 4,300,000 73.82%

* Indirect percentage deriving from the stake of the parent company in Siap Spa (73.82%) and of Siap Spa in Stm Srl. (50.0001%).
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Changes in the consolidation area
The following companies have been included in the consolidation area beginning 

in the current financial year:

Eletronica Santerno Industria e Comercio Ltda 
The company was incorporated on Mar. 27, 2007. During the period the process 

of registration with the competent authorities was completed and the company be-
gan operations.

Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil de Sistemas Automotivos Ltda
The company was incorporated on Jun. 20, 2008 and during the course of the pe-

riod commenced marketing operations of Carraro products in the South American 
market.

Carraro North America Inc. (Virginia Beach)
The company was incorporated on Nov. 21, 2007 and began operations during 

the 2008 period.

South America Gears sa and Carraro Argentina sa
On Feb. 13, 2008 the deed of division and reduction of the capital of Carraro 

Argentina sa and of incorporation of South America Gears sa was registered at the 
Provincial Directorate of Legal Persons of Buenos Aires (Argentina).

Carraro Drive Tech spa
On Jun. 4, 2008, under the corporate reorganisation process previously described, 

Carraro spa incorporated Carraro Drive Tech spa with a share capital of 120,000 
euro.

On Jun. 27, 2008 the extraordinary general meeting approved a share capital in-
crease of 11,205,389 euro, with effect from Jul. 1, 2008, subscribed by the following:

› Carraro spa, via the conferment, starting from Jul. 1, 2008, of a company divi-
sion including the equity interests in the companies A.E. srl and Carraro Ar-
gentina sa;

› Carraro International sa, by conferment, starting from Jul. 1, 2008, of the equity 
interests in the companies Fon sa, Carraro Qingdao Drive Systems Co. Ltd., 
Carraro Qingdao Trading Co. Ltd. and Carraro China Drive System Co. Ltd.

On Sep. 26, 2008 the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders deliberated 
to increase the share capital from 11,205,389 euro to 50,758,291 euro, subscribed by 
the following:

› Carraro spa, via the conferment of the equity interest in the company Carraro 
India Ltd;

› Carraro International sa, via the conferment of a cash amount.
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Minigears spa and MG Holding spa
With a deed dated Apr. 2, 2008, the company Minigears spa was merged by in-

corporation into MG Holding spa. The general meeting then resolved to change the 
name of the company to Minigears spa.

Carraro China Drive Systems Co. Ltd. and Carraro Qingdao Drive System Co. Ltd 
A merger was completed between the two companies on Oct. 14, 2008. 

Carraro North America Inc. (Calhoun, Georgia)
The company was placed in liquidation during the course of the accounting peri-

od. The deed of dissolution was deposited with the Department of Business Services 
in Springfield (Illinois) on Nov. 25, 2008.

The liquidation of Carraro Korea Ltd. was brought to completion during the period; 
on Mar. 11, 2008 the company was cancelled from the register of foreign investments. 
The following equity interests have been excluded from the consolidation area:

Name Parent
company

Based in Currency Par value
Share capital

Percentage 
stake

Carraro PNH
Components India Ltd.

Carraro India Ltd. Bombay (India) Rupees 10,000,200 99.998%

Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. is a non-operational company, whose only 
assets consist of land for industrial development and the decision not to consolidate 
is not considered significant in presenting the accounts.

3. REPORTING CRITERIA AND ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
3.1 Consolidation criteria
The figures are consolidated using the line by line method, that is assuming the 

entire amount of the assets, liabilities, costs and earnings of the individual compa-
nies, regardless of the stock held in the company.

The foreign companies are consolidated using financial statement layouts in line 
with the layout adopted by the parent company and compiled in accordance with 
common accounting standards, as applied for Carraro spa. Where necessary, to 
achieve alignment with the closing dates of the foreign companies, infra-annual 
financial statements have been provided by the administrators, having the same 
criteria as those used for the year-end.

The book value of the consolidated equity interests, held by Carraro spa or by 
other companies within the consolidation area, was offset by the relative amount of 
shareholders’ equity in the subsidiary company. The amount of shareholders’ equity 
and the net result of these third-party shareholders were shown in the consolidated 
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Balance Sheet and the Income Statement respectively. The entries of debits and 
credits, all income and expenditure items and all operations undertaken between 
the companies included within the consolidation area have not been shown, includ-
ing dividends distributed within the Group. Furthermore all profits not yet realised 
and capital gains and losses deriving from operations between companies of the 
Group have also not been shown. Infragroup losses that indicate a reduction of 
value are recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

The balances in foreign currencies have been converted into euro using the ex-
change rate of the end of the period for assets and liabilities, historical exchange 
rates for entries into shareholders’ equity and average exchange rates for the period 
for the income statement. The exchange rate differences resulting from this conver-
sion method are shown in a specific entry in shareholders’ equity called Conversion 
translation reserve.

The exchange rates applied for the translation of the accounts presented in for-
eign currencies were as follows:

Currency Average exchange 
rate 2008

Exchange rate at 
31/12/2008

Indian Rupee 63.7342371 67.63600

Polish Zloty 3.5120988 4.15350

US Dollar 1.4707554 1.39170

Chinese Renminbi 10.2236132 9.49560

Argentine Peso 4.6392785 4.80444

Russian Ruble 36.3035285 41.28300

Brazilian Real 2.6737257 3.24360

3.2 Discretional evaluations and relevant accounting estimates
Estimates and hypotheses
In applying the Group accounting standards, the administrators did not take 

decisions based on discretional evaluations (excluding those that encompass esti-
mates) having a significant effect on the value as entered on the financial statements 
apart from those indicated in this section Accounting standards and measurement 
criteria, with reference to the acquisition of equity interests after gaining control.

The key hypotheses are given below concerning the future and other sources of 
uncertainty in the estimates related to the closing of the financial statements, which 
could bring about significant changes in the book values of assets and liabilities 
within the next fiscal year.

Loss of value on goodwill
Goodwill is examined for any impairment at least annually. This verification re-

quires an estimate of the value in use of a cash generating unit designated as good-
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will, which in turn is based on an estimate of the anticipated cash flows from the 
unit and its discounting based on an appropriate rate. The book value of goodwill 
stood at 60.47 mln euro as at Dec. 31, 2008 (2007: 57.41 mln euro). Further infor-
mation is provided in note 7.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are shown in compliance with ias 12 and they include fis-

cal losses carried forward, in the measure that it is likely there will be future fiscal 
profits to offset these losses with the returns of the temporary differences absorbed. 
A significant discretional evaluation is required of the company administrators to 
determine the amount of the deferred tax assets that can be accounted for. They 
must estimate the probable timing and the amount of future taxable profits as well 
as a planning strategy for future taxation. The book value of the deferred tax assets 
entered as at Dec. 31, 2008 is 22.14 mln euro (2007: 12.971 mln euro) while the fis-
cal losses against which it was not considered appropriate to enter deferred assets 
as at Dec. 31, 2008 amount to 4.04 mln euro (2007: 7.24 mln euro) having a fiscal 
effect of 1.29 mln euro. Further information is provided in note 11.

Employee severance indemnity provision and other post employment benefits 
The cost of defined-benefit plans is determined using actuarial valuations. The 

actuarial valuation requires hypothetical discount rates, future salary increments, 
mortality rates, future pay increases and future pension increases. Because of the 
long-term nature of these plans, these estimates are subject to a significant level of 
uncertainty. The net liability to employees as at Dec. 31, 2008 stands at 23.64 mln 
euro (25.34 mln euro in 2007). Further information is provided in note 19.

Development costs
Development costs have been capitalised based on the following accounting prin-

ciple. In order to determine the values to be capitalised the company administrators 
must use hypothetical anticipated future cash flows from assets, discount rates to 
apply and the period of the anticipated benefits. As at Dec. 31, 2008, the best es-
timate for the book value of the capitalised development costs was 2.226 mln euro 
(2007: 2.783 mln euro) (see note 7).

Provision for risk and charges
The Group made estimates for the valuation of the provision for credit risk, guar-

antees granted to customers, stock depreciation and for other risks and charges. 
Further details are provided in the notes relating to the individual financial state-
ment entries.
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3.3 Accounting standards and measurement criteria
The accounting standards and measurement criteria are in line with those ad-

opted for the preparation of the annual financial statements at Dec. 31, 2007, 
with the exception of the adoption of the following ifrs, both new and amended, 
and the following new or amended ifric interpretations. The implementation of 
these amended standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the Group 
Financial Statements. 

› ifric 11 – Group Treasury shares transactions 
› ifric 12 – Service concession agreements
› ifric 14 – Defined-benefit assets and minimum hedging criteria
› Amendments to ias 39 and ifrs 7 – Reclassification of financial assets
The primary effects of these changes are as follows:
› ifric 11 group treasury shares transactions 
 Not applicable to the Group.
› ifric 12 service concession agreements
 Not applicable to the Group.
› ifric 14 defined benefit assets and minimum hedging criteria
 Not applicable to the Group.
› amendments to ias 39 and ifrs 7 reclassification of financial assets
 This amendment allows for the reclassification, in specific circumstances, of 

certain financial assets other than derivatives, from the accounting category to 
be valued at fair value in the income statement.

 The amendment also provides for the possibility of transferring loans and cred-
its from the accounting category “available for sale” to the category “held until 
maturity” in the event the company has the intention and capacity of holding 
such instruments for a specific future period.

 The amendment would have been applicable from Jul. 1, 2008, however its 
adoption had no effect on the financial statements, as the company put none of 
the reclassifications permitted by it into effect.

Business combinations and goodwill 
Business combinations are posted according to the purchase method. This re-

quires the posting, at equal value, of recognizable assets (including intangible assets 
previously not recognized) and recognizable liabilities (including potential liabili-
ties and excluding future restructuring) of the acquired company.

The goodwill acquired through company merger is initially calculated at the cost 
represented by the merger cost surplus with respect to the share attributable to 
the Group of the net fair value of assets liabilities and potential liabilities (of the 
acquired company).

In order to analyse appropriateness, goodwill acquired in a merger is allocated 
at the date of acquisition, to the individual cash generating units of the Group or 
to groups of cash generating units, which would benefit from the synergies of the 
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merger, regardless of the fact that other Group assets or liabilities are allocated to 
such units or groups of units.

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:
› Represents the lowest level, within the Group, at which the goodwill is moni-

tored for internal management purposes;
› Is no larger than the business segments identified on the basis of the Group's 

primary or secondary schedule of presentation of the segment reporting, deter-
mined on the basis of the indications of ias 14 – Segment reporting.

When the goodwill represents part of a cash generating unit (group of cash gen-
erating units) and part of that unit internal asset is transferred, the goodwill associ-
ated with the transfer is included in the asset book value in order to calculate profit 
or loss generated by the transfer. Goodwill transferred in such cases is calculated 
on the basis of the values relative to the assets transferred and portion of the unit 
maintained in existence.

When the transfer concerns a subsidiary company, the difference between trans-
fer price and net equity and non-amortised goodwill is posted in the income state-
ment.

Acquisitions of additional equity interests
after achieving control
Ifrs 3 applies only to transactions that involve the acquisition of control by a 

purchasing entity of the business operations of the company acquired. Therefore, 
acquisitions of additional equity interests after having gained control are not spe-
cifically disciplined by ifrs 3. 

In the absence of an accounting method specified by ias / ifrs, ias 8, paragraph 
10 et seq states that the Management should use its own discretion in establishing 
and applying an appropriate and reliable accounting method.

The following has been taken into consideration:
› The fact that the theory of the Parent company approach requires, for transac-

tions that gain control, recognition as goodwill of the positive difference be-
tween the cost sustained by the purchaser and the resulting net value of the 
stock held of the assets and liabilities distinctly identifiable as belonging to the 
acquired company valued at fair value (current value) on the acquisition date;

› The specific limitation of ifrs 3 for the further revaluation of the assets and li-
abilities of the subsidiary company subsequent to the date of acquisition.

In acquiring additional minority stock the goodwill is defined as the difference 
between the price paid and the book value of the minority. This method is applied 
to all acquisitions of additional stock after having gained control.

Ias 27 does not discipline the accounting treatment of transfers of shareholdings 
that do not bring about the loss of control. In line with the approach described above 
for the acquisition of minority interests, the profit or the loss through the transfer of 
the shares is entered in the income statement. 
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The accounting standards and measurement criteria are illustrated below for the 
more significant items.

Tangible fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historic cost, less the related accu-

mulated depreciation and cumulative losses in value. This cost includes the costs for 
replacing equipment parts and plant at the time they are incurred where compliant 
with the reporting standards. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis 
with reference to the estimated useful life of the assets. The book value of plant and 
equipment is subject to assessment so as to detect any losses in value when events 
or changes dictate that the book value might not be recoverable. 

Tangible assets are eliminated from the financial statements at the time of sale or 
once future economic benefits expected from their use or disposal no longer apply. 
Any losses or gains (calculated as the difference between the net income on the sale 
and the book value) are included in the income statement during the year of the 
aforementioned elimination. 

The asset’s residual value, its useful life and the methods applied are reviewed an-
nually and adjusted if necessary, at the end of each accounting period.

The depreciation is calculated, on a straight-line basis, on the cost of the asset net 
of the related residual value, in relation to their estimated useful life, by applying the 
following rates to newly-acquired assets:

CATEGORY % 

Industrial land –

Industrial buildings 2 – 5

Plant 4 – 5 

Equipment 5.56 – 6.67

Equipment 6.67 – 25

Dies and moulds 12.50

Furniture and furnishings 6.67

Office equipment 12.50 – 20

Vehicles 6.67 – 12.50

Land is not subject to depreciation. Assets held in relation to financial lease agree-
ments are depreciated on the basis of the estimated useful life, in a way consistent 
with owned assets.

Real estate investments
Real estate investments are stated at historic cost, less the related accumulated 

depreciation and cumulative losses in value.
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Intangible fixed assets
Intangible assets are shown in the accounts only if they can be identified, checked 

and it is expected that they will generate future economic benefits and their cost can 
be reliably determined.

Intangible fixed assets, having a specific duration, are stated at purchase or pro-
duction cost net of amortisation and accumulated losses in value. Amortisation is 
driven by the period of their anticipated useful life and starts when the asset is avail-
able for use.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the surplus of the purchase cost over the purchaser’s stake-

holding at fair value referred to the net identifiable asset or liability values of the 
entity acquired.

After the initial entry, the goodwill is stated at a cost, less any cumulative losses 
in value.

Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test, to identify any permanent de-
crease in its value. In order to perform a correct fair value analysis, the goodwill is 
allocated to each of the cash generating units that will benefit from the effects deriv-
ing from the acquisition.

Research and development costs
The costs of research are charged to the income statement when incurred, in ac-

cordance with ias 38.
Again in compliance with ias 38, development costs relating to specific projects 

are recorded among the assets only if all the following conditions are fulfilled:
› the asset can be identified;
› it is probable that the asset created will generate future financial benefits;
› the costs of the development of the asset can be reliably measured.
These intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their relative 

useful lives.

Trademarks and licences
Trademarks and licences are stated at cost, net of amortisation and accumulated 

losses in value. The cost is amortised over the shorter of the duration of the contract 
and the defined useful life.

Software
The cost of software licences, inclusive of related charges, are capitalised and re-

corded in the financial statements net of amortisation and any accumulated losses 
in value. These intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
relative useful lives.
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Decreases in value (Impairment)
Where there are specific signs of decreases in value, tangible and intangible fixed 

assets are subject to an impairment test, estimating the recoverable value of the as-
sets and comparing it with the relative net book value. The recoverable value is the 
greater of the fair value of an asset net of sales costs and its value in use, which is 
determined as the current value of the cash flows that the company estimates will 
derive from the continuous use of the asset and from its disposal at the end of its 
useful life. This recoverable value is determined for each individual asset except 
when this asset does not generate financial flows which are fully independent from 
those generated by other assets.

If the recoverable value is lower than the book value, it is reduced accordingly. This 
reduction represents a decrease in value, which is charged to the income statement.

If there is no longer any reason for a write-down previously booked to be main-
tained, the book value is reinstated to the new value deriving from the estimate, 
with the restriction that this value does not exceed the net book value which the 
asset would have had, if no write-down had ever been made. The write-back value is 
also recorded in the income statement.

The impairment test is carried out annually in the event of intangible fixed assets 
having an unspecified useful life and intangible assets being in progress.

Equity investments in associated companies
An associated company is an entity over which the Group is able to exercise sig-

nificant influence, but does not have control or joint control, via the equity invest-
ment, over the financial and operating policies of the investee company.

The results and the assets and liabilities of associated companies are shown on 
the consolidated financial statements using the net equity method, with the excep-
tion of cases that are classified as held for sale.

Equity investments in other companies and other securities
In accordance with the issues envisaged by standards ias 39 and 32, equity invest-

ments in companies other than subsidiary and associated companies are classified 
as financial assets available for sale and are valued at fair value except in cases where 
it is not possible to determine the market price or the fair value. In such cases the 
cost method is adopted.

Gains and losses deriving from the value adjustments are classified in a specific 
shareholders’ equity reserve. In the presence of permanent losses in value or in the 
event of a sale, the gains and losses recorded up until that moment under sharehold-
ers’ equity are recorded in the income statement.

Financial assets
ias 39 defines the following types of financial instrument: financial assets at fair 

value with charges booked to the income statement, loans and receivables, invest-
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ments held until maturity and assets available for sale. Initially, all the financial as-
sets are recorded at fair value, increased by any related charges in the event of assets 
other than those at fair value in the income statement. The Group establishes the 
classification of its financial assets after the initial registration and, where appropri-
ate and permitted, revises the classification at the end of each accounting period.

All standardised purchases and sales (regular way) of financial assets are record-
ed at the date of the transaction, or the date on which the Group undertakes to ac-
quire the asset. By standardised purchases and sales, we mean all the purchase/sale 
transactions on financial assets which require the handing over of the assets in the 
period generally envisaged by the regulations and by the practices of the market on 
which is traded.

Financial assets at fair value with changes booked to the income statement
This category includes the financial assets held for dealing purposes, or all the 

assets acquired for the purpose of sale over the short term. The derivatives are clas-
sified as financial instruments held for dealing purposes unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments, in which case their accounting treatment is de-
scribed in the paragraph, Derivative financial instruments and hedging transac-
tions, below. Gains or losses on assets held for dealing purposes are recorded in the 
income statement.

Investments held to maturity
Financial assets which are not derivative instruments and which are character-

ised by payments or fixed or determinable maturities are classified as “investments 
held to maturity” when the Group has the intention and the capacity to maintain 
them in the portfolio until maturity. The financial assets that the Group decides to 
keep in the portfolio for an indefinite period do not fall within this category. Other 
long-term financial investments which are held to maturity, such as bonds, are 
subsequently valued using the amortised cost method. This cost is calculated as the 
value initially recorded, less the repayment of the capital instruments, plus or less 
the amortisation accumulated using the effective interest rate method on any dif-
ference between the value initially recorded and the amount at maturity. This calcu-
lation includes the commission or points paid between the parties, which form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, the transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts. Gains and losses concerning investments valued at amortised cost are 
recorded on the income statement at the same time the investment is eliminated 
from the books or in the event of a decrease in value, as well as by means of the am-
ortisation process.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determin-

able payments which are not listed on an active market. These assets are stated on 
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the basis of amortised cost using the effective discount rate.
The gains and losses are recorded in the income statement when the loans and 

receivables are eliminated from the books or on seeing losses of value, as well as by 
means of the amortisation process.

Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale are those financial assets, excluding derivative 

instruments, which are designated as such or are not classified in any of the other 
three previous categories. After the initial statement at cost, the financial assets held 
for sale are valued at fair value and the gains and losses are recorded in a separate 
shareholders’ equity item until the assets have been eliminated from the books or 
until it is assessed they have undergone a loss in value. The gains and losses accu-
mulated up to that moment under the shareholders’ equity are then charged to the 
income statement. 

In the case of securities widely traded on organised markets, the fair value is 
determined by making reference to the stock market listing struck at the end of 
trading as of the year end date. In relation to investments which do not have an ac-
tive market, the fair value is determined by means of valuation techniques based on 
prices of recent transactions between independent parties, the current market value 
of an essentially similar instrument, the analysis of the discounted back financial 
flows and pricing models of the options.

Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of the average purchase or production cost for the 

period, and market value. Production cost includes materials, labour and direct and 
indirect manufacturing costs. Obsolete or slow-moving stocks are written down ap-
propriately, as well as in consideration of their anticipated future use and their re-
alisation value.

Trade receivables and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at estimated realisable value, with the ex-

ception of those falling due greater than 12 months following the date of the finan-
cial statements, which are classified in non-current assets. These assets are valued 
at a cost depreciated using the effective interest rate method. 

Receivables having maturities greater than one year, are unrecoverable or that 
earn less interest than the market, are discounted using market rates. Trade receiv-
ables are discounted where they have greater repayment terms than the average 
granted extension term. 

If there is objective evidence of elements that indicate reductions of value, the 
asset is reduced by an amount that returns the discounted value of flows of cash 
obtainable in the future. The losses of value are entered on the income statement. 
Where reasons for previous write-downs are not maintained into subsequent trad-
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ing periods, the value of the asset is reinstated until it corresponds to the value that 
would have derived from the application of the amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash deposits and invest-

ments maturing within three months of the original date of acquisition.

Loans and bonds
Loans are initially stated at the cost represented by the fair value of the balance 

received net of the related loan acquisition costs. After the initial statement, the 
loans are stated on the basis of amortised cost calculated by means of the applica-
tion of the effective interest rate. The amortised cost is calculated taking into ac-
count the issue costs and any discounts or premium expected at the time of settle-
ment.

Derecognising financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset or parts of a group of 

similar financial assets) is cancelled from the financial statements when:
› the right to receive the financial flows from the assets have been discharged;
› the Company maintains the right to receive financial flows from the asset, but 

has undertaken a contractual commitment to pay them in full and without de-
lay to a third party; 

› the Group has transferred the rights to receive financial flows from the assets 
and (a) has essentially transferred all the risks and benefits of the ownership 
of the financial assets or (b) has not transferred or essentially withheld all the 
risks and benefits of the assets, but has transferred control of the same.

In the cases where the Group has transferred the rights to receive financial flows 
from an asset and has not essentially transferred or withheld all the risks and ben-
efits or has not lost control over the same, the asset is recorded in the Group’s finan-
cial statements in the measure of its residual involvement in this asset. The residual 
involvement, which takes the form of a guarantee on the asset transferred, is valued 
at the lower of the initial book value of the asset and the maximum amount which 
the Group could be obliged to pay over. 

In the cases where the residual involvement takes on the form of an option issued 
and/or acquired on the asset transferred (including the options settled in cash or 
similar), the extent of the Group’s involvement corresponds to the amount of the 
assets transferred which the company could re-acquire; nevertheless, in the case of 
a put option issued on an asset gauged at fair value (including the options settled in 
cash or by means of similar provisions), the extent of the Group’s residual involve-
ment is limited to the lower amount of the fair value of the transferred asset and the 
exercising price of this option.
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Financial liabilities
A financial liability is cancelled from the financial statements when the underly-

ing obligation is discharged, cancelled or fulfilled.
In the cases where existing financial liability is replaced by another by the same 

lender, under essentially different conditions, or the conditions of an existing liabil-
ity are essentially changed, this change or amendment is treated as a cancellation 
from the books of the original liability and the recording of a new liability. Any dif-
ferences between the book values are booked to the income statement.

Losses in value on financial assets
The Group assesses whether a financial asset or group of financial assets has un-

dergone a loss in value at the end of each accounting period.

Assets valued on the basis of amortised cost
If objective evidence that a loan or receivable recorded at amortised cost has suf-

fered a loss in value, the amount of the loss is gauged as the difference between the 
book value of the asset and the current value of the estimated future financial flows 
(excluding future receivable losses not yet incurred) discounted to the original effec-
tive interest rate of the financial asset (or rather the effective interest rate calculated 
at the initial registration date). The book value of the asset is reduced both directly 
and via the use of a provision. The amount of the loss will be booked to the income 
statement.

The Group firstly assesses the existence of objective evidence of a loss in value at 
an individual level, for the financial assets which are individually significant, and 
therefore at an individual or a collective level for the financial assets which are not. 
In the absence of objective evidence of a loss in value for financial assets valued 
individually, whether it is significant or otherwise, this asset is included with this 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk features and this group is subject 
to assessment for value loss in a collective manner. The assets valued at individual 
level, for which a loss in value is seen or continues to be seen, will not be included in 
collective valuation.

If, in a subsequent accounting period, the extent of a loss in value decreases and 
this reduction can be objectively traced back to an event which took place after 
the loss in value was seen, the value previously written down is reinstated. Any 
subsequent write-back values are recorded in the income statement, to the extent 
that the book value of the asset does not exceed the amortised cost at the date of 
the write-back.

Assets stated at cost 
If objective evidence exists of the loss in value of an unlisted instrument represen-

tative of capital which is not recorded at fair value because its fair value cannot be 
measured reliably, or of a derivative instrument which is linked to this participative 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

93

instrument and must be settled by means of the consignment of this instrument, the 
amount of the loss due to reduction in value is given as the difference between the 
book value of the asset and the current value of expected future financial flows and 
discounted at the current market rate for a similar financial asset.

Financial assets available for sale 
In the event of the loss in value of a financial asset available for sale, a value equal 

to the difference between its cost (net of the repayment of the capital and the amor-
tisation) and its current fair value, net of any losses in value previously recorded in 
the income statement, is transferred from shareholders’ equity to the income state-
ment. The value write-backs relating to instruments participating in capital classi-
fied as available for sale, are not recorded in the income statement. The write-back 
values relating to debt instruments are recorded in the income statement if the in-
crease in the fair value of the instrument can be objectively traced back to an event 
which took place after the loss was booked to the income statement. 

Allowances and provisions
Provision for risk and charges
Provision for risk and charges are made when the Group must meet a current ob-

ligation (legal or implicit) deriving from a past event. A sacrifice of resources is likely 
in order to deal with this obligation and it is possible to make a reliable estimate 
of its extent. When the Group considers that a provision for risk and charges will 
be partly or fully reimbursed, for example in the case of risks covered by insurance 
policies, the indemnity is recorded separately among the assets if, and only if, it is 
practically certain. In this case, the cost of the possible related provisions, net of the 
amount recorded for the indemnity, is presented in the income statement. If the ef-
fect of discounting back the value of the money is significant, the provisions are dis-
counted back using the pre-tax discount rate which reflects, where appropriate, the 
specific risks of the liabilities. When the discounting back is carried out, the increase 
of the provision due to the passage of time is recorded as a financial expense.

Employee and similar benefits
According to ias 19, employee benefits to be paid out subsequent to the termi-

nation of the employment relationship and other long-term benefits (including 
Employee Severance Indemnity) are subjected to actuarial valuation which have 
to take into account a series of variables (such as mortality, the provisions of future 
salary changes, the anticipated rate of inflation, etc). 

Following this method, the liability recorded in the financial statement emerges 
as being representative of the current value of the obligation, net of any assets serv-
ing the plans, adjusted for any actuarial losses or gains not recorded in the accounts. 
The actuarial losses and gains are recorded directly in the income statement, with-
out taking advantage of the corridor approach.
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Revenue recognition
Sales of goods are recorded when the goods are shipped and the company has 

transferred the significant benefits and risks associated with the ownership of the 
goods to the purchaser.

Revenues for services are stated with reference to the stage of completion.
Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis, with reference to the amount 

financed and the effective interest rate applicable, which represents the rate that 
discounts future collections estimated over the expected life of the financial asset so 
as to take them back to the book value of this asset.

Revenue from dividends are recorded when the right to collection arises, which 
normally corresponds to the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting approving the 
distribution of the dividends. The dividends distributed are recognised as payable at 
the time of the distribution resolution.

Public grants
Public grants are recorded when reasonable certainty exists that they will be re-

ceived and all the related conditions are satisfied. When the grants are associated 
with cost elements, they are recorded as revenue, but they are systematically spread 
over the accounting periods so that they are commensurate with the costs they in-
tend to offset. In the event that the grant is linked to an asset, the fair value is sus-
pended from the long-term liabilities and the release to the income statement takes 
place progressively over the expected useful life of the asset concerned on a straight-
line basis.

Financing charges
Financial charges are indicated on the income statement on an accrual basis us-

ing the effective interest rate.

Taxation
Taxation for the year represents the sum total of the current and deferred taxes.

Current taxes
Current income taxes have been provided for on the basis of an estimate of the 

taxable income for the consolidated companies, in accordance with the provisions 
issued or essentially issued at the balance sheet date and taking any applicable ex-
emptions into account.

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the taxable timing differences exist-

ing between the book value of assets and liabilities and their value for tax purposes; 
they are classified under non-current assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets are provided for only to the extent future tax burdens will 
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probably exist, against which this asset balance can be used.
The value of the deferred tax assets which can be recorded in the financial state-

ment is subject to an annual assessment and is written down to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient income for tax purposes will be available in the 
future so as to permit all part of this credit to be used. Unrecognized deferred tax 
assets are reviewed annually at the balance sheet date and are recorded to the extent 
that it has become probable that income for tax purposes is sufficient for permitting 
these deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined with reference to tax rates 
which are expected to be applied in the period in which these deferments will be 
realised, taking into account the rates in force or those about which subsequent is-
sue is known of.

Income taxes relating to items recorded directly under shareholders’ equity are 
charged directly against shareholders’ equity and not to the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legal right exists to offset the as-
sets of the current taxes with liabilities for current taxes and the deferred taxes refer 
to the same fiscal entity and the same tax authority.

Value-added tax
Revenue, costs and assets are stated net of value-added tax, except in the follow-

ing cases: 
› the tax applied to the purchase of goods or services emerges as non-deductible, 

in which case it is stated as part of the purchase cost of the asset or part of the 
cost item recorded in the income statement; 

› when it refers to trade receivables and payables recorded including the value of 
the tax.

Earnings per share
The basic earning per share is calculated by dividing the net income for the peri-

od attributable to the shareholders holding ordinary shares of the Parent Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period. 
The diluted earning per share is obtained by means of the adjustment of the weight-
ed average of the shares in circulation, so as to take into account all the potential 
ordinary shares with diluting effects.

Translation of foreign currency balances
Reporting currency
The companies of the Group provide their financial statements in the currency 

used in the individual country. The Group’s reporting currency is the euro, which 
represents the currency in which the separate financial statements are drawn up 
and published.
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Accounting transactions and entries
Transactions carried out in a foreign currency are initially recorded using the ex-

change rates prevailing at the transaction date. At the year end date, the monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are re-translated on the ba-
sis of the exchange rate in force at that date. Non-monetary foreign currency items 
valued at historic cost are translated using the exchange rate in force at the date of 
the transaction. Non-monetary items stated at fair value are translated using the 
exchange rate in force at the date of the determination of the value.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions
The Carraro Group’s financial risk management strategy conforms to the com-

pany objectives set out in the policies approved by the Board of Directors of Carraro 
spa. In particular, it aims to minimize interest rate and exchange rate risk and op-
timize the cost of debt.

These risks are managed in accordance with the principles of prudence and mar-
ket best practices and all risk management transactions are centrally managed.

The main objectives indicated by the policy are as follows:

a. exchange-rate risks:
1.  Hedging all commercial and financial transactions against the risk of fluctua-

tion. 
2. Applying the “currency balancing” method to hedging the risk, where possible, 

favouring the offsetting of revenues and expenses and payables and receivables 
in foreign currencies in order to engage in hedging solely for the excess balance 
not offset.

3. Not permitting the use and ownership of derivatives or similar instruments for 
mere trading purposes.

4. Only permitting the use of instruments traded on regulated markets for hedg-
ing transactions.

b. interest-rate risks:
1.  Hedging financial assets and liabilities against the risk of changes in interest 

rates.
2. In hedging against the risk, complying with the general criteria for balancing 

lending and borrowing rates set at the Group level by the Board of Directors of 
Carraro spa when it approves long-term plans and budgets (fixed and floating 
interest rates, short-term and medium/long-term shares).

3. Only permitting the use of instruments traded on regulated markets for hedg-
ing transactions.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency agree-
ments and swaps on interest rates to hedge the risks deriving mainly from fluc-
tuations in interest and exchange rates. These derivative financial instruments are 
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initially stated at their value at the date they were entered into; this fair value is 
periodically reviewed. They are recorded as assets when the fair value is positive and 
as liabilities when it is negative.

Any gains or losses emerging from the changes in the fair value of derivatives not 
suitable for hedge accounting are charged directly to the income statement during 
the accounting period. The fair value of forward currency agreements is determined 
with reference to the current forward exchange rates for contracts with a similar 
maturity profile. The fair value of the swap agreements on interest rates is deter-
mined with reference to the market value for similar instruments. The fair value of 
swap agreements on interest rates is determined with reference to the market value 
for similar instruments.

For hedge accounting purposes, the hedges are classified as: 
› fair value hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the fair value of an underly-

ing asset or liability; 
› cash flow hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the financial flows deriving 

from existing assets and liabilities or from future transactions; 
› hedges of a net investment in a foreign entity (net investment hedge).

A hedging transaction covering the exchange-rate risk relating to an irrevocable 
commitment is recorded as a hedge of financial flows.

When implementing a hedging transaction, the Group formally fixes and docu-
ments the hedging relationship to which it is intended to apply the hedge account-
ing, its objectives when handling the risk and the strategy pursued. The documen-
tation identifies the hedging instrument, the element or the transaction subject 
to the hedge, the nature of the risk and the methods by means of which the entity 
intends to assess the effectiveness of hedging by compensating the exposure to the 
changes in the fair value of the element hedged or the financial flows attributable to 
the hedged risk. 

These hedges are expected to be highly effective in compensating the exposure of 
the element hedged to changes in the fair value or of the financial flows attributable 
to the hedged risk. The assessment of whether these changes have effectively shown 
themselves to be highly effective is carried out on an ongoing basis during the ac-
counting period in which they were designated. The transactions which satisfy the 
criteria for hedge accounting are stated as follows.

Fair value hedges
The Group resorts to transactions hedging the fair value against exposure to 

changes in the fair value of balance sheet assets and liabilities or of an off-balance 
sheet irrevocable commitment, as well as an identified part of said assets, liabilities 
or irrevocable commitment, attributable to a particular risk, which could have an 
impact on the income statement. As far as fair value hedges are concerned, the book 
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value of the element being hedged is adjusted to reflect the gains and losses attribut-
able to the risk subject to the hedge, the derivative instrument is re-determined at 
fair value and the gains and losses of both are booked to the income statement.

With regard to fair value hedges referring to elements recorded on the basis of 
amortised cost, the adjustment of the book value is amortised in the income state-
ment over the period lacking until maturity. Any adjustments to the book value of 
the hedged financial instrument to which the effective interest rate method is ap-
plied are amortised in the income statement.

The amortisation can start just as soon as an adjustment exists but not beyond 
the date when the hedged element ceases to be adjusted due to the changes in its fair 
value attributable to the hedged risk.

When an unrecorded irrevocable commitment is designated as an element sub-
ject to hedge, and subsequent cumulative changes in its fair value attributable to 
the hedged risk are recorded as assets or liabilities and the corresponding gains and 
losses are booked to the income statement. The changes in the fair value of a hedg-
ing instrument are also booked to the income statement. 

An instrument is no longer recorded as a fair value hedging contract when it 
matures or is sold, discharged or exercised, when the hedge no longer meets the re-
quirements for hedge accounting purposes, or when the Group revokes the designa-
tion. Any adjustments to the book value of the hedged financial instrument to which 
the effective interest rate method is applied are amortised in the income statement. 
The amortisation can start just as soon as an adjustment exists but not beyond the 
date when the hedged element ceases to be adjusted due to the changes in its fair 
value attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are transactions hedging the risk of fluctuations in financial 

flows attributable to a specific risk, associated with a recorded asset or a liability 
or with a highly probable future transaction which could influence the financial 
outcome. The gains or losses deriving from the hedging instrument are booked to 
shareholders’ equity for the efficient part, while the remaining part (not efficient) is 
booked to the income statement. 

The gain or loss booked to the shareholders’ equity is reclassified in the income 
statement during the period when the transaction being hedged influences the in-
come statement (for example, when the financial income or expense is recorded or 
when an anticipated sale or purchase takes place). When the element being hedged 
is the cost of a non-financial asset or a liability, the amounts booked to the share-
holders’ equity are transferred to the initial book value of the asset or liability.

If the transaction is expected not to take place, the amounts initially booked to 
the shareholders’ equity are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging 
instrument matures or is sold, cancelled or exercised without being replaced, or if 
its designation as a hedge is revoked, the amounts previously charged to the share-
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holders’ equity remain recorded therein until the expected transaction takes place. 
If it is believed that this will no longer take place, the amounts are transferred to the 
income statement.

Hedging of a net investment in a foreign body
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign body, including hedges of a monetary 

item recorded as part of a net investment, are recorded on a similar basis to the 
hedges of financial flows. The gains or losses deriving from the hedging instrument 
are booked directly to shareholders’ equity for the efficient part, while the remain-
ing part (not efficient) is booked to the income statement. On disposal of the foreign 
assets, the cumulative value of these gains or losses booked to shareholders’ equity is 
transferred to the income statement. 

Credit risk
The Group includes among its customers leading international manufacturers 

of agricultural machinery, construction equipment vehicles, industrial vehicles and 
light tools. The concentration of the risk is associated with the size of these custom-
ers, which on a global context is, on average, high, yet balanced by the fact that the 
credit exposure is distributed across a complex network of counterparties who are 
active in diverse geographical areas. 

The management of credit is designed to prioritise the acquisition of customers of 
national and international standing for superannual supplies. Generally speaking, 
these relationships are governed by ad hoc supply contracts. Credit control requires 
periodic monitoring of the main financial and economic data (including the delivery 
schedules) relating to the customer.

Except in special circumstances to do with country or counterparty risk, guaran-
tees are not normally obtained on the credit. The credits are recorded on the finan-
cial statements net of any write-downs determined by assessing the counterparty’s 
risk of insolvency based on the information available. 

Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk is mainly linked to the activation and maintenance of 

sufficient funding to support the industrial activity. 
The raising of funds, consistent with the short and medium-term development 

plans of the Group, is intended to finance both the working capital, with particular 
regard to the supplies held in store which supply the manufacturing process, and in-
vestments in fixed assets necessary to ensure sufficient production capacity in sup-
port of growth. This requirement is in direct proportion to the dynamic of customer 
orders and consequent increase in volumes of activity.

The Group’s funding strategy is normally designed to increase medium-term pro-
vision, including for the benefit of the working capital requirements, thereby reduc-
ing the short-term debt.



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

100

The provision is achieved by drawing on bank loans of a term consistent with the 
company’s liquidity cycle. The cycle of payments and receipts reflects and average 
term for trade payables of around 120 days and an average term for receivables of 
around 60 days.

The cash flows envisaged for the 2009 trading period reflect not only the afore-
mentioned working capital dynamic, but also the effects of the maturity of the cur-
rent liabilities and current portions of the non-current liabilities, and the effects 
(assuming the same rates of exchange with respect to Dec. 31, 2008) of the close 
of the derivative financial instruments on currencies in existence at the date of the 
financial statements. These effects (values and maturities) are set out more clearly 
in the schedules for the items in question.

The Company’s expansion activities through acquisitions of new entities are car-
ried out using funding from ad hoc loans or direct via market provision (e.g. bond 
loans). The management of the liquidity, funding requirements and cash flows are 
under the direct control and management of the Group Treasury, who operates with 
the aim of managing the resources available as efficiently as possible.

Exchange-rate risk and interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to exchange risks by virtue of the fact that a significant por-

tion of sales and part of the acquisitions are conducted in currencies other than the 
group’s reporting currency, with trade transactions carried out by companies in the 
euro area with counterparties that do not belong to the euro area and vice versa.

Another aspect of the exchange rate risk is the fact that several Group companies 
present their financial statements in currencies other than the Group’s reporting 
currency. Exposure to the exchange rate risk with reference to each entity is regu-
larly monitored by the Group Treasury according to a strategy which focuses, in 
particular, on the balance between purchases and sales in foreign currency and ac-
tivating, for the remaining non-balanced portione and according to the criteria set 
by the company policy in terms of the management of financial risks, appropriate 
initiatives to hedge or reduce the risks identified, using the instruments available on 
the market.

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risks in relation to the financial liabili-
ties assumed to fund either normal operations or, as applicable, the Group’s expan-
sion by acquisitions. Changes in interest rates have a positive or negative effect on 
both the financial outcome and on cash flows. The control and management of 
interest rate risks carried out by the Group Treasury also conform to the guidelines 
laid down by the aforementioned company policy. The strategy adopted pursues the 
basic objective of achieving a balance between floating-rate and fixed-rate debt. The 
rate risk on the floating portion is then reduced via specific hedging operations.

Infragroup transactions
In accordance with the consob recommendations of Feb. 20, 1997 (dac/97001574) 
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and Feb. 27, 1998 (dac/98015375) we can confirm that:
a. infragroup transactions and transactions with related parties which have taken 

place during the period, have given rise to trade, financial or consultancy-relat-
ed dealings, under market conditions, in the financial interest of the individual 
companies involved in the transactions;

b. no atypical or unusual transactions have been performed with respect to nor-
mal business operations and the interest rates and terms applied (lending and 
borrowing) to financial transactions between the various companies are in line 
with market conditions.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION 
WHICH ARE NOT YET APPLICABLE
As required by ias 8 (Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and 

errors) we can state that the iasb has issued the following standards and interpreta-
tions, which are not yet in force and which the Group has not adopted in advance:

On Nov. 30, 2006 the iasb issued accounting standard ifrs 8 – Operating seg-
ments, which will be applicable from Jan. 1, 2009 and will replace ias 14 – Segment 
reporting. The new accounting standard requires that companies base information 
disclosure on elements that the management uses for making operational decisions, 
it requires the identification of the operating segments based on internal reporting 
that is regularly revised by the management with the aim of allocating resources to 
the various segments and for the purposes of performance analysis. The adoption of 
this standard will involve disclosure by segment and by geographical area.

On Mar. 29, 2007, iasb issued a new revised version of ias 23 – Borrowing Costs, 
which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009. In the new version of the standard the 
option was removed for the possible immediate indication of borrowing costs ser-
vicing assets for which typically there was a specific period of time during which to 
make the asset ready for use or for sale.

On Sep. 6, 2007 the iasb issued a new revised version of ias 1 – Presentation of 
financial statements, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009. The new version of 
the standard requires that all variations generated by transactions with sharehold-
ers are presented in a statement of changes in shareholders’ equity. All transactions 
generated with third parties must instead be presented in a single statement of 
changes in shareholders’ equity or in two separate statements (income statement 
and statement of comprehensive income). The changes generated by transactions 
with third parties must in each case be presented in the statement of changes in 
shareholders’ equity. The adoption of this principle will not have any effect on the 
valuation of the financial statement items.

On Jan. 17, 2008 the iasb issued an amendment to ifrs 2 – Vesting conditions 
and cancellations, according to which, for the purposes of the valuation of remu-
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neration instruments based on shares, only service and performance conditions can 
be considered as conditions for vesting such plans. The amendment, which comes 
into effect from Jan. 1, 2009, is not considered applicable by the Company.

On May 22, 2008 the iasb issued an amendment to ias 23 – Borrowing costs: 
the amendment, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, revised the definition of 
borrowing costs.

On May 22, 2008 the iasb issued an amendment to ias 36 – Impairment of as-
sets: the amendment, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009 prescribes that addi-
tional information is provided when the company determines the recoverable value 
of assets by using the discounted cash flow method.

On May 22, 2008 the iasb issued a modification to ias 1 – Presentation of financial 
statements (revised 2007): the amendment, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, 
requires that assets and liabilities deriving from derivative financial instruments not 
held for the purposes of trading are classified on the balance sheet with a distinction 
between current and non-current assets and liabilities. The adoption of this amend-
ment will not have any effect on the valuation of financial statement items.

Improvement to ias 16 – Property, plant and equipment: the amendment sets out 
that companies whose key business is renting must re-classify as stock assets that 
cease to be leased and are destined for sale and, consequently, the payments from 
their transfer must be recognized as income. For the purposes of financial state-
ments, payments made for the construction or acquisition of the assets to be leased, 
and the payments drawn from the subsequent sale of such assets form cash flows 
deriving from operating assets (and not investment assets). This amendment, which 
must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, does not apply to the company as at the date of 
these financial statements.

Improvement to ias 19 – Employee benefits: the amendment must be applied 
from Jan. 1, 2009 in an indicative way to the variations in the benefits provided 
subsequent to this date, and clarifies the definition of cost/earnings relative to past 
employment service and sets out that in the case of the reduction of a programme, 
the effect to be entered immediately on the income statement must include only the 
reduction of the benefits relative to future periods, while the effect deriving from any 
reductions associated with past periods of service must be considered as an expense 
relating to past employment service. This amendment does not provide discipline 
applicable to the company as at the date of the present financial statements.

Improvement to ias 20 – Accounting for government grants and disclosure of 
government assistance: the amendment sets out that benefits deriving from govern-
ment loans granted at a interest rate significantly lower than the market rate must 
be treated as government grants and therefore the regulations provided by ias 20 
should be followed. This amendment, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, 
does not apply to the company as at the date of these financial statements.

Improvement amendments to ias 28 – Investments in associates, and ias 31 
– Interests in joint ventures: these amendments prescribe that additional informa-
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tion should be provided for equity investments in associated companies and joint 
ventures valued at fair value in accordance with ias 39. Corresponding amendments 
were applied. These amendments, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, do not 
apply to the company as at the date of these financial statements.

Improvement amendment to ias 29 – Financial reporting in hyperinflationary 
economies: the preceding version of the standard did not reflect the fact that certain 
assets or liabilities could be valued on financial statements based on the current 
value rather than the historic value. The amendment, introduced to include this 
eventuality, is to be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, and does not affect the Company’s 
accounting as at the date of this financial statement.

Improvement amendment to ias 40 – Investment property: the amendment 
sets out that investment property under construction fall within the application of 
ias 40 rather than ias 16. The amendment, to be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, does not 
affect the Company’s accounting as at the date of these financial statements.

Amendment to ias 27 – Consolidated and separate financial statements: the 
amendment, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009 prescribes that equity inter-
ests also valued in accordance with ias 39 in the separate financial statements fall in 
under the application of ifrs 5 – Non current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations.

Amendment to ias 32 – Financial instruments: Presentation, and ias 1 – Pres-
entation of financial statements – Puttable instruments and obligations arising on 
liquidation. This amendment, which must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, does not 
apply to the company as at the date of these financial statements.

Amendment to ias 38 – Intangible assets: sets out the recognition of promotional 
and advertising costs in the income statement. Furthermore, it sets out that in the 
event the enterprise sustains charges having future financial benefits without being 
entered as intangible assets, they must be entered in the income statement at the 
time the enterprise has access to the asset, in the event of the acquisition of assets, or 
when the service is provided, for the acquisition of services. This amendment, which 
must be applied from Jan. 1, 2009, does not apply to the company as at the date of 
these financial statements.

Amendment to ias 39 – Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement: 
the amendment clarifies how the new effective rate of return must be calculated for 
a financial instrument on completion of a fair value hedging arrangement. It also 
clarifies that the prohibition against re-classifying as financial instruments via the 
adjustment of the fair value in the income statement must not be applied to deriva-
tive financial instruments which cannot be qualified as for hedging purposes or that 
become qualified for hedging purposes. This amendment, which must be applied 
from Jan. 1, 2009, does not apply to the company as at the date of these financial 
statements.

Amendment to ias 39 – Financial instruments: recognition. The amendment 
clarifies the application of the standard for the definition of the underlying subject 
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to hedging in specific situations. As at today’s date the ratification process necessary 
for its application by the presiding bodies has not yet been completed. This amend-
ment should be applied from Jan. 1, 2010.

ifric 13 – Customer loyalty programmes. To be applied from Jan. 1, 2009.
ifric 15 – Agreements for the construction of real estate. To be applied from Jan. 

1, 2009. As at today’s date this document has not yet been ratified by the European 
Union.

4. INFORMATION ON BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS
The Group’s business is organized into four main business units which represent 

the Group entities combined together according to the main product types. The 
other activities carried on by the Group are subsidiary to and in support of the main 
businesses.

The Business Units are divided as follows:
1. Drivelines, which from Jul. 1, 2008 comprised the industrial sub-holding Car-

raro Drive Tech spa and encompassed the entities dedicated to the production 
of transmission systems (axles and transmissions): Carraro spa, for the period 
prior to the conferment to Carraro Drive Tech spa and excluding the operations 
associated with the division Agritalia, A.E. srl, O&K Antriebstechnik, Carraro 
Deutschland GmbH, Carraro Argentina, Fon, Carraro India, Carraro North 
America, Carraro Qingdao Drive Systems Co., Carraro China Drive Systems 
Co., Carraro Qingdao Trading Co.

2. Gear & Components, which as of Jul. 1, 2008 comprised the sub-holding Gear 
World spa, and encompassed the entities manufacturing components for axles 
and transmissions: Siap spa, South America Gears, Turbo Gears India, Stm 
spa, Minigears spa, Minigears Suzhou Co Ltd., Minigears Shangai Trad. Ltd, 
Minigears Inc.

3. Vehicles, consisting of the former Agritalia factory, leased as a going concern to 
Carraro spa, manufacturing solely agricultural tractors.

4. Power Controls, which under the industrial sub-holding Eletronica Santerno 
spa comprises Zao Santerno and Elettronica Santerno Industria and Comercio 
Ltda.
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4.1 Sectors of activity
The more significant information by sector of activity is presented in the tables 

below, with comparisons between 2007 and 2008.

A. Economic data

2008 Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power 
controls

Cancellations and
entries not allocated

Consolidated 
total

SALES 662,198 231,657 107,001 63,511 – 90,998 973,369

Sales to third parties 636,259 161,605 104,687 63,098 7,720 973,369

Sales between divisions 25,939 70,052 2,314 413 – 98,718 –

OPERATING COSTS 653,154 227,211 101,660 48,186 – 93,782 936,429

Direct/indirect materials 447,817 107,731 80,517 33,042 – 84,021 585,086

Leases and rents 113,111 60,924 8,437 8,162 – 15,424 175,210

Personnel 68,216 43,982 9,843 6,833 3,974 132,848

Amortisation 14,764 16,211 234 550 1,382 33,141

Provisions 11,997 745 3,027 200 81 16,050

Other income and 
expenses

– 2,751 – 2,382 – 398 – 601 226 – 5,906

OPERATING RESULT 9,044 4,446 5,341 15,325 2,784 36,940

2007 Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power 
controls

Cancellations and
entries not allocated

Consolidated 
total

SALES 608,662 162,085 93,214 30,015 – 80,242 813,734

Sales to third parties 599,381 91,266 93,152 29,935 – 813,734

Sales between divisions 9,281 70,819 62 80 – 80,242 –

OPERATING COSTS 595,649 150,207 83,717 24,038 – 79,387 774,224

Direct/indirect materials 413,917 73,552 66,504 16,147 – 78,528 491,592

Leases and rents 97,923 39,754 6,406 3,673 – 2,651 145,105

Personnel 68,062 27,159 9,202 3,926 451 108,800

Amortisation 14,812 10,991 280 276 – 14 26,345

Provisions 4,872 320 1,421 27 – 6,640

Other income and 
expenses

– 3,937 – 1,569 – 96 – 11 1,355 – 4,258

OPERATING RESULT 13,013 11,878 9,497 5,977 – 855 39,510
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B. Balance sheet

2008 Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power 
controls

Cancellations and
entries not allocated

Consolidated 
total

Non-current assets *  341,765  227,346 6,309 7,041 – 237,601 344,860

Current assets  449,696  131,034 37,459 38,474 – 185,675 470,988

Non-current liabilities  42,779  77,284 3,039 906 90,857  214,865 

Current liabilities  561,962  148,666 32,926 30,530 – 322,733  451,351 

* Non-current assets include goodwill amounting to 21.08 mln euro relating to the Drivelines Business Unit, goodwill amounting to 19.18 mln 
 euro relating to the Power Controls Business Unit and goodwill amounting to 20.21 mln euro attributable to the Components segment.

2007 Drivelines Gear &
Components

Vehicles Power
controls

Cancellations and
entries not allocated

Consolidated 
total

Non current assets * 217,666 238,058  3,725 5,079 – 149,232  315,296 

Current assets  293,565  120,827 31,755 21,534 – 65,260  402,421 

Non current liabilities  29,722  57,673  2,295  1,175 95,248 186,113

Current liabilities  334,644  133,270  28,557  18,560 – 133,431  381,600 

* Non-current assets include goodwill amounting to 21.08 mln euro relating to the Drivelines Business Unit, goodwill amounting to 16.12 mln 
 euro relating to the Power Controls Business Unit and goodwill amounting to 20.21 mln euro attributable to the Components segment.

C. Other information

2008 Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power 
controls

Cancellations and
entries not allocated

Consolidated 
total

Investments (Euro/000) 25,365 25,982 2,347 1,744 6,035 61,473

Employees 1,891 1,798 249 154 113 4,205

Cancellations and entries not allocated included goodwill deriving from entries from consolidation
for 3.06 mln euro attributable to the Power Controls business unit.

2007 Drivelines Gear & 
Components

Vehicles Power
controls

Cancellations and
entries not allocated

Consolidated 
total

Investments (Euro/000) 29,957 14,472 766 1,355 32,943 79,493

Employees 2,097 1,583 225 90 41 4,036

Cancellations and entries not allocated included goodwill deriving from entries from consolidationfor 20.21 mln euro
attributable to the Components segment and 12.32 mln euro attributable to the Power Controls business unit.

Geographic areas
The Group’s industrial operations are located in various areas of the world: Italy, 

other European countries, North and South America and Asia. The Group’s sales, 
deriving from the manufacturing carried out in the above areas are achieved equally 
with customers in Europe, Asia and the Americas. The more significant information 
by geographic area is presented in the tables below.
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A. Sales
The breakdown of sales by main geographic area is shown in the following table.

2008 2007

Italy 200,509 176,039

Other EU areas 441,315 374,396

North America 139,187 127,061

South America 58,959 41,929

Asia 104,288 80,888

Other countries 29,111 13,421

TOTAL 973,369 813,734

B. Accounting values of assets by area
The following table illustrates the book values of current and non-current assets 

according to the primary geographic areas of manufacture.

2008 2007

Current assets Non current assets Current assets Non current assets

Italy 340,823 428,910 301,603 364,183

Other EU countries (Germany, Poland) 227,557 90,444 156,894 127,077

North America 7,235 10,414 6,323 13,797

South America 47,628 16,371 29,959 15,890

Asia (India, China) 63,869 59,285 56,982 45,650

Non-EU countries 269 6 360 2

Cancellations and entries not allocated – 216,393 – 260,570 – 149,700 – 251,303

TOTAL 470,988 344,860 402,421 315,296

C. Investment by geographical area
The table below illustrates the value of investments in the primary geographic 

areas of manufacture.

2008 2007

Italy 32,687 20,951

Other EU countries (Germany, Poland) 5,079 4,372

North America 138 86

South America 2,398 1,843

Non-EU countries 6 1

Asia 18,104 19,819

Cancellations and entries not allocated 3,061 27,746

TOTAL 61,473 74,818

Cancellations and entries not allocated included goodwill deriving from entries from consolidation for 3.06 mln euro
attributable to the Power Controls business unit.
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5. NON-RECURRING OPERATIONS

Restructuring Other risk
reserves

Fixed asset
depreciation

Carraro Drive Tech 850 – –

O&K Antriebstechnik – 3,360 640

Minigears Spa 550 – –

TOTAL 1,400 3,360 640

For the company O&K Antriebstechnik the provision to other risk reserves and 
the depreciation of the fixed assets refers to the costs relating to the transfer of 
manufacturing operations made necessary following the unfavourable first level 
judgement given by the Court of Essen and also relating to a current dispute with 
the owner of the site where the company operates.

The provision by the companies Carraro Drive Tech and Mini Gears spa relates 
to the re-structuring programmes implemented that concern 24 and 20 employees 
respectively.

6. NOTES AND COMMENTS 
Revenues and costs

A. Revenues from sales (note 1)
Analysis by sector of operations and geographical area
See the information provided in section 4 above.

B. Operating costs (note 2)

2008 2007

1. PURCHASES OF GOODS AND MATERIALS

 Purchases of raw materials 599,464 518,985

 Raw materials returns – 3,750 – 3,597

A. Purchases 595,714 515,388

 Miscellaneous consumables 2,697 5,801

 Consumable tools 5,856 3,644

 Maintenance material 3,443 1,810

 Materials and services for resale 2,890 3,019

 Rebates and discounts – suppliers – 959 – 850

B. Other production costs 13,927 13,424

TOTAL 609,641 528,812

2. SERVICES

A. External services for production 106,905 89,782

B. Sundry supplies 14,295 11,003

C. General corporate costs 28,960 24,104
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2008 2007

D. Commercial costs 2,556 1,606

E. Sales expenses 16,805 14,854

TOTAL 169,521 141,349

3. LEASES AND RENTS

TOTAL 5,689 3,756

4. PERSONNEL COSTS

A. Wages and salaries 94,264 77,491

B. Social security contributions 29,218 24,641

C. Employee severance indemnity and pensions 5,931 3,766

D. Other costs 3,435 2,902

TOTAL 132,848 108,800

5. AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITE-DOWNS

A. Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 27,647 23,497

B. Amortisation of intangible assets 3,388 2,255

C. Write-downs of assets 1,702 133

D. Write-down of receivables 404 460

TOTAL 33,141 26,345

6. CHANGES IN STOCKS

A. Changes in stocks of raw & ancillary materials & goods – 2,301 – 25,609

B. Changes in stocks of wk in progress, semi-finished & finished prods – 22,254 – 11,611

TOTAL – 24,555 – 37,220

7. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND SUNDRY

A. Warranty  10,261 6,437

B. Charges for disputes 81 264

C. Renovation and conv.  1,400 –

D. Other provisions  4,308 7

TOTAL 16,050 6,708

8. OTHER EXPENSE AND INCOME

A. Sundry income – 6,637 – 6,639

B. Grants – 163 – 163

C. Other operating expense 4,936 3,445

D. Other non-ordinary operating income/expense – 1,650 99

TOTAL – 3,514 – 3,258

9. INTERNAL CONSTRUCTION

TOTAL – 2,392 – 1,068

The general trend, showing growth of over 2007, of the main cost items relating 
to industrial operations (procurement, industrial services, personnel cost) follows 
the growth of volumes of production and sales recorded in 2008.
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C. Income from financial assets (note 3)

2008 2007

10. INCOME FROM EQUITY INTERESTS

TOTAL – –

11. OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME

A. From financial assets  7,418 14

B. From bank current and deposit accounts  696 534

C. From other cash equivalents  940 13

D. Income other than the above – 8,030 874

E. From changes in the fair value of rate derivatives  541 131

TOTAL  1,565 1,566

12. FINANCIAL COSTS AND EXPENSES

A. From financial liabilities – 17,823 – 8,270

B. From bank current and deposit accounts – 5,617 – 3,182

C. Expense other than from the above  5,804 – 624

D. From changes in the fair value of rate derivatives – 182 – 349

TOTAL – 17,818 – 12,425

13. EXCHANGE INCOME/EXPENSES

Exchange losses:

 – from derivative transactions on exchange rates – 6,612 – 541

 – from fair value changes in derivative transactions on exchange rates  172 72

 – other – 21,741 – 6,265

– 28,181 – 6,734

Exchange gains:

 – from derivative transactions on exchange rates  785 1,451

 – from fair value changes in derivative transactions on exchange rates – 236 84

 – other  22,815 6,427

 23,364 7,962

TOTAL – 4,817 1,228

Borrowing costs have increased as a result of the higher average indebtedness 
over the year and the greater cost of money.

Net exchange differences as at Dec. 31, 2008 are showing a loss of 4.817 mln euro 
and include, as well as the adjustment of equity entries, the Mark to Market effects 
of the fair value valuation of the derivative instruments. The corresponding gross 
values of the exchange rate differences reflect the broad swings, in comparison with 
the previous year, recorded in particular for the Polish zloty, the Chinese renminbi, 
Indian rupee and Argentinian peso, as well as the effect of the greater volumes of 
assets held in foreign currencies realised during the accounting period. 
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Income taxes (note 4)

2008 2007

15. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION

Current taxes 12,955 11,809

Income and charges from tax consolidation 3,049 2,676

Deferred tax liabilities – 11,240 – 1,728

TOTAL 4,764 12,757

The changes in deferred taxes includes the effects of the fiscal realignments, pro-
vided for by Law no. 244, the 2008 Finance Act, by the companies Carraro spa, Siap 
spa, Stm srl, Minigears spa and Elettronica Santerno spa (for a total of 4,98 mln 
euro). This decision generated a positive income (entered in deferred taxes) due to 
the rebate of taxes through the discrepancy between the fiscal values and the pre-
paid book values, calculated at the tax rate of 31.40%. The replacement tax provided 
for by Law 244/2007 calculated on the realignment (1.96 mln euro) was entered in 
current taxes.

Current taxes
Tax on the income of Italian companies is calculated at 27.50%, for ires (corpora-

tion tax), and at 3.90% for irap (regional tax) on the estimated taxable base for the 
period. Taxes for the others in foreign countries are calculated at the rates in force 
in the various countries.

Tax consolidation expense and income
During the 2008 accounting period Carraro spa renewed its alignment, valid 

for a three-year period, with the fiscal consolidation system of the parent company 
Finaid spa, while the newly incorporated Carraro Drive Tech spa is adhering to the 
same tax consolidation as from 2008. The charges deriving from the transfer of the 
ires taxable base are entered as current taxes. Carraro spa and Carraro Drive Tech 
spa are entitled to receive “relief ” from Finaid spa amounting to 3% of the tax losses 
of the tax consolidation system offset with the taxable base transferred from the two 
companies. 

Deferred tax liabilities
These are provided on the timing differences between the book value of the assets/

liabilities and the corresponding tax value. The provision for taxation for the year can 
be reconciled with the result recorded in the financial statements as follows:

31/12/2008 % 31/12/2007 %

Income before taxes 15,870 29,879

Theoretical tax rate 4,983 31.40% 11,130 37.25%
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31/12/2008 % 31/12/2007 %

Tax realignment – 2,449 – 15.43% – 1,026 – 3.43%

Effect of non-deductible costs 3,538 22.29% 3,615 12.10%

Income not taxable – 0.00% 90 0.30%

Tax losses not recorded – 1,449 – 9.13% – 727 – 2.43%

Other deferred taxes not recorded 305 1.92% – 142 – 0.48%

Change in deferred taxation rate – – 0.00% – 165 – 0.55%

Foreign companies rate difference – 164 – 1.03% – 18 – 0.06%

TAXATION AT EFFECTIVE RATE 4,764 30.02% 12,757 42.70%

As well as taxes entered in the income statement for the period, deferred tax as-
sets for 0.31 mln euro were charged directly to shareholders’ equity.

Research and development costs (which cannot be capitalised)
During the course of 2008 research and trials were carried out by some of the 

personnel employed in both development and production.
For these operations in 2008 the Group sustained total expenditure of 14.80 mln 

euro (not capitalised through the lack of the requirements envisaged by ias 38).

Group earnings per share (note 5)

EARNINGS 31/12/2008
Euro/000

31/12/2007
Euro/000

Income for the purposes of calculation of basic earnings per share 11,310 15,586

Diluting effect deriving from potential ordinary shares – –

Income for the purposes of calculation of the diluted earnings per share 11,310 15,586

NUMBER OF SHARES 31/12/2008
N./1.000

31/12/2007
N./1.000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the calculation
of basic earnings per share

41,873 42,000

Diluting effect deriving from potential ordinary shares – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the calculation
of diluted earnings per share

41,873 42,000

EARNINGS PER SHARE 31/12/2008
Euro

31/12/2007
Euro

Basic earnings per share 0.27 0.37

Diluted earnings per share 0.27 0.37
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Dividends

Dividends paid 
The dividends paid by Carraro spa in 2008 (in relation to distribution of the prof-

it for financial year 2007, following the general meeting resolution of Apr. 23, 2008) 
amounted to a total of 6,930 thousand euro, or 0.165 euro per ordinary share.

The Company has not issued shares other than ordinary shares. In the previous 
year the dividends paid (in relation to distribution of the 2006 profit) amounted to 
a total of 5,250 thousand euro, or 0.125 euro per ordinary share.

Dividends proposed
There is no distribution proposed for the dividends of Carraro spa profit for the 

2008 period.

Real estate property, plant and equipment (note 6)
These items present a net balance of 240.96 mln euro compared with 225.06 

euro mln in the previous period.
The breakdown is as follows:

ITEMS Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other assets Investments in 
progress and deposits

Total

Historical cost  58,866  135,013  57,357  10,823  2,954  265,013 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

 – 9,954  – 55,017  – 27,933  – 5,364  –   – 98,268 

NET AT 31/12/2006  48,912  79,996  29,424  5,459  2,954  166,745 

Movements in 2007

Increases  7,571  11,551  13,347  2,035  7,967  42,471 

Decreases  – 12  – 1,057  – 72  – 144  – 1,572  – 2,857 

Capitalisation –  2,104  892  28  – 3,024 –

Change in consol. area  3,650  32,141  7,170  695  1,387  45,043 

Amortisation  – 1,863  – 12,850  – 7,445  – 1,339  –   – 23,497 

Reclassification  161  255  – 39  – 308  – 69  – 

Write-downs –  – 16  – 89  – 28  –  – 133 

Forex translation diff.  – 1,013  – 1,157  – 505  – 35  –  – 2,710 

NET AT 31/12/2007  57,406  110,967  42,683  6,363  7,643  225,062 

Made up of:

Historical cost  69,211  175,875  77,154  12,836  7,643  342,719 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

– 11,805 – 64,908 – 34,471 – 6,473  – – 117,657
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ITEMS Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other assets Investments in 
progress and deposits

Total

Historical cost  69,211  175,875  77,154  12,836  7,643  342,719 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

 – 11,805  – 64,908  – 34,471  – 6,473  –   – 117,657 

NET AT 31/12/2007  57,406  110,967  42,683  6,363  7,643  225,062 

Movements in 2008

Increases  2,485  20,090  16,634  2,965  10,647  52,821 

Decreases  – 3,675  – 1,676  – 435  – 168  – 410  – 6,364 

Capitalisation  2,987  3,931  667  31  – 7,616  –  

Change in consol. area  –   –   –   –   –   –  

Amortisation  – 1,924  – 14,912  – 9,155  – 1,656  –   – 27,647 

Reclassification  –   – 13  – 92  –  105  –  

Write-downs  –   – 1,702  –   –   –   – 1,702 

Forex translation diff.  – 142  – 1,550  141  – 70  – 301  – 1,922 

NET AT 31/12/2008  57,137  115,135  50,443  7,465  10,068  240,248 

Made up of:

Historical cost  70,473  189,326  90,222  15,272  10,068  375,361 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

 – 13,336  – 74,191  – 39,779  – 7,807  –   – 135,113 

At Dec. 31, 2008 there are leased assets recognised as Plant and Machinery of 
4.00 mln euro and as Land and Buildings of 6.09 mln euro.

The increases in Land and buildings refer primarily to the increases in the indus-
trial buildings of Carraro China Drive Systems Co., Fon sa, Siap spa and Carraro 
spa. The decrease is due to the sale of the industrial building in Calhoun (Usa) by 
Carraro North America Inc.

The increases in Plant and machinery refer primarily to the investments made 
by Siap spa, Minigears spa, Minigears Suzhou Co. Ltd., Carraro India Ltd., O&KA 
GmbH and Carraro Drive Tech spa.

The increases in Industrial equipment refer primarily to the acquisitions of cast-
ing moulds and tools by Carraro spa, Carraro Drive Tech spa, Carraro China Drive 
Systems Co. Ltd, Siap spa, Carraro India Ltd. and Minigears spa.

The increases in Investments in progress and deposits are mainly due to invest-
ments being made in Carraro India Ltd., Minigears (Suzhou) Co Ltd., Carraro China 
Drive Systems Co. Ltd and Turbo Gears India Ltd.

The assets, plant and equipment of Carraro India have loans secured against 
them for a total of 4.15 mln euro.

Intangible assets (note 7)
These items present a net balance of 78.09 mln euro compared with 73.33 mln 

euro in the previous period.
The breakdown is as follows:
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ITEMS Goodwill Develop. 
costs

Royalties 
and patents

Licences and 
Trademarks

Invest. in prog. 
and deposits

Other 
investments

Total

Historical cost  25,879  6,265  438  4,586  1,040  365  38,573 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

 – 1,000  – 2,942  – 271  – 2,830  –   – 200  – 7,243 

NET AT 31/12/2006  24,879  3,323  167  1,756  1,040  165  31,330 

Movements in 2007

Increases 32,535  238  79  1,278  2,396  496 37,022

Decreases  –   –   –   3  –   – 216  – 213

Capitalisation
of int. costs

 –   180  –   35  – 215  –   –  

Change in consol. 
area

–  2  –   6,906  –   493 7,401

Amortisation  –   – 969  – 80  – 1,063  –   – 143  – 2,255 

Reclassification  –   – 43  –   – 81  59  65  –  

Write-downs  –   –   –   –   –   –   –  

Forex translation diff.  –   52  –   1  –   – 10  43 

NET AT 31/12/2007  57,414  2,783  166  8,835  3,280  850  73,328 

Made up of:

Historical cost  58,414  6,728  518  12,743  3,280  2,316  83,999 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

– 1,000 – 3,945  – 352  – 3,908  –  – 1,466 – 10,671 

ITEMS Goodwill Develop. 
costs

Royalties 
and patents

Licences and 
Trademarks

Invest. in prog. 
and deposits

Other 
investments

Total

Historical cost  58,414  6,728  518  12,743  3,280 2,316  83,999 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

 – 1,000  – 3,945  – 352  – 3,908  –  – 1,466  – 10,671 

NET AT 31/12/2007  57,414  2,783  166  8,835  3,280 850  73,328 

Movements in 2008

Increases  3,060  10  285  1,935  3,072 290  8,652 

Decreases  –   –   –   –   – 39 – 7  – 46 

Capitalisation
of int. costs

 –   647  –   2,258  – 2,905 –   –  

Change in consol. 
area

 –   –   –   –   –  –   –  

Amortisation  –   – 1,123  – 113  – 1,823  –  – 329  – 3,388 

Reclassification  –   –   –   5  – 5   – 

Write-downs  –   –   –   –   –  –   –  

Forex translation diff.  –   – 91  –   – 4 379 – 31  253 

NET AT 31/12/2008  60,474  2,226  338  11,206  3,782 773  78,799 

Made up of:

Historical cost  61,474  7,158  804  16,928  3,782 449  90,595 

Provisions for deprec. 
and write-downs

 – 1,000  – 4,932  – 466  – 5,722  –  324  – 11,796 
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The item Licences and trademarks has been posted with the fair value of the 
Brand (3.30 mln euro) and Technology (3.50 mln euro) recorded in the 2007 pe-
riod via the acquisition of the company Mini Gears. These intangible assets having 
a defined useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis over the terms estimated 
at 10 and 7 years respectively.

The other intangible assets having a defined useful life are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the terms estimated at 3 and 5 years respectively.

Goodwill
Goodwill is made up as follows. With reference to the amounts of goodwill indi-

cated:
› 3.00 mln euro generated by the consolidation accounts of the unit correspond-

ing to the company O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH & Co. KG., as the difference 
between the value of the equity interest and the current values of the assets and 
liabilities of the investee company;

› 18.08 mln euro generated by the consolidation accounts of the unit correspond-
ing to the company Carraro India Ltd., as the difference between the value of 
the remaining equity interest purchased in 2006 and the corresponding pro-
portion of the book values of the assets and liabilities of the company;

› 19.21 mln euro relating to the unit corresponding to the company Elettronica 
Santerno spa, made up of 2.89 mln euro of goodwill paid to Casalfiumanese 
spa on purchase of the company division and 16.32 mln euro as the difference 
between the value of the equity interest and the current value of the investee 
company. The increase in the period (3.06 mln euro) is due to the adjustment 
in the valuation of the sale option granted to the minority shareholder.

 Carraro spa has a purchase option on the remaining 33% of Elettronica San-
terno. After the end of the period the agreement with the minority shareholder 
was revised: the exercise price of the purchase option granted to the Carraro 
Group was set at 18.00 mln euro, exercisable from Jan. 30, 2010 until May 31, 
2011 and the minority shareholder has a sale option on the same interest exer-
cisable in the 30 business days after Mar. 30, 2010 and in the 30 business days 
after May 31, 2011.

› 20.21 mln euro generated by the consolidation accounts of the unit correspond-
ing to the Mini Gears Group, as the difference between the value of the equity 
interest purchased during the year and the current values of the assets and li-
abilities of the investee companies.

Each of the four cited elements of the Goodwill item refers to a cash generating 
unit and was subject to a specific impairment test. As those elements were manufac-
turing units, the following common criteria were used for such tests:

› earnings/borrowing projections were based on the available predictions for the 
next period plus additional internal estimates for subsequent periods;



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

117

› assumptions were supported by the consistency of the current order book, in-
formation on key customers’ production programmes, as well as the procure-
ment market trend predictions and the knowledge of the dynamics of the un-
derlying industrial processes;

› the time horizon for the estimate of future financial flows is over a period of 
five years, subsequently using the criteria of a perpetual return in line with the 
flows of the last year of the protection;

› the assumed growth rate for the subsequent periods along the analysed time 
horizon is 1.5%;

› the pre-tax discounting rate applied in the protection of the cash flows reflect 
the average weighted cost of the capital of the individual cash generating unit, 
as well as the individual country.

The key parameters adopted by the Group are summarised below:

31/12/2007 Changes 31/12/2008 Specific 
forecast 

period (years)

Assumed growth 
rate over the 

forecast period

Pre-tax
discount rate

100% acquisition
of O&K Antriebstechnik 
GmbH &Co.

3,000 – 3,000 5 1.5% 10.83%

Acquisition of minority 
interest in Carraro
India Ltd. (remaining 
share of 49%)

18,079 – 18,079 5 1.5% 12.00%

Acquisition of Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

16,120 3,060 19,180 5 1.5% 11.91%

100% acquisition of 
Minigears Group

20,215 – 20,215 5 1.5% 7.40%

Total 57,414 3,060 60,474

Development costs
The key changes are due to the Costs of development sustained by the companies 

Carraro spa and Carraro Drive Tech spa and derive from the planning of the new 
product lines developed in connection with similar projects initiated by the cus-
tomers. Other studies relating to projects are still at the planning phase and were 
entered among investments in progress.

Development costs generated internally are capitalised at cost.

Licences and Trademarks
The increase is mainly due to the purchase of new software by Carraro spa, 

Elettronica Santerno spa and Minigears spa.
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Real estate investments (note 8)
These present a net balance of 0.7 mln euro. The breakdown is as follows:

ITEMS Land Buildings Total

Balance as of 31/12/2007 – 710 710

Movements in 2008: – – –

Increases – – –

Decreases – – –

Amortisation – – –

Change in currency – – 1 – 1

Balance as of 31/12/2008 – 709 709

Real estate investments referred to non-industrial property owned by Carraro 
spa, Siap spa and Carraro Argentina sa. The fair value of these investments does 
not differ greatly from the recorded cost, taking account of the fact that at the time 
of initial application of the ifrs, they were recorded at fair value as “deemed cost”. 
These investments are not subject to depreciation.

Equity investments (note 9)
Changes in equity investments in 2008:

ITEMS Balance as of 
31/12/2007

Increases/ 
Decreases

Write-down / 
Reval.

Change in
Cons. area

Exchange 
rate adjust.

Balance as of 
31/12/2008

Carraro PNH Components India Ltd. 172 – – – – 24 148

Eletronica Santerno Industria
and Comercio Ltda

10 – – – 10 – –

Carraro North America Inc. 1 – – – 1 – –

Subsidiary companies 183 – – –  11 – 24 148

Held for sale 12 – 12 – – – –

Total equity investments 195 – 12 – – 11 – 24 148

Equity investment in subsidiaries
The companies Eletronica Santerno Industria and Comercio Ltda and Carraro 

North America Inc. were consolidated using the line by line method as from Jan. 
1, 2008.

Equity investments held for sale
The investment in Elcon Elettronica srl was transferred against a contractual 

agreement with the majority shareholder of the company. This investment was not 
considered strategic for the Group operations. A capital gain of 0.01 mln euro was 
realised on the transfer.
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Equity interests in subsidiaries
The balance of 0.15 mln euro can be broken down as follows:

Investee company Parent company Based in Currency Value of 
shareholders’

equity 31/12/08

Percentage 
stake

Book 
value

Carraro PNH
Components India Ltd.

Carraro India Ltd. Bombay (India) INR 195 99.998% 148

Financial assets (note 10)

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 

Available for sale 167 167

Cash flow hedge derivatives (irs on loans) – 960

Other financial assets 167 1,127

Financial accruals & deferrals with third parties 279 8

Financial accruals and deferrals 279 8

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 446 1,135

with Associated companies –  84  

with Related companies 41 –

with Third parties 13,169 –

Loans and receivables 13,210 84

At current value (exchange rate derivatives) – 163

Cash flow hedge derivatives (exch. Rate derivatives) 275 978 

Other financial assets 275 1,141

with Third parties 638 612

Financial accruals and deferrals 638 612

CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 14,123 1,837

Current loans and receivables:
With third parties, includes a loan receivable of 13.13 mln euro granted to Busi 

Group under a contract for the acquisition of a 33% share of Elettronica Santerno, 
and a residual loan of 0.04 mln euro with Elcon Elettronica srl.

Other non-current financial assets
Available for sale (0.167 mln euro): they consist of minority equity interests and 

therefore do not have a fixed redemption date.

Other current financial assets
Cash flow hedging derivatives (0.275 mln euro): the balance relates to the positive 

fair value recognised at Dec. 31, 2008 on existing derivative instruments in foreign 
currencies. As is described more thoroughly in the section relating to derivative finan-
cial instruments (paragraph 9) the method adopted was fair value in shareholders’ 
equity.
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Trade and other receivables (note 12)

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 

Non current trade receivables – –

with Related parties 2 4

with Third parties 2,364 1,901

Other non-current receivables 2,366 1,905

NON-CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2,366 1,905

with Associated companies – 12

with Related companies 256 147

with Third parties 148,331 137,968

Current trade receivables 148,587 138,127

from Parent companies – 2,597

with Related parties – 55 –

with Third parties 53,057 44,775

Other current receivables 53,002 47,372

CURRENT TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES 201,589 185,499

Other non-current receivables (2.36 mln euro) consist mainly of guarantee de-
posits and prepayments of costs accruing in subsequent periods. Trade receivables 
bear no interest and mature on average at 60 days.

Other current receivables due from third parties can be analysed as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 

VAT credits  27,321 22,112

VAT credits due for rebate  8,108 3,493

Other amounts due from the tax authorities  7,773 9,789

Credits for current taxes  2,860 3,521

Amounts due from employees  302 333

Amounts due from social security and welfare institutions  738 167

Accrued income and prepayments  2,223 2,588

Other receivables  3,732 2,771

OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES WITH THIRD PARTIES  53,057 44,774

Italian companies earn interest on VAT rebates, if they qualify, at the rate of 
2.75%.

The breakdown of trade and other receivables (including receivable bad debt pro-
vision) by maturity is shown in the following table: 
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31/12/2008

FALLEN DUE FALLING DUE

Within 1 year Over 1 year Within 1 year Over 1 year TOTAL

Trade receivables 46,213 1,465 103,755 –  151,433 

Other receivables 253 54 53,187 2,366  55,860 

TOTAL  46,466  1,519  156,942  2,366  207,293 

31/12/2007

FALLEN DUE FALLING DUE

Within 1 year Over 1 year Within 1 year Over 1 year TOTAL

Trade receivables 30,618 1,058 110,514 – 142,190

Other receivables – – 47,372 1,905 49,277

TOTAL 30,618 1,058 157,886 1,905 191,467

Provision for bad debt
The breakdown of the gross and net value of the receivables is as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Current trade receivables with third parties 151,177 142,030

Provisions for depreciation – 2,846 – 4,063

NET CURRENT TRADE RECEIVABLES WITH THIRD PARTIES 148,331 137,967

Other current receivables due from Parent, Subsidiary and Associated companies 256 4,048

Provisions for depreciation – – 1,292

NET CURRENT RECEIVABLES WITH SUBSIDIARIES 256 2,756

Other current receivables with third parties 53,494 44,970

Provisions for depreciation – 492 – 196

NET OTHER CURRENT RECEIVABLES WITH THIRD PARTIES 53,002 44,774

Movements in the bad debt reserves for the periods considered can be broken 
down as follows.

31/12/2007 Increases Decreases Change in
Cons. area

Other 
movements

31/12/2008

Risk fund – trade receivables 4,063  53 – 1,290 –  20 2,846

Other receivables risk fund 196  344 – 29 – – 19 492

Risk fund – receivables from 
subsidiary companies

1,292
– – 1,292 – – –

TOTAL 5,551 397 – 2,611 – 1 3,338

The provision for the trade receivables and other receivables is entered as hedging 
the risk on past due positions according to the loss estimate currently considered prob-
able. The fund for subsidiary companies was used completely during the period to cov-
er the losses on the receivables from the subsidiary company Carraro Korea Ltd.
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Closing inventory (note 13)

ITEMS 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Raw materials 114,705 107,463

Work in progress and semi-finished products 51,277 47,396

Finished products 54,984 40,968

Goods in transit 251 406

Total stocks 221,217 196,233

Stock depreciation fund – 17,615 – 13,803

Total stocks 203,602 182,430

The increase in 2008 was determined through the effect of the high level of or-
ders recorded in the first three quarters of the year.

The Stock Depreciation Fund saw the following movements during the course of 
the year:

Balance at 31/12/2007 13,803

Provisions 7,024

Change in consolidation area –

Utilisation – 3,059

Translation differences – 153

Balance at 31/12/2008 17,615

Cash and cash equivalents (note 14)

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Cash 135 138

Current accounts and bank deposits 51,539 32,478

Other liquid funds or equivalent assets – 39

Total 51,674 32,655

Short-term bank deposits are remunerated at a floating rate.

Shareholders’ equity (note 15)
The Annual General Meeting of Apr. 23, 2008 approved a treasury share purchase 

plan. The purchase can be made on regulated markets under the following terms:
› the duration of the authorisation is 18 months from the date of the general 

meeting resolution;
› the authorisation is valid for a maximum number of 2,100,000 ordinary shares, 

wholly paid up and settled with a par value of 0.52 euro, equivalent to 5% of 
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subscribed and paid-up share capital;
› the maximum purchase price may not be more than 20% higher than the ref-

erence price recorded in the stock exchange session prior to each individual 
transaction;

› the minimum purchase price may not be more than 30% lower than the ref-
erence price recorded in the stock exchange session prior to each individual 
transaction;

At Dec. 31, 2008, 453,692 shares had been purchased for a total investment of 
1,525,969 euro.

Share capital
At Dec. 31, 2008, the authorised and fully paid-up share capital amounts to 

21,840,000 euro and consists of 42 million ordinary shares with a par value of 0.52 
euro each. The company has issued a single category of ordinary shares which do 
not assign a fixed dividend. No other financial instruments have been issued which 
assign equity and investment rights. No share capital increases were carried out 
during the year.

Other reserves
Share premium reserve
There were no changes in the Share Premium Reserve during the year and it 

amounts to 17.833 mln euro.

Net income reserves
This includes the portions of the profits not distributed or carried forward and 

includes:
› 4,458 thousand euro relating to the Carraro spa legal reserve;
› 9,492 euro relating to Carraro spa profits carried forward;
› 28,363 euro generated by the excess of the shareholders’ equity of the consoli-

dated companies over the corresponding book values of the holdings and the 
consolidation adjustments.

ias/ifrs 1st adoption reserve
The ias/ifrs first adoption reserve amounted to 44.384 mln euro at Dec. 31, 2008.

Cash flow hedge reserve 
This includes the values arising from the application of the criteria prescribed for 

cash flow hedging. 

Foreign currency translation reserve
This reserve is used to record the exchange rate differences deriving from the 

translation of the balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries.
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Financial liabilities (note 16)

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Loans due to third parties  161,565  132,234 

NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  161,565  132,234 

Loans due to third parties 119,529  75,861 

Financial accruals and deferrals to third parties  1,252  1,212 

Other financial liabilities

Fair value of int. Rate derivatives 553 37 

Fair value of exch. Rate derivatives 2,184  1,894 

2,737 1,931

CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 123,518 79,004

The following table breaks down the medium and long-term debts by maturity. 
The values shown referred to the effective cash flows envisaged contractually.

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Company within
1 year

from
1 to 5 years

more than
5 years

Total within
1 year

from
1 to 5 years

more than
5 years

Total 

Carraro India Ltd. 1,750 3,030 4,780  1,535 1,535

Carraro International Sa 4,156 119,344 123,500 10,239 78,194 2,847 91,280

Carraro Spa 690 1,423 2,113 686  2,093 2,779

Elettronica Santerno Spa 58  116 174 58  174 232

Fon Sa 1,159 2,029 3,188 2,406 6,708 9,114

A.E. Srl 63 63

Gear World Spa 12,500 12,500

MG Sozhou 369 369 349 349 698

MG Holding Spa 12,500 12,500

Minigears Spa 6,398 24,792 1,428 32,618 6,494 6,494

Siap Spa 272 272 2,051 266 2,317

Stm Srl 885 1,008 1,893 837 1,884 2,721

Turbo Gears Ltd. 2,095 4,267 736 7,098 1,758 5,219 1,471 8,448

Carraro China Drive S. 1,640 4,100 5,740

Carraro Argentina Sa 7 7

Total 19,479 160,172 2,164 181,815 18,384 127,916 4,318 150,618

The following table provides further detailed information on financial liabilities.

Company Lender Equivalent 
balance in euro
M/l term portion

Expiry Rate Rate type Currency

Carraro Spa San Paolo IMI (F.I.T.) 551 Jun ’11 1.010% fixed Euro

Carraro Spa Mps Leasing 872 Feb ’11 3.934% variable Euro

Stm Srl Banca Pop. Verona 804 Dec ’10 5.666% variable Euro
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Company Lender Equivalent 
balance in euro
M/l term portion

Expiry Rate Rate type Currency

Stm Srl Mps Leasing 204 Nov ’11 4.184% variable Euro

Elettronica Santerno Spa Simest 116 Nov ’11 1.3951% fixed Euro

Fon Sa Capitalia Lux 2,029 Sep ’11 7.330% variable PLN

Carraro India Ltd. Mcc 320 Apr ’10 6.669% variable Euro

Carraro India Ltd. Mcc 726 Apr ’11 5.986% variable Euro

Carraro India Ltd. Exim 783 Mar ’12 12.500% variable INR

Carraro India Ltd. Idbu Bank 1,201 Jan ’13 11.750% variable INR

Turbo Gears Ltd. Bnp 1,085 Nov ’11 8.595% fixed INR

Turbo Gears Ltd. Mcc 3,678 Dec ’14 6.371% variable Euro

Turbo Gears Ltd. Idbu Bank 240 Jan ’13 12.750% variable INR

Carraro International Sa Pool banche 99,229 May ’12 4.656% variable Euro

Carraro International Sa Mps 8,844 Mar ’13 5.776% variable Euro

Carraro International Sa Banca Antonveneta 10,500 Jun ’13 5.621% variable Euro

Carraro China Drive S. Intesa SanPaolo 4,100 Jun ’12 6.800% variable CNY

A.E. Srl CPS Italia Scrl 63 Oct ’10 – – Euro

Minigears Spa San Paolo Leas./
Intesa/Locat Leas.

1,465 Mar ’09/
May ’12

3.770% variable Euro

Minigears Spa Interbanca 2,000 Dec ’11 6.050% variable Euro

Minigears Spa Ministero Ricerca 429 Jan ’13 2.000% fixed Euro

Minigears Spa Intesa Mediocredito 632 Jun ’10 6.000% variable Euro

Minigears Spa Banca Pop. Verona 21,694 Mar ’14 5.813% variable Euro

TOTAL 161,565

Fair Value
The fair value of the medium/long-term financial liabilities, estimated on hy-

pothetical conditions applicable to the Group at the end of the period using the 
discounted cash flow method, in consideration of the market volatility and the 
uncertainty in identifying the base conditions in accessing bank financing, has not 
resulted in any significant differences over the book values.

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Loans Payable

– non-current 161,565 132,233

– current 119,529 75,861

Financial accruals and deferrals

– non-current – 279 – 8

– current 614 600

Cash and cash equivalents

– Cash – 135 – 138

– Bank current accounts and deposits – 51,539 – 32,517

Fi
gu

re
s 

in
 E

ur
o/

0
0

0



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

126

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Loans and receivables

– Loans and receivables – 13,170 –

– Loans and borrowings with related parties – 40 – 84

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 216,545 175,947

Of which payables / (receivables)

– non-current 161,286 132,226

– current 55,259 43,721

The Group has available short term banking credit lines for a total of 242.98 mln 
euro. These credit lines are callable and may be used for various current-account 
purposes and short-term financing of a maximum term of 12 months, with the total 
balance being 100.09 mln euro. The average rate varies by country and usage, which 
can be summarised as follows:

› Europe (excluding Poland): 4.70%
› Poland: 6.54%
› India: 13.00%
The medium and long-term banking credit lines amounted to a total of 301.34 

mln euro, against a utilisation of 161.56 mln euro.

Trade payables and other payables (note 17)

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

with Third parties 8 –

Non-current trade payables 8 –

with Third parties 17,141 14,331

Other non-current payables 17,141 14,331

TRADE AND OTHER NON-CURRENT PAYABLES 17,149 14,331

to Parent companies – 12

with Associated companies – 184

with Related parties 313 373

with Third parties 270,347 255,428

Current trade payables 270,660 255,997

to Parent companies – 2,859

with Related parties 995 1

with Third parties 31,448 31,020

Other current payables 32,443 33,880

TRADE AND OTHER CURRENT PAYABLES 303,103 289,877

Trade payables do not produce interest and on average are settled at 120 days. 
Other payables due to third parties can be analysed as follows:
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31/12/2008 31/12/2007

VAT payables 324 728

Amounts due to social security & welfare institutions 6,640 6,167

Amounts due to employees 14,540 14,182

Accrued amounts due to employees 1,751 1,728

Irpef (personal income tax) employees & professionals 3,269 2,898

Board of Directors 675 1,051

Ather payables 4,249 4,266

OTHER CURRENT PAYABLES 31,448 31,020

The following table shows an analysis of trade and other payables by maturity:

31/12/2008

FALLEN DUE FALLING DUE

Within 1 year Over 1 year Within 1 year Over 1 year TOTAL

Trade receivables  85,453  1,820  183,387  8  270,668 

Other receivables  – –  32,443  17,141  49,584 

TOTAL  85,453  1,820  215,830  17,149  320,252 

31/12/2007

FALLEN DUE FALLING DUE

Within 1 year Over 1 year Within 1 year Over 1 year TOTAL

Trade receivables 28,220 745 227,032 – 255,997

Other receivables – – 33,880 14,331 48,211

TOTAL 28,220 745 233,968 14,331 304,208

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (note 11)
The table below illustrates the composition of taxation deferred by nature of the 

timing differences. The change corresponds to the effect of the deferred taxation on 
net equity and income.

DESCRIPTION Start
31/12/2006

Reclassifi-
cations

Change in
Cons. area

Economic effect Exchange
difference

End
31/12/2007

income equity

Assets

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 2,057 – 30 – 1,495 – – 34 3,488

Amortisation of goodwill 1,091 – – – 962 – – 129

Write-downs of equity investments 162 – – – 213 – – – 51

Valuation of receivables – 415 – 59 469 – – 17 96

Valuation of financial assets/liabilities – 45 – – – 91 149 – 5 8

Adjustment to severance indemnity/
pension provision

91 – – – 676 – – – 585

Provisions for risks and charges 5,841 – – – 381 – – 9 5,451
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DESCRIPTION Start
31/12/2006

Reclassifi-
cations

Change in
Cons. area

Economic effect Exchange
difference

End
31/12/2007

income equity

Tax losses 2,089 – 323 582 – – 27 2,967

Other 1,203 – 8 36 261 – – 34 1,458

TOTAL 12,074 – 38 418 484 149 – 126 12,961

Liabilities

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets – 3,775 30 – 7,248 738 – 436 – 9,819

Write-downs of equity investments – – – – – – – 

Valuation of receivables 98 – 67 – 11 – – 15 139

Valuation of financial assets/liabilities – 269 – – 18 413 – 162

Adjustment to severance indemnity/
pension provision

– 69 – – 194 – 5 – – – 268

Provisions for risks and charges – 160 – 508 – 140 – 20 228

Other – 8 – 3,210 819 – – – 2,383

TOTAL – 4,175 38 – 10,077 1,419 413 441 – 11,941

BALANCE 7,899 – – 9,659 1,903 562 315 1,020

DESCRIPTION Start
31/12/2006

Reclassifi-
cations

Change in
Cons. area

Economic effect Exchange
difference

End
31/12/2007

income equity

Assets

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 3,488 – 261 – 3,215 – – 27 6,415

Amortisation of goodwill 129 – – – 11 – – 118

Write-downs of equity investments – 51 – – 51 – – – 

Valuation of receivables 96 416 – 37 – – 8 541

Valuation of financial assets/liabilities 8 – – 98 436 – 2 540

Adjustment to severance indemnity/
pension provision

– 585 – – – 55 – – – 640

Provisions for risks and charges 5,451 – 316 – 2,744 – – 3 7,876

Tax losses 2,967 – – 637 – 60 3,664

Other 1,458 – 141 – 2,460 – – 147 3,630

TOTAL 12,961 – 302 – 9,176 436 – 127 22,144

Liabilities

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets – 9,819 261 – – 1,189 – 177 – 10,570

Write-downs of equity investments – – – – – – – 

Valuation of receivables 139 – 100 – 28 – 1 68

Valuation of financial assets/liabilities 162 – – 32 – 122 – 72

Adjustment to severance indemnity/
pension provision

– 268 – – 60 – – – 208

Provisions for risks and charges 228 141 – 155 – – 7 517

Other – 2,383 – – 2,978 – 37 558

TOTAL – 11,941 302 – 2,064 – 122 134 – 9,563

BALANCE 1,020 – – 11,240 314 7 12,581
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Deferred tax assets include the potential benefits associated with the fiscal losses 
carried forward, in the measure that it is likely that there will be suitable future fis-
cal benefits against which these losses can be used in a reasonably short period.

In this regard the tax losses for which the associated deferred benefit has not been 
reported, concern the following:

› Carraro International sa for 1.90 mln euro with undefined maturity, generated 
largely from write-downs of equity investment is considered definitive;

› Turbo Gears India for 2.14 mln euro with unlimited maturity.

Liabilities for current taxes (note 18)

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Current taxes payable 7,448 4,789

Substitute tax payable pursuant to Law 266/2005 1,851 690

CURRENT TAXES PAYABLE 9,299 5,479

Employee severance indemnities and retirement benefits (note 19)

SEVERANCE INDEMNITY AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Employee severance indemnities in accordance with IAS 19 at 31/12/2007 20,602

Utilisation of employee severance indemnities – 2,343

Employee severance indemnities transferred to other companies – 9,211

Employee severance indemnities transferred from other companies 9,232

Current Service Cost 2

Interest Cost 805

Actuarial Gains/Losses – 332

Employee severance indemnities in accordance with IAS 19 at 31/12/2008 18,755

Opening 
balance

Change in
cons. area

Increases Decreases Changing 
exchange rate

Closing 
balance

Pension funds and similar 4,735 – 915 – 628 – 135 4,887

Termination benefits are benefits to employees regulated by the laws in force in 
Italy and recognised in the financial statements of Italian companies.

On the basis of the changes introduced by Law 296/06, with effect from Jun. 30, 
2007, the termination benefits maturing after Jan. 1, 2007 must be paid into a spe-
cific treasury reserve established at the pensions agency inps, or, if the employee so 
chooses, into a special complementary pension fund. There are no more provisions 
for termination benefits with these contributions.

The actuarial valuation of termination benefits is carried out according to the 
actuarial criterion of the “projected unit credit method” with the support of the data 
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issued by istat, the inps and the ania. Pension and similar funds relate to the liabil-
ities recognised in the accounts of the company O&K Antriebstechnik; the actuarial 
recalculation, except for the structural differences of the relevant plans, follows the 
same criterion described for the Italian termination benefit provisions.

The parameters used are as follows:
› annual rate of interest: 4% – 5%
› annual rate of effective increase in remuneration: 3% – 3.5%
› annual inflation index: 2%
› pension adjustment index: 1.5%
The accounting treatment of employee benefits recorded in the financial state-

ments complies with standard ias 19 for fixed benefit plans; the change in liability 
noted between the end of the period and the previous one is booked in full to the 
income statement and classified under payroll and related costs.

Number of employees
The number of employees refers only to the fully consolidated companies and is 

divided into categories:

EMPLOYEES 31/12/2007 Changes 31/12/2008

Executives 63 15 78

White-collar workers 998 135 1,133

Blue-collar workers 2,698 112 2,810

Temporary workers 277 -93 184

Total 4,036 169 4,205

Provisions for risks and charges (note 20)
The item can be broken down as follows:

Initial 
situation

Increases Decreases Reclassifi-
cations

Change in
Cons. area

Exchange-
rate adjust.

End 
situation

Non-current portion

1. Warranty  1,213 89 – 31 50  – 10 1,331

2. Costs of legal claims  879 211 – 319 – 136 – – 7 628

3. Renovation and conv.  –   –   –   –   –   –  

4. Other provisions  178 948 – 137 – – – 2 987

TOTAL  2,270 1,248 – 487 – 86 – 1 2,946

Current portion

1. Warranty  7,240 10,172 – 6,739 43 – – 175 10,541

2. Costs of legal claims  –   –   –  130  –   –  130

3. Renovation and conv.  –  1,400  –   –   –   –  1,400

4. Other provisions  –   3,360  –   –   –   –  3,360

TOTAL  7,240 14,932 – 6,739 173 – – 175 15,431
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6.77 mln euro of the product warranty reserve was used for customer claims ac-
cepted and the reserve was increased by 10.26 mln euro on the basis of the expected 
warranty costs which will be incurred in relation to the sales made. 

The item Costs of legal claims includes an allocation of 0.13 mln euro for a tax 
department dispute with Minigears spa.

The item “Other provisions” includes amounts recognised in the individual com-
panies for future liabilities and charges.

With reference to Carraro spa the dispute with the inps which began in 1996, 
over alleged non-payment of contributions, was settled in favour of the company. 
This dispute was initially ruled in favour of Carraro on Oct. 5, 1999 by the Padua 
Lower Court Judge. The inps lodged an appeal against this decision and the issue 
was subsequently referred to the Court of Cassation for a definitive judgement. The 
Supreme Court referred to the Court of Appeal in Venice, which finally on Nov. 25, 
2008 rejected the inps appeal and confirmed the order of the Lower Court Judge.

The restructuring fund refers to the provision for non-recurring expenditure as-
sociated with the implementation of the restructuring programmes initiated by the 
company Carraro Drive Tech spa and Minigears spa, which is concern 24 and 20 
employees respectively. 

The company O&K Antriebstechnik anticipated an allocation of 3.36 mln euro 
following the unfavourable outcome of a first level hearing at the Court of Essen 
relating to a dispute with the owner of the site where the company operates and that 
will involve the transfer of operations to another manufacturing site.

7. COMMITMENTS AND RISKS 
Finance lease liabilities

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Finance lease liabilities

due within one year 1,425 1,276

due beyond one year 2,545 2,845

3,970 4,121

The residual debt is not due beyond five years.

Sureties given and commitments

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Risks  –   –  

Operating lease commitments 356 356
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Operating lease instalmentss
This refers to the rental contract for the business segment stipulated on Mar. 24, 

2005, with duration of three years subsequently extendable year by year. The lessor 
is Agritalia spa (a related party) and the annual fee (1.422 mln euro) was determined 
on the basis of an independent appraisal. Following the acquisition of a leasing con-
tract on an industrial property by Agritalia spa, the annual fee was re-negotiated 
from 1.90 mln euro to 1.422 mln euro. The contract also envisages the possibility of 
exercising an option to purchase the division at a determinable price. Taking into ac-
count the prescriptions of ias 17 it is not believed that the contract has the nature of 
a financial lease. The commitments for instalments still to be paid at Dec. 31, 2008 
have maturity dates within 12 months and amount to 0.356 mln euro. 

Transactions with related parties
The Carraro Group is controlled directly by Finaid spa, which as of Dec. 31, 2008 

held 51.21% of the shares outstanding. Transactions between Carraro spa and its 
subsidiaries, which are related entities of Carraro spa, were eliminated in the con-
solidated financial statements and are not shown. Details of transactions between 
the Carraro Group and other related entities are provided below.

During the 2008 period, the companies Carraro spa and Carraro Drive Tech spa, 
exercised their option to adhere to the tax consolidation of the parent company 
Finaid spa. The charges/income deriving from the transfer of the ires taxable base 
are booked under current taxes. According to the current regulations of the Tax 
Consolidation Agreement, Carraro spa has the right to “relief ” for the use of the tax 
losses of the subsidiary companies by Finaid. This “relief ” amounts to 3% of the tax 
loss offset with the taxable amounts of Carraro spa and Siap spa.

Further information on the related parties are given in more detail in paragraph 8.

Fair value 
When an essential coincidence between the book value and the fair value of fi-

nancial assets and liabilities does not exist, steps are taken to include a comparison 
between the various values.

At the end of the 2008 period, it was not possible to detect any significant dif-
ferences between the book value and the fair value for the financial assets and li-
abilities which have not already been recorded at fair value in accordance with the 
standards indicated previously. 

8. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL
The Group’s main management objective is to ensure that a sound credit rating is 

maintained, together with adequate levels of the capital indicators so as to support 
its activities and maximise value for the shareholders.
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The Group manages and modifies the capital structure in line with changes in 
the economic conditions. To maintain or change the capital structure, the Group 
can adjust the dividends paid to the shareholders, redeem the capital or issue new 
shares.

Particular attention is placed on the level of debt in relation to the net equity and 
ebitda, thereby pursuing the objectives of profitability and the generation of cash 
for the Group business.

Pursuant to this certain covenants must be complied with relating to credit lines 
and loans that prescribe the following:

› ratio between Net Financial Position and Equity of less than or equal to 1.85;
› ratio between Net Financial Position and ebitda of less than or equal to 3.70;
As at Dec. 31, 2008 the ratio between net financial position and net equity was 

1.45 while the ratio between net financial position and ebitda stood at 3.11.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
9.1 Derivative financial instruments on currencies
The following table indicates all the key information relating to the portfolio of 

derivative financial instruments on currencies outstanding at Dec. 31, 2008 and, for 
comparison, at Dec. 31, 2007.

These instruments are raised to hedge to sales budgets in foreign currencies for 
the next accounting period (cash flow hedge).

A. Notional values 

CONTRACT Carraro 
Argentina

Carraro 
International

Fon O&KA Siap Carraro 
India

Turbo 
Gears

Group Total 
31/12/2008

Group Total 
31/12/2007

Options 1

Put Options 4,757

Call Options 4,757

Options 2  

Subtotal 
Options

 9,514

Swap (DCS) 1 501 16,017 5,212 774 1,594 11,759 3,569 39,427 99,265

Swap (DCS) 2 1,066

Swap (DCS) 3 5,274

Total notional 
values

501 16,017 5,212 774 1,594 11,759 3,569 39,427 115,119

1 Instruments hedging foreign currency sales budget
2 Instruments hedging cash flows of medium/long-term loans (MCC Carraro India)
3 Instruments hedging imbalances of current receivables and payables in foreign currency
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B. Reference currencies and expiry dates of contracts

CONTRACT Carraro 
Argentina

Carraro 
International

Fon O&KA Siap Carraro 
India

Turbo 
Gears

Swap (DCS) 1 Ref.
Currencies

Ars / Eur Ars / Eur
Ars / Usd
Cny / Eur
Cny / Usd

Eur / Usd Eur / Usd Inr / Eur Inr / Eur
Inr / Usd

Expiry 
dates

Jan / Dec
2009

Mar / Aug
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Nov
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

Jan / Dec
2009

1 Instruments hedging foreign currency sales budget

C. Fair values

CONTRACT Carraro 
Argentina

Carraro 
International

Fon O&KA Siap Carraro 
India

Turbo 
Gears

Group Total 
31/12/2008

Group Total 
31/12/2007

Options 1

Put Options 17

Call Options – 225

Options 2  

Subtotal 
Options

– 208

Swap (DCS) 1 – 39 – 57 – 970 39 77 – 851 – 237 – 2,038 – 853

Swap (DCS) 2 27

Swap (DCS) 3 – 35

1 Instruments hedging foreign currency sales budget
2 Instruments hedging cash flows of medium/long-term loans (MCC Carraro India)
3 Instruments hedging imbalances of current receivables and payables in foreign currency

D. Details of fair values

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Positive FV Negative FV Positive FV Negative FV

Cash flow hedge

Exchange rate risk / Domestic Currency Swap 537 – 2,574 1,090 – 2,157
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E. Summary of fair values recognised before tax effect
E. according to their accounting treatment 

Carraro 
Argentina

Carraro 
International

Fon O&KA Siap Carraro 
India

Turbo 
Gears

Group Total 
31/12/2008

Group Total 
31/12/2007

Value entered 
income statement

– 60 – 57 – 2 – 2 – 8 – – 4 – 133 160

Value entered 
to net equity

21 – – 968 41 85 – 851 – 233 – 1,905 – 1,228

TOTAL – 39 – 57 – 970 39 77 – 851 – 237 – 2,038 – 1,068

F. Effects on income statement 
Details of the effects charged to the income statement are reported in the sum-

mary table following paragraph 9.2.

9.2 Derivative financial instruments on interest rates
Notional values and fair value
The table shows the details of the notional and fair values and other information 

regarding the various types of derivative contract on interest rates in existence at 
Dec. 31, 2008; on this date the ongoing contracts involved Carraro International sa 
and Minigears spa.

CONTRACT Currency Expiry Notional
31/12/2008

Notional
31/12/2007

Fair value 
31/12/2008

Fair value 
31/12/2007

Interest Rate Swap Eur 29/05/2012 4,660,000 8,000,000  14,552  208,842 

Interest Rate Swap Eur 29/05/2012 4,660,000 8,000,000 15,848  210,869 

Interest Rate Swap Eur 29/05/2012 4,660,000 8,000,000 – 19,572  155,445 

Interest Rate Swap Eur 29/05/2012 4,660,000 8,000,000 – 58,448  94,048 

Interest Rate Swap Eur 29/05/2012 4,660,000 8,000,000 – 57,368  96,303 

Interest Rate Swap Eur 31/03/2013 10,000,000 10,000,000 – 255,744  76,680 

Interest Rate Swap Eur 29/11/2010 5,000,000 5,000,000 – 64,028  117,569 

Total
cash flow hedge

38,300,000 55,000,000 – 424,760  959,756 

Details of the effects charged to the income statement are reported in the sum-
mary table following this paragraph.
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General summary of the effects on the Income Statement
deriving from financial instruments.

31/12/2008 Fin.
Income

Fin.
Charge

Exchange
gains

Exchange
losses

Revenue 

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial instruments at fair value

Assets held until maturity

Loans and receivables Bank accounts  633

Trade receivables  16  9,610 – 5,811

Assets available for sale

Cash Flow Hedge Derivatives
on currencies

Transfer from
net equity reserve

– 64 – 198 – 1,351

Gain/loss – 59  2,735 – 6,863

Cash Flow Hedge Derivatives on rates  541

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial instruments at fair value

Loans From banks  294 – 13,460

Other loans  76  152  10,530 – 8,580

Amortised liabilities 2008 pool financing – 4,248

Trade payables  5 – 21  1,968 – 8,144

Cash Flow Hedge Derivatives on rates – 182

TOTAL  1,565 – 17,818  24,779 – 29,596 – 1,351

31/12/2007 Fin.
Income

Fin.
Charge

Exchange
gains

Exchange
losses

Revenue 

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial instruments at fair value

Assets held until maturity

Loans and receivables Bank accounts 505

Trade receivables 192 2,377 – 3,714

Assets available for sale

Cash Flow Hedge Derivatives
on currencies

Transfer from
net equity reserve

– 349 237 – 81  1,274

Gain/loss 1,429 – 444

Cash Flow Hedge Derivatives on rates 270 135 – 7

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial instruments at fair value

Loans From banks 334 – 7,571

Other loans 222 – 407 3,074 – 1,157

Amortised liabilities “Club Deal” financing – 4,097

Trade payables 1,223 – 1,843

TOTAL 1,523 – 12,424 8,475 – 7,246 1,274
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Sensitivity analysis
The table below shows the economic and equity effects generated on the balance 

sheet assets and liabilities (at Dec. 31, 2008 and Dec. 31, 2007 respectively), in the 
event there were sudden changes in the following market variables:

› main foreign currencies with respect to the euro: +/– 10%
› interest rates: +/– 100 “basis points”.

The following methods were used:
- for Interest Rate Swaps the discounted cash flow method was applied;
- Domestic Currency Swap contracts were calculated using the forward exchange 

rate method;
- Forward exchange rate options were calculated by breaking down the instru-

ment into its components which were in turn valued using the Black & Scholes 
formula.

The exchange-rate risks deriving from translation of the balance sheets of the 
foreign subsidiaries from local currency into euros were not considered.

Balances at 31/12/2008 Rate risk Exchange risk

+ 1% – 1% + 10% – 10%

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

ASSETS

Trade receivables 1,573 – 1,346

Other financial assets
derivatives on currencies

639 – 5,398 – 494 1,636

Other financial assets
derivatives on rates

– 610 635

Cash and cash equivalents – 3,249 1,775

Total gross effect – 610 635 – 1,037 – 5,398 – 65 1,636

Taxes (27,50%) 168 – 175 285 1,484 18 – 450

Total net effect – 442 460 – 752 – 3,914 – 47 1,186

LIABILITIES 

Trade payables – 2,749 2,632

Loans – 1,588 – 1,588 – 2,577 – 1,293

Total gross effect – 1,588 – 1,588 – – 172 1,339

Taxes (27,50%) 437 – 437 47 – 368

Total net effect – 1,151 1,151 – 125 971

TOTAL – 1,151 – 442 1,151 460 – 877 – 3,914 – 889 1,186

Positive sign: income (economic) – increase (equity)
Negative sign: expense (economic) – decrease (equity)
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Balances at 31/12/2007 Rate risk Exchange risk

+ 1% – 1% + 10% – 10%

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

Effect on 
income

Effect  on 
equity

ASSETS

Trade receivables 1,841 – 1,651

Other financial assets
derivatives on currencies

– 9,187 – 10,187 – 2,438 9,722

Other financial assets
derivatives on rates

– 902 944

Cash and cash equivalents 677 – 624

Total gross effect – 902 944 – 6,669 – 10,187 – 4,713 9,722

Taxes (33%) 298 – 312 2,201 3,362 1,555 – 3,208

Total net effect – 604 632 – 4,468 – 6,825 – 3,158 6,514

LIABILITIES 

Trade payables – 2,596 2,519

Loans – 789 – 789 – – 373 562

Total gross effect – 789 – 789 – – 2,969 3,081

Taxes (33%) 260 – 260 980 – 1,018

Total net effect – 529 529 – 1,989 2,063

TOTAL – 529 – 604 529 632 – 6,457 – 6,825 – 1,095 6,514

Positive sign: income (economic) – increase (equity)
Negative sign: expense (economic) – decrease (equity)

10. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE YEAR END DATE
Carraro Drive Tech spa indicated its intention to exercise its option to sell its 90% 

stake in the share capital of A.E. srl pursuant to the Framework Agreement entered 
into on Feb. 20, 2004 as amended. Following this notification and the subsequent 
meetings held between the shareholders of the companies A.E. srl, Carraro Drive 
Tech spa and CPS Italia scrl, an alternative path to the sale of the shares of A.E. 
srl was suggested, which envisaged the formation of a new company called A.E. 
Assemblaggi Emiliani srl and the subsequent subscription of an increase in capital 
via the conferment of the division operating in the assembly of axles and mechanical 
components in general.

This new approach also envisaged a commitment by CPS Italia scrl to transfer 
its portion of the holding in the company A.E. srl to Carraro Drive Tech spa; as well 
as a commitment by Carraro Drive Tech spa to make a resolution via its corporate 
bodies so that the company A.E. srl transfers the entire interest it has in the newly 
incorporated A.E. Assemblaggi Emiliani srl to CPS Italia scrl.

The agreement entered into with Agritalia spa regarding the leasing of the busi-
ness operating in the development, assembly and distribution of agricultural trac-

Fi
gu

re
s 

in
 E

ur
o/

0
0

0



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

139

tors at the Rovigo site will be extended for a further year, providing moreover the 
possibility that the option for the acquisition of the company may be exercised at 
any time during the agreement.

11. INFORMATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 149 - DUODECIES
OF THE CONSOB ISSUER REGULATIONS
The auditing of the financial statements of the Carraro Group is to be carried out, 

until the trading period closing on Dec. 31, 2015, by PricewaterhouseCoopers spa. 
The fees relating to the period of reference will be summarised below, as paid to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers spa for auditing and non-auditing services:

2008

Accounting audit

 Carraro Spa 183

 subsidiary companies 593

Total accounting audit services 776

Other services

 subsidiary companies * 122

Total fees 898

* The other services refer primarily to services for due diligence operations.

12. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
The following tables provide information on transactions with related parties un-

der the terms of ias 24.

Equity investments held by Directors, Statutory Auditors
and General Managers and their immediate families

Name and surname Investee company: 
Carraro Spa

No. Shares held 
31/12/2007

No. Shares 
purchased

No. Shares 
sold

No. Shares held 
31/12/2008

Mario Carraro Directly held 1,679,650 223,600 – 1,903,250

via Finaid Spa 21,001,005 802,622 – 21,803,627

Francesco Carraro Directly held 1,182,395 – – 1,182,395

Valentina Carraro Directly held 223,600 – 223,600 –

Chiara Alessandri Directly held 20,000 – – 20,000

Onofrio Tonin Directly held 1,550 4,199 1,924 3,825

Carlo Borsari Directly held – 5,000 5,000 –
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REMUNERATION PAID TO THE ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT
AND AUDITING BODIES
(ias 24, consob communication dem/2064231 of September 30, 2002)

INDIVIDUAL DESCRIPTION OF OFFICE REMUNERATION
Name and surname Company Office held Term of office 2008

Mario Carraro Carraro Spa Chairman Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 900.0

Siap Spa Chairman Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 27/04/06) 30.0

Stm Srl Chairman Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 24/04/07) 30.0

Carlo Borsari Carraro Spa Managing
Director

Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) retrib. dip.
486.0

comp. amm. 
470.0

Siap Spa Managing Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 27/04/06) –

Stm Srl Director Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 24/04/07) –

Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

Managing
Director

Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 30/06/06) –

Gear World Spa Director Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 19/07/07) 20.0

Minigears Spa Director Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 30/07/07) –

Carraro
Drive Tech Spa

Managing
Director

2008 trading period (AGM 04/06/08) –

Francesco Carraro Carraro Spa Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 50.0

Enrico Carraro Carraro Spa Deputy Chairman Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 220.0

Siap Spa Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 27/04/06) –

Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

Chairman Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 30/06/06) 150.0

A.E. Srl Chairman Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 27/04/06) 80.0

Gear World Spa Director Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 19/07/07) 20.0

Minigears Spa Director Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 30/07/07) –

Carraro
Drive Tech Spa

Chairman 2008 trading period (AGM 04/06/08) –

Tomaso Carraro Carraro Spa Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 200.0

Siap Spa Managing Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 27/04/06) 120.0

Gear World Spa Chairman Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 19/07/07) 200.0

Minigears Spa Chairman Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 30/07/07) –

Onofrio Tonin Carraro Spa Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 105.0

Giorgio Brunetti Carraro Spa Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 95.0

Sergio Erede Carraro Spa Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 60.0

Antonio Cortellazzo Carraro Spa Director Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 93.5

Roberto Saccomani Carraro Spa Chairman of the 
Board of Statutory 
Auditors

Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 24.9

Francesco Secchieri Carraro Spa Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 16.6

Siap Spa Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 27/04/06) 14.7

Stm Srl Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2008-2010 (AGM 22/04/08) 5.4

Elettronica 
Santerno Spa

Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 30/06/06) 8.5

A.E. Srl Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 27/04/06) 5.1

Minigears Spa Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 30/07/07) 8.9

Gear World Spa Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2007-2009 (AGM 19/07/07) 11.4

Federico Meo Carraro Spa Statutory Auditor Three-year period 2006-2008 (AGM 11/05/06) 16.6
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Other information on related parties (consob Resolution 10310 of Nov. 12, 1996, 
encl. 3C Issuer Regulations).

During the 2008 accounting period, fees were paid for professional services to the 
following individuals, associated with members of the corporate bodies:

› Studio Bonelli, Erede, Pappalardo: 374 (in Euro/000)

› Studio Mocellini: 141 (in Euro/000)

RELATIONSHIPS OF THE CARRARO SPA GROUP WITH RELATED PARTIES
AT AL 31/12/2008

Financial and equity transactions 1 Economic transactions 2
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Other related parties

Finaid Spa 2 994 

Agritalia Spa 206 5 

Maus Spa 40 – 27 173 172 45

Maus Usa  109 

Meccanica del Piave Spa

European Power System Srl 17 25 17 113

Mgt Srl 5 3 2 3 

Economic transactions 2
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Other related parties

Finaid Spa

Agritalia Spa – 204 1,422  – 1 19 

Maus Spa 37 5 952 

Maus Usa

Meccanica del Piave Spa

European Power System Srl 99 

Mgt Srl

Notes

1. Financial transactions. Financial transactions relate to short and 
long-term loans.

2. Economic transactions. The most significant economic transac-
tions represent trade transactions for the purchase and sale of raw 
materials, semi-finished products, transactions of purchase and sale 
of raw materials, semi-finished products and component technol-

ogy for the production of systems for auto-traction; the purchases of 
services refer mainly to services for industrial processing. Purchases 
from Maus Spa relate to the supply of specific machine tools and 
the related spare parts and accessories. The main sales of services 
include amounts charged for the utilisation of central information 
systems and the organizational support provided by the Parent com-
pany in the various operating areas. Commission and royalties refer to 
specific commercial agency agreements and the sale of rights to use 
industrial “know-how”.
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CERTIFICATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 154-BIS, SUBSECTION 5 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE 58/1998 
(CONSOLIDATED FINANCE ACT) AND ARTICLE 81-TER OF CONSOB REGULATION 
NO. 11971 OF MAY 14, 1999 AS AMENDED.

1. The undersigned, Carlo Borsari, Managing Director, and Enrico Gomiero, 
Manager Responsible for preparing the corporate accounting documents of Carraro 
spa, declare, taking account also of the provisions of Art. 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 
4, of Legislative Decree 58 of Feb. 24, 1998:

a. adequacy in relation to the characteristics of the enterprise;
b. the effective application of the administrative and accounting procedures used 

to prepare the consolidated financial statements for 2008;

2. In this regard no significant aspects emerged which require disclosure.

3. We can also declare that:

3.1. The consolidated financial statements:
a. were prepared in conformity with the applicable international accounting 

standards endorsed by the European Community under the terms of Regu-
lation (CE) 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council, of Jul. 19, 
2002;

b. correspond to the figures in the accounting documents and books;
c. give a truthful and correct representation of the economic, financial and equity 

position of the Group and of all the companies included in the consolidation;

3.2. The management report includes a reliable analysis of the progress and re-
sults of operations as well as the issuer’s situation, together with a description 
of the key risks and uncertainties the issuer is exposed to.

Date: Mar. 20, 2009

CARLO BORSARI     ENRICO GOMIERO
Managing Director      Chief Financial Officer
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Dear Shareholders,
In carrying out the role assigned to us, and refer-

ring to the consolidated financial statements of the 
Carraro Group at December 31, 2008, we inform 
you of the following:

– Regarding monitoring operations carried out 
during the course of the 2008 trading period, 
we refer to our report on the financial state-
ments of the parent company Carraro spa;

– We have, in any event and as far as we are re-
quired to do so, been aware of and monitored 
the company’s management structure and its 
compliance with the principles of correct ad-
ministration through direct observation, col-
lating data obtained from the company’s offices, 
and regular meetings with both the Auditing 
company and the members of the boards of 
statutory auditors of the Italian subsidiaries, to 
share significant information and data;

– We received the consolidated financial state-
ments with the relative report on operations 
from the Board of Directors within the legal 
terms;

– We have verified compliance with the regu-
lations governing the consolidated financial 
statements and reports on operations and ac-
knowledged the report of the auditing company 
on the Carraro Group consolidated financial 
statements, which presents an opinion without 
disclosure.

The consolidated financial statements were com-
piled in accordance with ias / ifrs international 
accounting standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (iasb) pursuant to 
the provisions of Italian Legislative Decree no. 38, 

of February 28, 2005, prescribed in enactment of 
Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council, of July 19, 2002. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors examined the 
criteria adopted when compiling the consolidated 
financial statements, with particular reference to 
the area of consolidation and the uniformity of the 
application of the aforesaid accounting standards. 
The checks carried out enabled us to ascertain that 
the procedures applied correspond to current ap-
plicable regulations.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-
ments in their entirety provide a correct illustration 
of the Carraro group’s financial position and results 
from operations for the trading period to Decem-
ber 31, 2008, in compliance with the regulations 
that govern the consolidated financial statements 
cited above. The Board considers moreover that the 
Group’s report on operations is correct and coher-
ent with the consolidated financial statements.

Campodarsego, April 6, 2009

THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS

Roberto Saccomani

Federico Meo

Francesco Secchieri

Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors
on the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Auditors’ Report
in accordance with Art. 156 of Law Decree No. 58/1998
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Chairman: Mario Carraro

Shareholders present: 20 shareholders or their 
delegated representatives, comprising 64.733% of 
the share capital and amounting to 42 million ordi-
nary shares with a right to vote.

The Annual General Meeting has approved:
› The Financial Statements of December 31, 2008 

and the Board of Directors’ report;

› Allocating the entire net profit of 8,587,035 euro 
for extraordinary provision;

› The appointment of the Board of Directors and 
the Board of Statutory Auditors for the financial 
years 2009-2010-2011, up to the approval of the 
Financial Statements for December 31, 2011.

The following were elected members of the Board 
of Directors:

Mario Carraro – Chairman
Francesco Carraro
Enrico Carraro
Tomaso Carraro
Carlo Borsari
Antonio Cortellazzo
Arnaldo Camuffo
Marco Milani
Pietro Guindani
Anna Maria Artoni
Alexander Josef Bossard

The following were elected members of the Board 
of Statutory Auditors:

Luigi Basso – Chairman
Roberto Saccomani – Regular Auditor
Saverio Bozzolan – Regular Auditor
Silvano Corbella – Alternate Auditor
Marina Manna – Alternate Auditor

› The Directors’ compensation for the year 2009 
was set at 50,000 euro for each Director;

- The annual compensation for the financial years 
2009-2010-2011 for the Board of Statutory Audi-
tors was set at 30,000 euro for the Chairman and 
20,000 euro for the Regular Auditors;

› An acquisition and disposal program of no more 
than 5% of the share capital, over a term of 18 
months, which foresees:
– A minimum purchase price per share of no 

less than 30% below and a maximum price per 
share of no more than 20% above the reference 
price for the stock quoted in the stock exchange 
session of the day preceding each transaction.

– A minimum sale price per share of no less than 
20% below and a maximum sale price per 
share of no more than 20% above the reference 
price for the stock quoted in the stock exchange 
session of the day preceding each transaction.

Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro Spa
dated 23 April 2009
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Franco Brambilla

« Creating the images for the Annual Report 2008 was an incredible 

experience and great fun: I pushed the 3D software to the limits of 

its possibilities.

I put myself to the test inventing mechanical means of pure imagina-

tion but with a strong realistic impact, and I wonder if anyone will 

sooner or later start a design study on how to create working means 

starting from these drawings that are hyper realistic but in fact pure 

fantasy.

From my first contact with the huge Carraro world, I felt enormous 

enthusiasm for this job, and also being able to see and touch the 

cog wheels and the axles while they were being assembled was ex-

tremely important in order to be able to then invent the means and 

futuristic situations in which they appear in the various illustrations 

of this book.

I feel confident that I’ve managed to transport into a luminous but 

possible future the colours and the energy that my short visit to the 

Carraro factory communicated to me »

From Milan, born in 1967, qualified at the European Design Institute at the beginning 

of the 1990s. From 1998 to 2005 he cooperated on the economic insert of Corriere 

della Sera. In 1998 together with his old friends Pierluigi Longo and Giacomo Spazio, he 

founded Airstudio, a reference point for leading Italian publishers, for graphic planning 

and illustration. He has always been fascinated by science fiction and collaborates on a 

regular basis with the most well-known Italian sci-fi chains: Urania Mondadori and the 

classic sci-fi collection: Urania Collezione. Always for Mondadori, he designs various cov-

ers for books for teenagers, thrillers and science fiction. One of the founding members 

of the Limited No Art Gallery created on an idea from Giacomo Spazio (http://www.flickr.

com/photos/limitedmilano/). Best Artist at the European Awards, Eurocon 2009.

Airstudio clients include: Mondadori, Mondadori Ragazzi, Abitare, D la Repubblica delle 

Donne, Pulp, Shake Edizioni, Ibooks Nyc, Fabbri, DeAgostini Multimedia, Sole 24ore, 

Gruppo Gavazzi, McKinsey&Company, Pirelli Gomme, Giunti, ADI, Pearson USA, Actes 

Sud, Random House Mondadori Spagna, Feltrinelli.

Carraro Spa
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